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1.

g AReR URUF TSRS @ Hrehdie & difeed, fad ok fFaw wrf) fafaw, 2024
> fafTw 7 & 1y ufdd St ifIfFaw, 1938 Ft URT 34 3R 3MMSIRSIT AAFTH, 1999 Hi
YRT 14 B IUSHT & 3¢ Y fooam S B

This Master Circular is issued under the provisions of Section 34 of the Insurance Act,
1938 and Section 14 of the IRDA Act, 1999 read with Regulation 7 of the IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024.

I8 UReR URUS TSRS (SHThdist & diHifee, fad sk fRaw o) fafaw, 2024
& fafld Iusel I Tefid uegell W SMawad AN IUas BRI § 9dT THHE dR IR
g g § @ gU dureatelt fed, 99 dw st fafAfdy T8t fasan man, e
Seredfell R AR

This Master Circular provides necessary guidance on aspects pertaining to various
provisions of the IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers)
Regulations,2024 and applicable to all insurers including those engaged exclusively in
reinsurance business, unless otherwise specified.

Y AR URTT Pt GHIT UAD IY 1 ST, S dob SHDbT THIT I ARG 1 ST
Ugd 3dd ol gidt|

This Master Circular shall be reviewed every year unless review or repeal is warranted
earlier.

2 uRTa o Ifcafad faaRfomT sik ol 39 Arex ulRus SiR faaxfor & TRqdidnRor Tadh
AReR URT H faemm Iusel & SR URdd &1 S |

The Returns and Reports referred under this circular shall be submitted as per the
provisions herein and the master circular on submission of returns.

9 ARe? R H Uged 3R Sraiia uiqg «tar sifefay, 1938 (1938 &1 4), 31ydr st
fafame iR faera wifdesor Sifif g, 1999 (1999 &1 41) 3@l I& 3iEhT s T
oot ar faferom & aRuTyd et =rsal SR siftyeafaadt & ol agt g1 off huRT: 3 Sifdfad!
1 gt o fafamt & 399 fae Rufia fsd m &)

All words and expressions used herein and not defined in this Master Circular but defined
in the Insurance Act, 1938 (4 of 1938), or the Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority Act, 1999 (41 of 1999) or Rules or Regulations made thereunder shall have the
meanings respectively assigned to them in those Acts or Rules or Regulations.
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6. 39 AN URuA # fAfga forddt ot Jusy & wra-aae a1 spifofa & Iad gHarat fandt oft
(BT AT BISTR 81 X B & (oY T WMRAGRT o9 | 1azas qagn S a9 Iugad
WFH AR IR GHhT g |

In order to remove any doubts or difficulties that may arise in the application or
interpretation of any of the provisions of this Master Circular, the Competent Authority
may issue appropriate clarifications as and when deemed necessary.

gl / Sd/-
@Y. W}, Iehadl / S P Chakraborty)

&I URTIa Y@ (dHifdb®) / CGM (Actuarial)
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AN 1 - SHifhd ot
Ts-I: fgea diies @uywRrRie duiesrm=ierr Suiesauwd SHiee
1. UHSRE! Bl SISH 3= dHTHdf

Q) frgea fuiee 3 fgfea & e eme: srssmeiusTs @ Hifes, fa ik Faw o)
fafyad, 2024 F1 SFY-1 F HFT 1| F TS 2(3) F 3 PI 75 UM & AR SHTHAl
fgad Saiee & (gfad & T e, 39 AReR URUST & SFY-THeITa-1e-1 & f3d T
wHc | gad diHie® & ©U T ded 3 Hgfad B RIBIRRT a1 §16 Ydhed &b SGRUl
3R dATHdl & gRT IR o T g fad/srRdTa o &1 Ufd & a1 TRgd B

(2) 3MSIRSIT3E (@HifPh, faw 3R < orf) fafvaw, 2024 & WA 11 6 TS 2(5) F 3 @
DI YT FHRAATCT STl (Hgad SH®® &1 Agfad & [T 3Tde- & Iy UEdT 2l 3 g
o forq feiRad & T S1eivT TG Ugd |

(3) 3MSIRIT3E (SHifps, fax ok FHaw &) o, 2024 B ST & wrT 11 & TS
2(1)(iii), 2(1)(iv), 2(1)(v) P 31 ATy =af B Be & g oy Ius:

() TfE ded UGS MEIRITHTS (SHifh®, faa iR Faw s fafwmy, 2024 Ht
ST b U 11 & WS 2(1)(ii) TT (iv) T (v) & A P T3 SIHT P S(UET I Th a8
Y 3AfIE T BT Y AT T §, Al SHHTwdl RALE (Hex) dHied & gad/at
eIl & 1Y AFCS! I §C & [ fTde B

(i) RS FHeR) dHihS Uh T SHES § 5 39 HReR URTS & 31 | & WS- & aad-
TS 1(3)(v) | IfcaRyd U & UEdl & AHGS! Bl 1 Rl § 3R WS (Hex) SHidd
¥ Ug & forg e Wit gR SrgAifed fvar mar 8|

(i) Id U q9 dob WA (HeR) dHGS gRT GHIT/ARId UNd B ofd d% Iad TT
3O S U el Rl

(iv) RS Hex) dHiHS BT i@

(@) RIS (Hex) SHiwS U M@l BT g0 aafaqd e & S|

(@) WS (Hex) SHiw® Hgad SiHi®m® & 1Y dHHbd & 9H aiHifes sl
& foIT ga U A ITRard g

(M) SMEIARSITSAS (SHHifpep, fax 3R 3w o) fafam, 2024 Tt wifreor gRT SRy
fod T s fafgdl, uRua, fefAden ud HRdla diuied SRiM gR1 o’ fbd 1
difre saaeR AF®l Aarfeslf et § guifafaféy wdar sik Tiftia mmRle @)
i & e off oy 811 39 Srdeant § Fafifead e §, W o Had 3!
i T1 ITE BIgfeiT
i.  UIGRUN gRT @ 5 MU & SR it SiHifee faarimliael &1

TR ThRUT
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(v)

i,  IEO-gHg WR e AFcs! | Muid =0 T 2e- e o7 SRE ST aT
SRfErd TRl Pt vaiedar o gHTEd B

WG (Hex) dHies & g uEar aHcs:

(@) S STl a1 YR SHTRd! T1 WY dHTwdl § Jafdas &mar § wyie
Hex) NHipe & Ue & forg srmaee Fafifad wdf & Iy srgemetuas @Hifee,
fa ok faw &) fafvaw, 2024 Pt STYRR-1 & UFT 11 F WS 2(1) & 3farfa Raffea
w0 § Yaiferd sl & fore fgad siied 3 g ot ursar Hde) o IR H:

i, WS 2(1)(vi) P AT TURSARIT Ul AFGS 31T : “Yuidhlieidh STUR TR
ST dl BT HHARY 3Mdeh WHRS (Hex) dHidbd b e an T8l 8|
ii. SMdad WS (Hex) SHIHS & Y IHT & AFCS:

A Pl | STSIHRSITATS (SHIDB AR b SHIDD, fod | &H (2) & 3idiid ds H
bR 3R fFraw &) fafam, 2024 &Y s | & | fafafdy & sifafkaa smféa
T 1| & 3UR AII-S BT g 3{IYT & aul P T
Silad &1 2(1)(iii) () 5
el 2(L)(iii) (&) 3
2(1)(iii) (1 2
JIYROT &1 2(1)(iv)(P) 3
el 2(1)(iv) () 2
2(1)(v)(T) 2
WY 2(1)(v)(P) 3
S/t 2(1)(v)() 2
2(1)()(ED 2

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

RAR® {ex) dHiesd i Fgfad & g gt uear ards miRe J ) SHies &
JA BB & SR AR TR fod I el

MEARIILAE (ST iell b deifee, foe ok Faw o) fafaw, 2024 F 3rgg=h 15
HET | & WS 5(1) P A d IUSY WRARS® (Hex) SHiw® o forg arL gl

RS (FHer) dHied U g g fhd! o diHrem /g memdl & TU & o )RARie
@) dHie® & T § @l fHdft o dHGdl Hddedl & W & YHer &
RG] dHIGS & U H BRI g1 DT aUT sl / GAaHIhd & e fodt 3=
UUHT ! UTiRd el S|

RMARE FHeR) & Haad! qUT I gRT YR bl 31 UG & Haadl & dae | fdl &t
1< ot Tuef =1 g anfe

AR al 39 AR UNUF & 3fY-THICINa-UL-1 § fod T WiHe | 3ffde URd xd
T, WRle (@eR) @ Fgfad & foe wem miRieRT & SrHiG &1 suel S|
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(4) frgaa diuie® (TU) & o1 sgaamry Hamfera &=

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

MEIRETS (Hrepatail & difhe, fa 3R Faw o) fafam, 2024 B g
& YT Il & TS 4(1) & Jeu ¥, diHied 39 ARex IR & 3ey-Tddd-ue-1 o
TG URgd PR U &l UYHRI & gd SFHGA ¥ 180 & 0 IRTHRI-HR & YR
TR Jafdad &Edl § T &1 YHST ST AT H- & e 6 didies o Fgad a=
Tl 2|

Wi diHid e EARSIT3E (SHTbdisl & dHifees, o ok Haw o) fafam,
2024 P Y-l & YT Il b TS 2(1)(vi) DI Bl Idftd Fged dHidws & g
fafAfEy Tt Arest & g1 s

wRARferd dHiee dHeal & 9 SHifbe srfean F o SwierR gl
TS IRSIN3TS (STATHarell & diifere, o oiR Faw &) fafam, 2024, aut iR
SR1 o’} ford T8 3y fafae, oo, feznfAds wd yRd SHies TRIM gR1 o)
53 T SiHifhe caagR aHG I ATTeRlf Aiel § guifiafaféy wdor 3R T wm=lerd
diqiee R Y AL g

R dTHIGS TP 6l 999 U of &1 § 314al WRURG (Hex) SHidhe 3Ual T
F =0 T fobgt 37 Smrerdtei/gaTarearart & e srf T8t o3 | RyRierdr fiqies
& HA TUT TH & SHIHd! P 3R I7 fHdt 3 SHTHdl & 3ie ITdb gRT UTid fomat
3 UG & Bl & Tao | 3l &1 Bt bls Jus gl gRT

(5) TaT YO1eH Iuds HRH & fore SHTwmdal & gfiica:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

SRS (HTHarsll & siuifere, faa ik FHaw o) fafam, 2024 HY SrRE-
& U 11 & TS 9(2) & Yo & Ty, Sia ST disil & U S iHd-HyiRor ok Jeaie
& TSI & fo Fgad smies & sifaRed, $0 I &0 o didiss gl

T UHR, TP TURUT, WS- W ST 3R GGl & I S iHd- T
3R Yedie1 & Yo & forg 31 fAiaR 2024 % Fged diHie® & sifafkad H7 4 HH
U §iHIbD gl

T SRl gsTATG TSl BT WISl §RT USIIdhRul YHIUGE & e & afke 9 &
9 @ 3afd & forg Iwfad Iusy 5(i) 3R (i) & 3faia faemm™ 2l ¥ ge 3 18 ]

. fad=h gadfar wransif (@wemdies) & Wy # ary Sudy:

SRS (T arsH & SHifores, fod 3R o< &) Bt SrgE-1 F U 1l 6 WS 10
& g o, fafafed Susy ang gi:
(1) FIYRON 3R e G SIa9r & forg Qieq-eirdr faarr SR o fafames saifee

Rard Iaa defila fafaat § guifdfRféy s searareatet & 91 UGl SHHiGS &5
FU A WM AT U SHHipS gRT S/ A THIOT &1 Saf |

(2) S RUICl DI TG SRAR/AT diHied HafaRad JIdf BT SIuTa HT/HT:
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() HRH SHieS TR BT hdl Ie;

(i) TR 3R Sfia Gafr Sawrat o THId S & e HHer: JreRor §14r 3R
St ST e | fafdmr=r Wendt 9 gad g @i el ¥ fAged daies
& ¥ Y H BT B4 & fore YR 111 IR gRT 9’} far T a8 R &1 gHIoms
Gféfthdre 3mp dfdew) ifimd g,

(i) Tt Raref & ymmofieor Bt aRRE @Y 70 98 B S ¥ HfYF BT 8! g AT,

(v) efId &7 W HH Y HH 5 I8 BT 3fgdl & d1¢ BT WA SFIHT 8;

(v) YR H Bt o SIS dl/gd Gl BT HHART A 81;

(vi) 3ASH SHBD P [avg [ e e a1 fad st fafaaedl griS
SR HRATS el B ofF! AT SHUAT URH el B ST ATeT; qUT

i) fUd T a5t & SR feafert & w=u § =mafauifa 78t forar mar 81l

3. 3 IUSY:

(1) Te&m MR afe Saxae iR TH THE Sl §, ) ST dl/ JAamemdl 3 Jaferd
Pig ol I U A &g WUl & Hratad H AfediTd ol HR- & g e
SHEERmAE Her) faies/mRMRier dHied ¥ 68 IoHdl gl

(2) 3MSIARSIT3ME (TR aial &b dHifehes, i ik Faw &) 3w, 2024 Y ST &
I 1| & WS 5(3) 3R 5(4) & e #, Fgaa dniws/RmRle @) dwies & &9 d
4T GHT HRA & o g dididh s/ mRiRle @ex) daied, SHmdl of dib JgH &I
e 3afdr S $d AT, Hal-THI B aRig fhdt W g § 1 S T 30 [ &
a9 B T anfe aifffes wral &t sifed =u 37 9ut afife ifafte dwifes
Hedie RAIE IRqd = H fadd o &1 off 9 |

TS - |I; SftaT dIHT FTATT BT ediD:

1. TSRS @ urerateft & Swifes, fod ok Faw &) fafaw, 2024 F1 g | & wm
(@) & TS 9 & TIR THT WAy Hd 909 FHafaRad sifafed Rigial &1 R fovar
SITEIT:

(1) YT / HeTs T8 Ued urfaial & fore emfer ffr Ws 9(2) 3R TS 9(3) & siarfa faffdy
FTUH
() SFR-Ieaih 3fafd & SR THIE B T8 3R ST uTferdt & forg siRféra ffer wfasg
T g:UadH &1 TS & T Siid 3 Jed I gl BT HRUI S Taball § oIl UTerRep!
F! AT & e i &1 519 8 It 81 Tu 39 fRUfY R foaR &% qur 3ieg a9 &
3 A:Uad & fore SmRfem Fft &t e H3 3t Teh Iugad USfd S|
(i) STl Al (ATh-37 TRTS) & IRM JHA ! T3 Yag UIIGdl & A §, TT
AT &1 T3 IR} & YHIFAd GH:0acq IR S §iHaTd YR &1 & H T 3R
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P U Y B TAal-1 & Sfdid 59 A UG S| FHIW DI T8 Y Uriardl 9
YT 1 GHE UHR, =Y “uyrat fafraremi & forg it & sidid Ue sia ig & =4
T gA:0ac 3fafd &1 YHIMGT & HRUN AT SHIGd Afad &1 Jg 811 B HRUT AT SHTSGdl
3fafd &1 T & BRI, ST AN &Y, Sfeal O unfereht 1 frin g9 des e fasar s |
Tg MR oft B werel-1 H Fedle & U B guiiE S|

(i) TCTS TS Ue Jag TR & Ama 7, T O o & g gade W Iaw gRare
YR & o8 wrae™ &l

(2) TS 9(4) 3R 9(5) F TR UIferdt faspent SR MR & fog Urgem:

T fafirs ugfaal & SR O UMT A & a1 fadmed) 3R MR &) arTd &1 Uit S |
T, T8 YA fosar S i 59 TSR Wau™ &t 18 anTd Wity &1 16 LR ([H-
SR HRIHAD Ufa<rd gH|

(3) TS 9(6) P ATIR fae=h garsfi # ORI &1 113 wifaii o day 7 sifdfad graum:

SRS (dHTepdiai & Siifere, faw ok fFaw ) fafmm, 2024 # 3rggE-1 % Hm
11(F) & TS 2(4)(vi)(@) & AR TT fafAm =i & Uidl [aftrsrdret ¥ I giHara o
Rf&d (ATl &t YU e DT UM B DI UGHd DT {qaR01 &1 39 Faiy |, T Dl Jfod
foar S 8§ % gt & IR & foeme IR, siR-gedie o@fyr & R
JTH/[AHAH &3, 3M1¢ BT fqaR0 gard |

(4) 3MSIARSIT3NE (SHIHaraN & SHifbd, i 3R FHaw o) fafaw, 2024 B 3R 1 & 1T
Il (@) & TS 6(4) 3R 8(4) & fdia guTaffey T [Afd, smfea A geaies & ke
D! faTH™ AN HaRS & 15 & B AR T & AU G- TUR & Th SMYRTR & HdH
BT

(5) 3O TNY-&FaT AR (SRTTTH) S 0T H e Uraurl 3w i it o
HAER:

STl & T SIS SRIITITS (SHTEaIS & S, fad iR Faw ) fafam, 2024 &
S| & YT 111(P) & TS 9 & 3fcila suferd &0 & Sifafkead Uau™ &R &1 Sa=adhdl
21 37 SifaRed UrayFiAfe ueur % ey § AN fPY SMAQ SRUETH HRé
TUASIL/TsT1 B H Y T8 39 Tefid Aufieron & ST gl

(6) Fa=1 TRET & T 3RUITH HRF:

gfe RS TRET fhdl dag Sare & Siaid uxarfad fedt Y & sidvfa Suasy g, af
TRfeTl ¥ ga & oY SIRTITH HR& had 34 (R & forg & o {53 9= =1fgu) we
Uhd IdIG & 3faiid fafva Mt & fore sragRr o g8 faftradr Jefia tael-1 (Sarg-arR
fazaftd faaror & T1Y) H U e & TUH 3R B Hel-1 7 1A T 3T HRSH & T4
7 yfafdfea &t o =Rl

(7) SMTSIARSITITS (@ HTHarst & sHifhd, fad 3R Faw ) fafam, 2024 FT SIgE-1 & WA
1) & TS 1(9) & HaH & YA HTwdl B /Y IRAT & Hae T FHAT 3fafdl i 0T {3t
STl & GRT JHaHIGd & U ol (37d18%) URdd &3 &1 dRIG, 3{eqUd STHThd! ol
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GIACR ¥ q1d B Yo Bt aRIG & a8 464 foTy T 9 o off ugdl 81, I &t Sl | gAe ATt
q YT ST A ARMT 3reqdeds & gRT <7 WHgH! & 1y JHRING B9 & Ugd g |

ST AR F1 ghrT @i HT AT H1 $ AT Igeor:

TRERY-1: 99 UI&l a Pt aRRA 3R [ TPt & U S Ugd B Dt aRE & dig SfaRa
45 e st T @

TIRRIYR®/GIAER & Yl SHTdHdi &I ald &) Ya-l o &1 dRIE: 01.01.2023
gdTaTEal B Ude SHBd GRT A I T & Sl TRRG: 10.01.2023

i DI Y& SHTHdT B GRT YT ¢ DI ARG UTE 1d BT aRg 34 01.01.2023 §
45 &7 & SiaR 3Kt 8, 3fd: GASTATHdl &1 USRI Bt BT 3Gy BT A0 YAaTHIGdl Bl oD
T B B IRaAfdd aRIG Ui 10.01.2023 ¥ o S|

URERY-2: 99 Ueael Srd 1 AR SR [ areal & UTH Sioie WRgd $ &1 aRRG & ard SfaRa
45 f&7 9 3iftr §

TIfeRIR®/GIAGR ¥ Y&l dHTdhdl B GId &1 Y1 G- & dRIG: 01.01.2023

IS gAaETRdl Bl Udel STHIGHdl & §RT GId B a1 G- 1 dRIG 20.02.2023 (3T Ucdef araT &
(01.01.2023) ¥ 50 &9 & TTE) 7:

SOBTAT SfATe BT HIUH 16.02.2023 (YT Uedel Y1 Bl TRIG 37U 01.01.2023 + 45 fa = 16.02.2023
— TIE I Pt ARG & §1G 46dT [e-) I fdar sme|

(8) 3MSIARIT3NE (SHIHaraN & SHifbd, o 3R Faw wrf) A, 2024 FY SFTE-1 B HIT
1I(P) & TS 1 (IR BT Gedids) & TeH T Hol fayfadl &1 Geaich- dafid fafamt ot
SIE-1 & SIER fovar Sra|

2. Ugd @ ATl 3= faa=fort ok fraid -

(1) 3ME3MRSIT3S (@ATpatan & diuifees, fax ik FHaw wr) fafaw, 2024 B SFGER-1 & U
Il (@) & TS 2(3)(i) P SR STHTHdl “aTH ied Al (Sseguie RS Tgd S| <y
fgd A & 769 3R S=GURT & GRT HaR $I ST [dug-a¥g &1 fqaRor ey
Hidiea- Taeims-1 B fear man g

(2) 3SIARSIT3NE (SHTHaraN P AHifbd, o 3R Faw wrf) o, 2024 B SFTEN-1 B HIT
Il (&) & WS 2(3)(ii) 3R 2(3) (i) F TR Siia- G < 718 TASTdl & SR 39 R
&1 IRUf-TASE Bt HH 9. 1 9 %A . 13 d& ARy Tu d sifafked faasfort / fard vega
G
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JRU-TA1

RCICICER TR &1 | IRgdiRor &l TRAIR & forg ad
Tdfa dadht | B ugfa IR
OReR uRwT
o ded
IMEARSITIAE (ST fefica IR ® IS gRT oAl & 3T Ul
Hdiel & sSHifere, fad gxaeiRa  (wEr o I § A9 A &
3R fyawr &) fafem, Tfed) R T foxilm af =t
2024 DT ST | b HFT I 9 09 @8H &
@) F SFER Sia WRY B 3R, ot ot ugd &
i weEE & R RO,
TRIR (THRY) W Bl
g%w TR |
(i) BT STt CER THUE-TRId S gRI A & SfifiapRur
(ii) TTH Sretet i1 | (fSfved IR W P INE A A T &
(iii) TTH THTE-1 gaigRa & R T foxflg o &t
(iv) BH dEhuTue aifafvem) T § &9 789 &
dt-1 3feR, St it uga |1
(v) B et Teret-1
(vi) TTH FTEYT Tae-
2
(vii) BT Tael-1
(viii) TTH Tael-2
(ix) Y- T
(x) WTH- TS
(xi) WW$
TedieH /
red/gargHEl o
PIRGREY
(xi) GRON-
gkl & d&y H
SRR
(xiii) a1 FdiE & ferg
faavor

(@) T H I
(ferferat bt T

@) udcgﬁ:)?r IR
% KREr

G & ey H
SN/ TTferert
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(9) St A e
P FRaRar (aTferya &t
= & 3MTUR WR)
fgea dHies & | erey fSfilcd aR ™ TIRU & 1Y
arftfes RUI¢ (UuueR) | THidiver- sl (wrf
Taeg-2 | Hfeq)
TUUSR Cdl
grfoml,  wH
A fefored dR
TR gEAIERd @R
gj}rw THd o
|
Y R S9-gd! | faavli- fefoled dR W T3RU & 1Y
(e st widie2 | gERa 3R
fdRed ®u 9
IRO™T  THUY-
TR |
aH  gfed Sflfd |z AReR | fSfved dR W T3RU & 1Y
EsgUh &t fare o @1 | gxaneid
ey
I
TT3MTE-1
STR-G U§ed | ergaY fSfScd aR w T3RU & 1Y
(TUCTEA) THidiug- gwefa SR
TASATR-3 EXEC R IRE
faarofi- IRMO™T  THUY-
-3 | TRad
3 gont ey fSftlcd MR ® T3RU & 1Y
THIIga- gaeid eiR
TA3TS-4 EXCC R IRE
faarofi- IRU™T  THUY-
-4 | TRaH
fRawar Rare ey fEftlcd MR ™ 30 S Ud® ay
gHidiug- gwefa SR
TASR-5 b SR,
IRO™T  THUY-
TR |
fdlm Rfa R | o fF|fftlca IR = TRl & Se B I
(UHYISR) StHifee TEIERd HH B ARG I TH
AER T8 & 90T & 3ex
el #H
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RuifRa g
10 | qHpef qHTEd o RUC | SRl fSfScd dR ™ T3RT & TqTY
(Pad JUTENT ¥U ¥ | Siifes BTN
TAgayul ¢RIt dABarsl | TAER
(@W&ﬁé&ﬂé@) & | APl
fAuifa g
11 @@Tqﬁf\eﬁ faxita - THUE-TRA T3IRU & 1Y
12 | E3Raruais fefolecd dR W faaTe! ! JTft ¥ 45 fad
ClEIEIE] & BEIERd & 3z, sifaw fammst o
SiHifPe, faw 3k fAaw R [~ G | [T
P fafaw, 2024 # TR0 & HFT & &Y
fafafdy wu o wnf H- H T fodl 9T §
3% BrHc B INYF-&FdT
IEERUYI
13 | vuAuA-gRUl-faAel | SfEY fSfScd aR w Ud® faATe! & gA 9
(FPad YU =0 ¥ | THdTd- gwela SR 45 T & SR
Tgayul ¢t dABarst | Taens-3 P siferfad,
(Cl-THAEAETE) b RPOoE  THTE-
[ISLSIDN T §

(3) SrETHarsT ¥ StHifd Gedic a1 YA I Hafdd fhwal o Rute!, faaxfort a1 o= axamasii
B BTS UladT Tgd PR BT 310 TSt 81 SXaTaen Bl Ut 3R THUY-ge/uaid U 8-
q &né?ﬁ: actuarial-valuation-l@irdai.gov.in B Vot \_rlT\QJTﬁ AR I Th ufd

IMIIARTITITE & dATHISS AU & Asd SHUBRY o i S |

) OO T gl Bl diEium ufedl W siaféd swdeRebdisl & gr fEfed dr
THIER fobd STE |

(i) U, Ut & AT O fAeRTOR &1 TR RO G UUT & SR SATe I adb

SR X

TS Il — ATYROT 3R LSS WA T HGAT BT G
1. IMYF-&HaT fIaRor AR HAT:

(1) 3MSIRSITINS (SHATED1HT b SiHifDD, ﬁﬁsﬁvﬁéwmﬁﬁm 2024 B SIG-1 B HIT IV
& WS 2(1) P ATIR SNRIT, TS E/H LR AR, PSS IWT T8 / HRIRG ATRqdl, TSHIS
2 T OReY S ST, SeT-efeTell ot TTURT 3 Sreirert 3 T -t SRR} & g
& forg arcs i faffdy frd M S u 6 81 3 31 fommgt SR anftfes TRgdiaunt o fore arL 81|

(i) SMECHHHR AUCITR: 3Macl/HEeR IR &1 Jedgi Ui T Ugfd R yde farmg! o
1/12 F 3 &R W forar S, o 39 faAmg! & URY gRT o s Secl/dhuex AueddR &l
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JHd 1P | SIST 7T 81 ST TNYH-&HdT HIFSH Pt TIUFT & Yo & fag srafaiad
(e 3 g WR faaR foar S|

TP T e FEER &

g . 120 G & T SMEC/HTCR AUCIR Pl Johd scfe § faxiig a¥ 2015-16 1 fad612
A SeT T ], d Udw Tt ot Wit IR SUAS Q- a1 WIS B 0T & Taier
& Y 3MEcl e UUeddR &1 WH Hed -id & RUN & AR TS [dHTe! & 3fd o
Sfafafad (Rest $18+) I ghm:

fofafed & T | uRY® TR forTe! o ofd o sraferad
QM- BT 0T 3{aferRad ged q
f9.9.2015-16 &1 fa2 120 10 110
fd.9.2015-16 1 fa3 110 10 100
19.9.2015-16 @t fd4 100 10 90
f9.9.2016-17 & fa1 90 10 80
fd.9.2016-17 @1 fa2 80 10 70
fd.9.2016-17 &1 fa3 70 10 60
fd.9.2016-17 @t fa4 60 10 50
fd.9.2017-18 1 fa1 50 10 40
fd.9.2017-18 &1 fa2 40 10 30
fd.9.2017-18 &1 fa3 30 10 20
fd.9.2017-18 @t fa4 20 10 10
fd.9.2018-19 &1 fa1 10 10 Bt

(i)  EPEU® G T / HRIRT SR
(@) ST51 3 SNy IMBRABAI(3M) B aal-Sfed! § Gl & T H WIHR fbar T
& Ul T8l Jed DI JNYH-&FdT HTfor o1 WHUMET o TS o forg &1 H 781 aTeu|
() ST 3 STeadi(37)/HRABAI(3M) BT ATT-aiedl & ¢Idl &b =0 & WIHR el odl
& Ul 981 Ged I [NYH-&HaT HIfo Bt AT & Yo o g & & gl
STET |
(i) TS UIh / TS ANM: ¢S HIh T1 S AN St el SMTra bl Iuetsdl MeH-&dT Hifoi
B WU & TS & ol Sratierd & =0 & T Sie |
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(2) TB-SHT ASRIRAT - FHIYE 7 fhd T 3R 7HIiE 7 {50 T Tg-H1 U AW o1 MeE-dT
AR Pt TITUHT & YdoH & fore Wierd snfaal & w0 & T8l A1 S|

(3) 3MUfET MeH-&mar A o ITUMT & T & e, 59% gRT Wy foear oidr & fo dufads
gde SR gmEn (@ Rt ud fadeh wfeqd) @ wea We & Wy aftifera faar Soem aut
JRUYTA-1 3R RTHTH-2 R deJIR faaR foar smem|

(4) WA WY Fiad 9 f6d T (SEEITsR) aral & e eiRfaa A &1 srgaE geg dinifes
fygidl o YR W T ST 9UT 39 &1dT <adl o HN & & U H {1 S|

(5) MEIARISILAE (STt b diHiferen, fam 3R Mo o) fafaw, 2024 BT G- F HIT v
& TS 2(1)(x), 2(1)(xi), 2(1)(xii) P FeH T TG DT ASRIRAT/TE-SHTHdl B! AR &
ey o ST fafd B UMD {Sreqdes dHTwmdl/RN dHdmdl gRT YAeHTS dl/Tg-stHTdhdl &
U dioieh TR HRA &1 ARG, U ST/ SHIIRUTGd! B GIaGR I & B g1 & UTfed
& TG 464 o) 370 I o1 o Ugd B, @ P Nl GASIHGAn FE-dHIGmd I U dHr
ARIRAT fedeh/3RIult StaTdmal gRT od Wt & AT FHeH & 3 ugd gl

ST ARIRAT F1 T @i BT AT $1 $ AT ISeor:

URERY-1: 59 Y& g1d Bl ARG 3R Y HTHdl & U dIoTdh URgd B Bl aRIG & s BT 3R
45 o 3 TET §

IfeRftUR®/EaeR I Uael Sardhd o g1d B Y1 B aRG: 01.01.2023
HETHTS AT B T STHG ! §RT G ST ga-1 B aRiG: 10.01.2023

s qASTHTS Al B Ueaed STHTHdl gRT YT Bt ARG Udef G1d 1 dRiE 34fq 01.01.2023 ¥ 45 f&
D MG ATCH §, Mch: TAAHTD AT BT USRI BT FHIAT ATy BT A0 GASTHIG A1 DI STl Ted B
P IRAfa® IRIG S14Tq 10.01. 2023 I far Smwm|

URERY-2: 99 Ueael Srd B aRIE SR YA HTdhdl $f S5 Udd H- Dt dRIRG & s BT 3R 45
A sfw e

TIfeRiYR®/cIdeR | Uedes 1wl DI &1d &1 gaT &I dRRG: 01.01.2023

e eTATRdl B U SHTHdl gRT GTd &1 Yol &1 dRIE 20.02.2023 g (34fd Tel a1d &1 g1 &1
IRRG (01.01.2023) ¥ 50 fe7 & a1E B):

FHIT Al BT AT 16.02.2023 I (34T Taes G- 1 dRIE 3HUTq 01.01.2023 & §IG 469 G + 45
f& = 16.02.2023) forar ST

6) MRS (SHTBdier b diHifere, i 3R Faw &) fafaw, 2024 & -1 & WA IV &
IR (@SN 2(1) (MRl ®T o) & ded o, Fol ufayfadl &1 Jedie- 3ad daiid
fafael o1 S¥El-1l & SR favar S|
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2. Ugd @t STt =g faa=iomr v Rl

(1) 3MSIRST3NE (@I araN & SHifbd, fax 3R Fax o) A, 2024 B ST B HIT
IV & TS 2(4) 3R 2(5) § fafAfdy ¥u § favur yde faxita avf & forw aiffer SR oS
SRl o STIHRUI BT ARG W TP TeH & 3G 31yl 30 A dab, il Ugdl 51, Ugd fadl

S|

(2) 3MSIRSIT3NE (IR araN & SHifbd, fax 3R Fax o) A, 2024 B ST B HIT
IV & TS 2(5)(iv) P TR, SHTHAT 39 URTS B! GRUN-S13MTs B H 4. 10 ¥ fafAfdy &g

¥ srfaRe faaRfori/Raré <t 78 wiIsudr & SR WRdd B

IRt - shams
fure/faavoft foRol # udfa | TR TRAThRUT B
W?Wtr&qsrﬁ P10/ TG g aiia
q
AR RaiE | ey widieg- | Bftea aR s R W@ &
SaMg-1 R gI&Rd 3fifteprTr o aRkE ¥
T A & 3/ a1 30
S, S ot ugd |l
IRSTAANR B | fdRui-wdidivas | fSfved dR fEeITAsR Ruid &
3R IR R gEIERd qry
THUY
TR
fodla fufa RO | srgdy  wiidiwa - | fefoled aRr JRATAR RUic &
(CHHIBIR) Sherg-2 TR gEI&Rd g
THIIR IRO™T | fgarofi-udidiva-6 fofoled dR IARATAIR RUE &
R gEid qry
IR THTH
TR
A<l Uded | ey Tideg- | fsfea R AT Rud &
R gad  Tdeur | Sffers — 3 3R faaveft | ;R gwneia qry
fard THATd-7 3R TTaUH
IR @1
THIE- TR
3nfies ot Rute wfidiua- | fBfvea R IMEATASR RUC &
Gﬁ&n's‘4 3R ool | R swneRa qry
T8 - Bl
IR @1
THTE T
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7 | ggdhe gD DI | Sibifdhd aER | fefoled ar AR Rad &
Raid @aa yonell- | aFet & Ruid ®u | R gwarefd g
Td ®U 4 Hgayul | |
2 Srmdtet (S)-

THIMESATSTH) b forg

8 | =Med-emdr  HIFNH | STS3RSITATE fSfSea aR 30 S, 30 RdeR 3R
3IATd & SFREUI BT | (SIS & | W &R 31 GOR & T
fod (foumet Mea- | Suifes, fag 8k | 3R wHf &1 faorfsal & forw ude
& e | Faw @rf) fafem, | THog-TwRw fomTet o Tty 9 45
EAIRSTNS (AT | 2024 BT STTA-| & a7 & 3’
Hafelt & SHifbe, | HFT IV & TS 2(4) 3R 31 A" @ T
fog iR oW &) | 2(5) qUT 3W AR fammgt & faw: 918 g
fofaa, 2024 @t & Ts- Il BT dEl & SR B
SIEL-1 & HRT IV & | SUSY 1 dRE ¥ T HeH &
WS 2(4) 3R 2(5) & 3fax a1 30 I, o it
[Tqid g Ugal 8l
et )

9 |aMRg-caar ydud | foRioEl @ uxdfa | fefiea aR T [rHTRT ol TG
faa=forat (Pad | Teeft AReR oz &1 | I gxdreiRa ¥ 45 fdT & 3R
UTERTd &Y ¥ | ey wHidiua- | 3R vuaed
agayul a=ft | Shems-3 ok faarufl- | IR @
dirpdiell  (S1-TH | TEdTaE-7 THT-

AME3METY) & forg LCRING]
NIV

10 | dEr-wifdd  afte THLY-TRA IARETAAR RO &
faitg faavor (THug- qry
TRl BTC)

(3) Rurd &1 Uit

() dHBate & fore StHifee T a1 gasm & Saferd fagt e, faa=fomy ar e=a
TGSl DI BTS Ufaal TRd B BI aAHd Tl 8 | SR JAaG axdidell &1 Greidh
3R THEY-ge/uRd Ul fafifad $-83d st actuarial-valuation-nl@ irdai.gov.in
DI WOl ST TRT TUT S U Ul SIS 3RSIUSMTS & AT [AHRT & A8d HfABRY
&I U Bt St ARyl

(i) U Tt TSt 1 TSI ufdr S sxdreREatst & gRI fefoled dR W gxaela
HI S AUl ITFd gWael & Udd ¥ W fSfed IR R gWER & oI
Il el g

3. 3RS P UId H HIeR 377 &l STl Bl 3Uals HAT:
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fged diuies iR T U IBRT SMEIMEHISTE &I TRAHU T3+ J Ugd HleR 3=
U&f 3T &1 AquldT, Shfac iR Teio &I GAd il STafe G SUTeH SHUGR! iy J0-

rarsft &1 rureH A e

@S IV - ST UqHr BT Jedip:
1. IEIARSTS (SHrparal & dHifee, fow ok Raw o) AT, 2024 & -1 F UFTV &
TS 3(1) (ATl BT YedihT) & GaH | ol UiaHfadl &1 Jedie Taid [a-aH & SrEl-1l

& TR T S|

2. UKId &I SAaTe 3 faaRfomt sik faid:

(1) 3MSIARSIT3NE (IR araN & AHifbd, o 3R Fawr o) 3, 2024 B ST B 1T
V & WS 5(1) ¥ 5(3) g | fafféy wid ude faxiia oy & forw aifffes enuR R dis/mee= &t
ISR TR GRT G & SAfIHRT B aRRG  Th A & 3fex 31l 30 A ab, o i
Tga B, TR o S|

(2) UG Qs & e AN TRl &1 Safddmdr R Fad aRd IRof-3Raem-
YR qsfATR T & 3idifd e Sfcdfad & u & g

HRUT- 3R 3MME-HRAT YA ATl
%A | oilad gAaEy | Rod/faarot | foaRfori &t | i/ IRt TR o ferw
. | QYR Ufd ddd | o gl fad IRt
qeEy SR AR IR |
TR RE
1 | Sltgq qamy | Se3RSIusms feftcd IRk W IS gRT ol &
YR @rdfet & gweia (Wl il B dRI
e CiE] siAifes, fod afed) q o faT & sfax
fafgm & | iR faw &ri) IR, wH g fo-flg o &t
TR TRy | fafmw, 2024 Ml fefoed dr TG ¥ 3 Ag
BT TR & -l & IR gEeiad 8k & 3fer, ol Ht ugad
AT V & ©S ey URd o o]
5(1) ¥ 5(3) db B
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N G | SESRTEaE - Rfes o) R s (3 a0 0
(sl & weia (G STl Y AR
PP, fag wfea) 3 0w R B v
3R A% &) T fodg o @t
faffgg, 2024 TR Eil Ty I TR
Pl Gﬂﬁiﬁ | & Wﬁ?qﬂﬁ ¥ 3R, o ftugd
YRT Il (@) & ! feforea drR a
SIUR  SfteH R gEIERa 3R
draT Fgau & O TR A
oy diwifes g
fearé 3R
YRIY (TR
Site gslAT | B Sttt | faarf- IR | e |98 o] 9wl $
B Tgael-1 | TEidiga-1 Sfed dR W ST & g
ESILIRG| & I dg R ¥ siex
3ifafed) a g af #
A I dH e
g&m,amqga
oflg gt | e R | e Rofea R R | e | Ty @
St (Sfie | weiidiua-2 el oiR
it o SR,
IRO™I  THTE-
TR H
TS TRW | ST | 3 ReRred R W | s | oy S Y
TS (YUeTeH) | THITa- geafd SR
oiemg-3  9R |39d SR,
faazof- IRIO™T  THTY-
qHICTee-7 TR |
TR TR | A goi ISy feficd TR W | aN® | TRT S 91y

LGICISE gEeid 3R
Sitais-4 TOF  offafead,

TR H TR | | AR THIE® | dHTdH fSfSled aR W | aIffe | T3RU & 1y
o WU (Fad | TaERAFSI § | g&eid 0 o
YUITeivTg =9 ¥ | fuifd g o

SR dafsi

TRTP TR W | AG-G_ifed - TUY-URTA qMNe | TART & 1Y
CRIACERL
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9 | IRMPTRW | WMYH-&Hd TSR SITSS | fefoled dR wR | fadmet | 30 9, 30 RideR
o oruId | @Apdfel & | sxareRa 8k 3R 31 ¥R 31
& SRV B | SHifee, fod | BEl BT THEY- I fameal &
feafé 3R % ) | TRia fou v fommgt
fafmg &t D gEE ¥ 45
SIIET-1 & HIT faq & SR
V &1 5(3) 31 A & g9
ferdt & forg oS
ERUSEC
3T Dt ARG
Y Th HEH & 3R
g1 30 A dab, Sl
1t Ugd gl
10 | remur ARATAAR | ey fSfoled AR R | aItie | A8 gRT o@l &
P feare THidiva- RSIIRG iifieRur & ARG
EICIES Y U HEH o 3R
g1 30 S AP, SN
i ugdd
11 | QYR RATAANR | faaron- f&filcd dR R | aiffe | smEdieeR Ruic
QAT BH 3R | w5 TGN 3R &b Y
rforr THTY TR
12 | IRIHTRW |fddm R | srey feficd dR W | 9o | srzaivAem Rurd
feard THIéNa- EASIEIRG] & Y
(TPHSR) | S3fE-2
13 | SR TRWK | THIURR faaRoft- fgfoled TR W | I | smEeiiwaem Rurd
IRt THICINd-6 TR SR & Y
THIH-TR
14 | JRIH TR W | RA-cadm Y f&fiicd dR R | faumgt | wde famdl &t
Tte  (had | THICNa- gxeid SR TG & 45 feA &
JUTRINT 0 & | Slefg-3 3R | 39 3ifafen, 3R
AgayH  oXf | faaRoh IROM™  THTS-
dmrwatel & | TEdTd-7 TR o
&IRT)

(3) fae=h grefaraaiell ot wrarsft (T aReTY) & forg ar] TRgdiea N &t saferear ik fad

TG IR 3RS -TH ARSI & Idid -9 Sfcafad U H g

IRf- R 3ATS-TH AR ITH
%A | Sha= o /faazolt | foRfori & | wy Mg | RGBT &
T | getaRATeR T TBRT TIAIHR0T i forg fraa aka
s TR el AR | uld
BT TR R § dgyf
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Sltad Qa1 | TS 3ReIusTs f&foled IR W deMEYd @l
JIYROT CIGIERIEIS X (W PRBRT FiHfa
PRIt/ SHifh®, fad qfga) gRT W@l &
fafadf & |8k faw sifleror @t
STUR IR HT | Hr)  fafrad e ¥ d9
W D Il & fad & siqr a1
YTV & WS fodfta av @t
5(1) ¥ 5(3) dH qag ¥ dF
' e & 3fag, il
ft ggal g1l
Siad QHaTAT | SIS 3ReIusTs - f&foled IR W CISIECEs Bl
@Hmdfat & g (Wt PHAGRT FiHfa
dwife®, foa fed) GR1 ol &
3R faw ) . ifieur B
fafram, 2024 RO, Y3RY R ¥ I
DI TG P & ®H qH 37 & iR @
YT @) & fefored R W g a8 &
ITAR Sl gualEiRa_ 3R ey & dH
e oaEry & THTY TR 7SR & 3iax, o
form  dwifee Wt ugal 811
fare 3R
IRIT (TIHRT)
S e | wE Sigiet | faarof- THUE-TRI SR
B TTael-1 | Teed-1 fSfled IR W FAGRT I
WA & GRI W@ &
RIRIECT) DB P
R ¥ a9
faq & SR a1
fodta av @
A ¥ dF
qeH & 3fag, ol
ft ggdl g1l
Sffq et | gEreE 3R | faaRof- fgfoie dR T3RT S 1Y
Sa-Et THidiua-2 gxela SR
(Sfta sftem) b Sifafar,
IROAN THUy-
TRIA |
YR TAEHT | SMREEASR | ey fSftled IR W deMEYT @l
faré THIciua- RESIEIRG! FHeER affd
offefrs-1 GRT W™ &
ROl @l
e I
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30 9 dP, S
i ggat gl

HTYROT GAaHT

faaeof-
TIeEd-5

fSfoled aR W)
geid 3R

RECIG RN
fyard & Ty

TR P TR R

THUE-TRI

U3RU & 1Y

TR P TR R

S SRSITAS
@HTHaret &
diHifes, o
3R faw &)

fSfoled aR W
geid 3R
B BT THIY

30 S, 30
fdeR 3R 31
fodaR & ga
foamfeal & forw

fafmm &t PRCAREIRC|
ATl & AT ¥ 45 fa
HTT V &1 5(3) & 3

31 HE &
AT fammet &
forg  SISmEYA
P BEBRL
gfAfe gRT ol
& 3fierur ot
R ¥
AN & 3feR T
30 9 dP, S
f gga Bl

(4) TP TH3RE UTIHR0 & U BIed &l SHdTe [d-amdd [aaRioml & a1 999 &0 §
o=t g Ut o NeF-emar iR foxfta Yeegar & Ty & 4a gAeH SO O Th
Sffcfead dinifde woofieor TRga S| g8 gaTofieor g faesht gHedr o=t & fae ar
A Y- AFGS] UR SR BT

(5) 3TSIARSITIMTS (SRS P siHifhe, fad 3R o &rf) fafaw, 2024 F W v & il
faffdy Tu & B SMEIARSITNME-HRIME-CIT 3R BH IHEIARSTIME-SHRIAE-THH B
IR YR GsTATRaia & Are § IR 5 TR TR Igad AR 3R Me-edT faavor
Iad fafawl & gRT SiRRETHS @) 9910 T U § 377 gEierRGarsil b Iy g\ sitad
ST AU 3R ATYRUT YA HT TG & Fgad S| gRT THI0 fbd S |

(6) SMTSIARSITITS (SHTH A P SiHifhd, o 3R o &rf) fafaw, 2024 & U v & Sidfa
faffdy *u & B MLIARSITANME-HRIME-CIT SR BH IHEIHRSTIME-HRIME-THH B
TR THIRETY & A & THY URAT TR R Ygad MR 3R MeH-&aT faaRor Iad
ol & gRT fCRITE® bt T U H 3 §XAIERGAISN o Wiy Sfa G-e |1 Sqaad
3R TYRT YASTAT TGIRI & FHIOMT HRAATT Gl S| & gRT THIOT fhd ST |

3. fxavef &1 uegdiexor
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(1) SHFarstl & fore SiHifed geaie- a1 e ¥ J&fid fegl Rarel, aRfor a1 o=
SXATASN BI BTS Uil TR = B TRl ol 81 SR JAIaG Gxalds &1 NS 3R
@WH@/QH@H Dﬁ?ﬁﬁ'ﬁ%@ﬁéﬁﬁ TdT: actuarial-valuation-nl@irdai.gov.in 4R Nvike el
T dYUT IT! TP UfT SMSIARSIT3MTE & dAHifbD faHT & T ifieRt & Uftd &1 s

ElIRY

(2) T it gxarael &1 diEiuw ufedt wR srfé geaerdmdial gRT fEfiied dR W xR f&d
M 91U SR iR exarasil & U g8 W fEfored dR IR gx1eR & &1 fTaadhdl

TR 5

s V - uRu &1 fAREE:

Tg AR g fgfoiad ufkast &1 sifisHor o &

®H | ulRum/fe=mteRT &1 T m ot v

i

1 IE IR Y/THEI AR am/fafay 255 2011 | TR-Siia= I & fore onfdfa gont
/111/05/2011

2 TS IR/ T TTA/ R SHTS IR/ 3G, 2012 | SRKI-GTAT UeeH 3R GaTd UI&mm
TUATH/006/01/2012

3 TS ARSI/ THTC TSR 3R SR 31 49 2017 | AR ST o forg foxitg fRufa Rkard
/075/03/2017

4 TSRS TSHTS/THIC T SAZ 3R/ 31 19 2017 | A1t dHifb® Geidhd & YR & U 4
SfEEA/070/03/2017 TRd P STHaTel a1

5 TSRS YT T/ RT 3Ts- 24 U | §iUdl & HIH ¥ USRT, TUUSR 3R
31R/066/2015-16/ 2015 QST faeRTOr! 1 JRedepRuT

6 TSRS/ SME3R/fafay 236H. 2014 | Siia ST ATl o ARaxar (rferfai
/035/01/2014 1 TS B 3MYR WR) IS Il ()

7 TSRS Y THETTa /TSR 3R/TTA 4. 2012 | R-¢gdl Ueed 3R Siig- o1|T a9
-TH/005/01/2012 D1 GaTd TRI&r

8 TSRS Y/ TH(Q)/TH T/ /12 27f¢d. 2010 | St star duf=al o e Yol
/2020-11

9 11/3TS RS YT TS/ SRSTANR 8 [ 2005 | FIYRUI STHT G o SHcIld SHTSATANR
/2005-06 G141 WU & A deed fgzmfem

10 | 3RS TSMM/THIRTAG IR/ 31 119 2017 | 9IS dHifb® Geidd & YR & =4 4
S18UH/075/03/2017 Td $I oAl oA SR gefa

11 | RIS/ RIS TR 3R /SR e 1195 2022 | dHHifee 3R GAaHT faaRiomm — gTs ufd
188/5/2022 D1 Ui DI gEId

12 | SEIRaITSTE/AEITaR S 3R 105, 2023 | 3ME3RSILSNS (Fger siHie) fafam,
/fafde/4/1/2023 2022 gt guz
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13 | RISy SR /Afay 15M. 2021 | SISARSITSTS  (Sitad  siHrpaist ol
/001/01/2020 METT, STamd iR TNe-&HdT AIfS)
fafaTH, 2016 et TWPiHRT
14 | IRIRSSM/AASRNANGIR/MAM@Y |21 A 2017 |[dISE &I Bledx AT [de=n
1147/06/2017 3R Taftd 3-0d faAi® | 199 2021 | GaHmaisl & T HEATE gRI
19.01.2021 Sraffore RUlel &t TRl
15 | IMMS3RSIY/THATA/AIE AR/ 045 | 7 HIE 2011 | 31 AR 2011 &I AT ay o for “SiHifb D
fraié ik IRy @t ot & fow fFgea
dHied! & YA /g Ale
16 | 056/3MTS 3RS Y/THICITE/RNE- & 23 T, 2007 | TNYF-&HT AT & SFREOT BT RUifeT
HIS/BRas-07 — faarel emyR
17 | 041/3MS3RSIy/THETaMrE-2006 29 A 2006 | Ydg SI99M™I & 3id¥id UUTd Uil &
fore emfera Al & AR iR uraumt
o o ygla gadt e
18 |[gRgxy 9. SM3RSINST/UINd/ | 5 fCd. 2022 | 3M3EaIss & Uicd H AleR 3= U&f Sl
Hremsem/fafae234/12/2022 P ATAIS
19 | IEeRSIyTEITa/SIS e/ afay/ 17371, 2017 | 3MS3RSITSMTE (MY sitmipap) fafam,
194/08/2017 2017 & 3idifd Tigifae Iusel ddeh
feanfadw
20 | 3MTSIRSITSIS/TIIMANMEIAR/TIRT | 31 AE 2017 | uRuT . 3SR SIY/THY
/073/03/2016-17 Hrems3m/fafas/035/01/2014 IESIED
23.01.2014 — FARORAT &R 3R BT R
e e
21 | MEIReILSR/AHc Mg eR/Adfay | 01 Rid. 2020 | SIS Bt T &1 0d
/229/08/2020
22 | IrseRSIueT/uac At ms R/ Afdy 01 f¥rd. 2020 | dHIFED! &1 UTA
/228/08/2020
23 | IMseRetueT/udc At s mR/Afdy 18 71d. 2020 | SHIBH! BT U
/283/11/2020
24 | SIRSTSTS/AC RIS R/RAfdY 28 e, 2020 | dHTHHI BT A
/300/12/2020
25 | IS IIRSITIIS/TIEMAEIAR/TITA- | 28 AT 2017 | MYH-&HAT AT
TH/066/03/2017
26 | 3MTSIIRSITIIS/TIMASIAR/TITA- | 30 Hs 2018 | B TG & T QNe-&FdT A
TH/090/05/2018
27 | SMSIRSITSMSTHARNANEIR/TITA - |25 s | B AU & ol LNeH-&fdT HIf
TH/119/07/2019 2019
28 | IRIRSITAS/THCIRNNEIR/AIATA- | 26  SFRA | B AII™ P 7T Y- &FdT HTforT
TH/220/08/2020 2020
29 | IMSIRSITIIS/TIMAEIAR/TITA- | 03 3R | B UaTd & foId QNe-&FdT Ao
TH/217/08/2021 2021
30 | SMSIARSITIM/THCIRNANGHR/TITA- | 13 A 2022 | B AU & [eTd M- HIo
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31 | 3MS3RSIUSS/UHTISYATATE 3R/ 20 1 2019 | RMYH-&HT [daRUT IR HRAT
fafae/082/05/2019
32 | 045/3M33RSY/THUUST/HE-06 31 ATH 2006 | 3SR (SHIGHAISM BT AT, SIS
3R TMeF-emar wfoi) fafas, 2000 -
TP IHRT
33 | 008/3M33RSIY/THTIST/HZ-06 17 3 2006 | 3SR (SHHTHdIST Pt Rl SadTg
3R TeF-emar Jfol) fafad, 2000
34 | 002/3M3 3RS IY/THTISY/3U-06 21 3fUd | 3MIIARSIT (SHHTHAI3M Pt SR, STATg
2006 3R TNeF- e wifoi) fafam, 2000
35 | 051/3M3 3RS/ UHTISY/HRARN/07 08 TR, 2007 | 3MT33MRSIT (ATl & 3nfeerar, dudid
3R TeE- e [l fafas, 2000
36 | IMPIIRSIY/UHTIST/060/HE-08 11 ATE 2008 | 3SR (SHHTHAISM Pt T, STATg
3R TeE- ermar [y fafas, 2000
37 | 009/3M$ 3RS/ UHTISY/3T-08 13 3. T RSIT (AR AT BT TRl TTard
2008 3R Te-eran Tl fafam, 2000

feuelt: Fov glas AveT aRUFI R¥33% &1 #H & 1 T HH & 10 TF & J/dld Flcir@d aRyal &
G} FuGE)l BT ] G191 [AaRTOF] @ JegdiabN Tl Gaell TReY T @ Sifegfad 814 d@ okl 367/

3rgdy-gHidiua-Te-1

(ATSIRSSTE (Arpdisl & stifere, fd ok Faw o) s, 2024 #)
ST <)

3Tde® sHTHP P faaor:

1. ARl BT ATH:
2. dHIB® BT AM:

3. AR UdT TAHH R Tid: [ Ui auf & SR Ay ud fed 9 =Ry

3.1 I IR R YR BT MRS g2

Eefia fafadt & YT |1 1 "S 1(3) 3R HFT 11 BT TS 2(1)() 37)

4. BT Udl SAH HeR Figa:

5. g & o 1 e Sidie® quidiiad MaeH IR g
(I fAFTHT & HIT 11 BT WS 2(1)(vi) <)

6. o-fafd (fRemmmgra):
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([od fafa| ! &1 ES 2(1)(x) 31)
7. A& T
8. 'scﬁﬁq?ﬂ
9. aIte urReifies 3R Srguft am:
10. STl (% forw smaes & fged diHies & U H uarg fear a1 §) # aut yade! &t
Hufal F off R, afe o3 8Y, YR &1 ufawrd: (Iad faf st & Uit 1 &1 WS 8 3)
11. HGIIRE 3Ean ;
(S fAfFael & HIT 11 1 WS 2(1)(6i) 3R 2(L)(ii) TN 2(L)(iv) TT 2(1)(v), ST AL EY, T

12. ST 3fHa:
12.1 3 fafadl & HFT 1 & WS 2(1) (i) TT 2(1)(v) TT 2(1)(v), ST AR &Y, B TR Faiferd sya
CAR G
(1) T Gaftd gya
H | YR BT fdaR0T | U TR PP | A | 3GHT BT
q. (fmmas) | (eFmemaY) %'sﬁ faaRor

%%WMW/WWWW@W%W%ﬁ%%WWQ

(2) PRI F g BT YT (SUYH (@) & )
HH | R DT fqaR0T | G ey PEdP | Al | 3rIHT B
4. () | () %ﬁﬂ‘r faaor

(3 fafadll & U 11 6 T WS 2(1)(iii) () TT 2(1)(iv)(F) T 2(1)(v)(H) & TS & o, ST ar] gi:
YT ¥ ¥U Y [y & : SliaH//ared) JUR0) YR YA/ [aeRi JAaHwhd $f T &
Taftg & o afffe wifellie goaieRsdr dma-RuRuamey Siiesrads driee/aqd
ST [THTTEG ! & HIh S/ HiTd® IRIHRIGIA/MTISHRUT & UM Jefid $gHd)

(3) AL/ANE TR Yae BT U
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%Y | SR P AR | g EEE DI db | 3@l | 3fJHT Bl
g, (eAmrgrad) | (RammeaY) | @@ | e

13. IYAKAT 3R a7 H T1 396 Ugd YT oy Ue:

14. T8l 30 BT a1 HUT & 19, IR & S, Ud 3R UM HRIGAY o8 3ded Iaa o
I 3P Ugd Fexe, YR, Wi, HHaR), wRmRlerr, Taee e, @y afed Iffa &
ety o Taa diHiee, Fged siiee & g Rl @eR), U9 siide a1 geHT faarfor &1
THIUIG T SHiSS ol

®H | I &1 fqaror (@9, | ugaH FE Fe b B BT UHISA

3ary
d. | deiue o1 3w enfe) GRS

15. it faavor 3R fafmrar o srafdr (Iad fafadl & YR 11 61 WS 2(1)(ix) 32):

16. HRd # 7 301 SRTelf & forg fonadt off sorifares SrffE 1 faavor:

17.?Wﬁmwﬁ$wm®$wﬁmﬁﬁhmw%ﬁﬁa‘rﬁ?ﬂm

|

18. o1 fohlt ATaTies T o foredt ST fafammiaeal a1 Tl 3T TRIT & GRT Bl SRS
%ﬁaﬁaﬁné%&rwuﬁuaﬁn%%?aﬁﬁa‘r@w%mﬁﬁuﬁ%wnm@i@za)(\m)

19. I faf gl & URT 11 F TS 8 3R 9(4) F 3R fRdl & oy & ey H =iwor:
¥ yRdg fiwr fafame SR fasr miffeur (@areaist & diuifes, o iR fFRaw o)
fafam, 2024 BT ST | F U 11 & TR BT BT/ HeTi aUT fmdt 3 &ar J S el
BTN/ el Bt off 3 fafadl o SIIER gad SiHie® & © 0§ ARt YS! &1 e &
7 fed & Tuy & gfvurd 81 g
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3TdeP THIHS GIRT YHTUHHT:

..................... CIlEIcEE:al sﬂ%muﬂﬁawgm?ﬂgﬁ?sﬂqﬂﬁﬁaﬁﬂéwaﬁwﬁw
WIUT g 3R aRafa® 7l ﬁﬁaﬁ@awﬁﬁﬁwwwﬁuﬁm BEUERGIRERGIEE

1. YR SHiGS SR R SRY fobaT 71 BaliRIg JHTog,

2. YRR siidhe AR gRI SR! fdm 71 TdHaq agR TH0IH;
3. fowa & fares=or & Sitofar o1 arastt gwmor, afe argal;

4. I3 A WA SIS (Gearasll b gdi &)

BY[:

Tareat & yu= siftrerfigan grT yHoii®m:

TRATdd 3MTdGe SHi® GRT URd ® T8 ol & YR W, H .............. P G 122 RO
@ THTEHAl B M) BT YU RIS, $Ud gRT THIOK $HRdT §/dH § 5

1. TRMAA SHIBDB oo, AW YR o fafame iR faeN

fIeHRoT (fremdfant & dimifere, faa sik fFaw wrf) fafyaw, 2024 &Y 3G | & HFT 1 BT oft
3UefT3if T SITTeH B B

2. TRANAA SHIDBD ..o @A) YR oA e iR faem mitesor
@Hmdie & stmifee, fad ok o &ri) fafm, 2024 B -l & UET 1 & Fafared
3UET3M BT SIUTT gl BTl (S fAaHS Iuat & Iugad de & T I Ut &1
Ied P ST SrguTe 8T faan o Ye1 ], o fore Sudad fafamt & Ws 2(5) & sidifd ts
3T SR T T

(S AR g, 39 Pl Q)

fei®: T BRI 3N & gLeR
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WRMRIPE (W) & AT e dHies grT yHvfiEHI:
I A B, I PIE Q)

£ CIEIEC S 1t) W P GRT YHIIOI HRall g/l g b

1. ¥ diarrarsi & SHifee, fax 3R Mg wrf Jeeh arex uRu & 31eama-1 & SiHifee o1l & Ws-
| & IUSY 1(3) F IFTIR HT B/t a1 § {5l s e & orf 98t Hesm/—g) weeft St
WRER® ({Hex) dHGS & €9 T U YHSBT HI e H- J fgdl & Jus & =0 J R @l
b |

2. U HM A & 7E ger Idqul, TEt 3R aRafae B
# FofaRad gxardel o W-aiedifda ufaar o Iau w1 g/l 5.

1. YR SHidhd SR YT fht 3 T a1 R (@I a1 R &1 9m), forre amy
JTETNTS BT URTWRS AU HRR g, GRT SIR] fohaT a1 BallfR1d YAt |

2. YR dHidms IR gRT SR faran a1 sraarg (Hfdes) &1 di=ad JHmorgs (e

RM:
fatiop: S b FHIER
wRefea @) & fore smaees SHies gRI ge—uT
@S AR TR1 § @ PIe <)

o 3% GRT a9 <dl glod! § [ afe ITad SHTewdl & Fgad SiHiwd & IRIARIGE (HeRRd) I 3T
forddt TR q TR gR1 IS SHfaRad B WieR g S 8, d 59! Ja=1 midsor o 3 Wipfa o
IRIE ¥ 7 & & sfer dt S|

RYT:
R fiHihd & TEIER

Huredl & gy siftrertfig s grT ywofieor
(RTHR® (FHer) dHih® & HHd J a1

Tdifdd WREARe {eR) dHE® GRT WA B M I B AEUR R,
£ 1= ) S (SHTHdl BT AH) o PP T ISRy 3N
sﬂés GRT UM @xal §/a’dl § [ I;R?m%?r WG (HeR) SHES.......... ClEIcEaEDl
........................................ Wﬁ%aﬁmﬁ faxr 3R faw wrf Teeft ARer R & sream-
1W$ﬁ$@€|$ma1(3)ﬁmﬁ&rﬁr&naﬁw&wm%l
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BT
fei: T SRBRINS3N & TXER/HATTT BT gav

fewult: Ty 0 H Sad B & gt Iuse/faaror waitd faavur & @1, 9] F giarel #al @l pred
BT U o S|

Igdy-THidiva-Taang-1
«qrY Afgd Y yde= | Hafta Suay

1. Sl SHbdl § fUfEd B fb 98 SISSRSITSNE (@Hwdisl & smifdbe, fad iR Faw o)
fafad, 2024 @ -1 & YT 11(F) & TS 2(3)(i) D AR Y Aled I (Sseguian)
RUIE & 7169 & dae | fGavur TRgd HY aul Iad RUIE B gaaH Sufed fava-axg =i &t St
gl

2. “qY Afgd AT BT T
(1) I Y Figd Gl &1 769 HH I HH Fafciied gawil & iy faar Se:
IS BT TP WA R, Weah, Wuwsn, gad dfiuids iR Ue Wdd SHied |
(2) I Y Ffgd FAfA & Wl dHiDbD:
() HRAH dHihS SR BT T bal 968 gRT

(i) HRAY dHidhS TR gRT ORI fbar 71 Sitaq §idT & &9 § U i sga9ra &1
TG &

(iii)  STa STHT AU H HH I HH &4 8 &1 Y& 1d ARG & 1G DT SIIHT QT adT
(v) 7538 3 3mg o1 -Te) erm
(v) I Wad dHGS T gl A DI Sgu J diF FRaR I § 3ifid TR 78 X8
vi) Bt ot foxfta o & fom, Soa wda diwies 9 9 it oy gfed afffaal o1 ggyrh
g1 g

(3) SHTHal Iad Sgu B stifees, fam, Faw & aFf srar fasht o & 7 st faRws &1
ST T@dl ¢ | T Sifafkad faxiowt & e wads daiee oq Fuid Ards! & -1 A S
Il el 8

3. oM 3iEn:
(1) TGl ST & 3 BT SRE0T AT B
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(2) SRTAT & 3 BT fagd HrAaTeH, SR & S T SrgHd =3, FAfY W sifold o< s ae
3 e dd SN Sfd-3i # Fefud fre M3 8, Fgaa didies & gr1 Ruila fad sma

4. TY-gfgd giifa &1 Rard

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

I ATH-Tied It RUIE § &0 I HH FufaRad & s foar s

(@) 3 Y b WRIH-3 F Al Ifcarad =u & nfT iz & uReer & vgad s

3R MYR B Iugaddr auT fedt ufvad= & fo shfaa

(D) T 3o BT &l ISP URGba afed

() I R BT FAGARIAdT BT IRAW0T qUT Iuerd T4 H MUR

@) T T e for miferfterat ot Ifra vamensif (ReiRe) & H3 W fasar sma

(&) fady anador geu & Pig uRkadH, i & Ty

@) Hra! fafae & fore A (ThUee) &1 gaeR, THhUKT Eid I doR ThUKhT §g 6

d® & gao H gaTY Jae faavor

() Try-afed [ # T8 ST T oy SR gHe! SugHRTd

aTY-gfed Ifafa ot Raid 31 aufd foxita faazol & sifaw =u 37 @ ugd diamed & @i
& TIY T HAT RN | I A1H-Tfea IfAfa ot Raid ot finifes Rard sk IR &
1y fafge=eal & ary +ft Tren forar S anfen anv-afed afafa ot Rard ot 1, ary-
Ifed Iftifd & R & deiUR B WP &1 & fore fafamasdl gr1 &1 o1 9&dl 81 98
TTRT &1 Sl & fos fgad s SR ary-afed aftifa & o0 gewl & efd@iu & o
3R, Il BIs I, BT FHTYM AY-Ted I R Fgdd SHidS gRT O 3ifcd
Ry 37 ¥ ugd fovar 91 =nfee | quii, 39 diA1 a&% el d He@yqul SfaR &I
Y a1 foran ST, 39T Scard oH-Ofed Ifffa ot Raré | fear s =nfzu

I e SRS (SHamdisl & sWifee, fad Sk Faw &) fafad, 2024
DT STLHN-| B UFT-11 BT ST B gU T SRTSNTS o SiHi e HATER D IHFGRIT
et 3R TEAAS R HFD! & IS & 3T 3 H1d & forg Jyuf i w@an
21 3fa: Frgad dmiee & U 39 o1d &1 Sifqw fofa sifvarda: e =ifeu f @ amy-
Ifed wfifa @ Rui & aRumRaEy 39& FE & Bl 99 & uRkafdd &= 3t
STaLIH T g T -Tal | 3fa: Fgad sHiches & Jiad fasar S 8 i a8 39 83 § 3o faas
B YA AaUHIgad B
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A 2 - fog da<ht ok
WS |; YT
SHa SIHT AU BRIl STl TSRS LSS (SAThaisl & srHifee, faw ok o) fafrm,
2024 BT ST 11 (YT 1) DI UM BT ST BT WIYRON §THT, WA ST, G HT HA™
PRATTAT SHTBT TS IRSITSNE (SHTBaTsn & Sirifhe, faw sk faw ) fafaw, 2024 B syt
I (T 11) ST U3 BT SUTer B

ot SififATm, 1038 Bt URT 11(1) T ST T e R € T I Wi gR1 s91 T fafaet
& IR TS faciid a¥ & a1 IR 39 a9 & Hed & U JoH-0d, Td ary-giH o, Th 3T e
3R YT AT, Teh oG TRl TR & |

1. i fafia faarur wRga &A1 iR 39 WISfT H=A1 9uT d9drge R aiffe Ruié yafa
B

gt diarerdl SMEaRSITamE o) 3 oRar-uifdd @ 3R URT 11 H Ifcafad fAaRor siuar 4RT 13 &
IU-4RT (5) 7 Ifcarad faaror fa<it ov oF gmiftg ¥ fi9 78 & sic sryar 918 gR1 o & 3itfiesrur
D ARG ¥ I faq & 3iaR, St ot Ugd g, URdd Bl |

it dAremarstt & srfed g for o ot Siffam, 1938 ®T URT 15 & SiaFid &1 T3 30T & AR U
1 ROIE St Hefd JeTse IR BRI B |

2. gAa¥ IR R Fafafaa uedtewo ot aufafidy fasda faazon &1 yumr a9
1. o<t fAaRon &1 Ui s9Rara uwdiaer
i) STETHAl SgEY-l & YR UTY 3 — “Adhd! aTg faavor ¥ faffy vaaer ugia & SHER e

3R YA W1l IR B,
i) SFIEY-1I(F) / ATHY-1I(T) F TR TS Ui aui o forg faxia faaron &1 aRiw;
iii)  STISY-111(P) / STEY-1IRE) P TR b U]
iv) SFEEY-1IV ¥ FIOR faftm TR} / fafames et & gRT dHred W T 1 dehsridet
& &Y | I,
V) SIEY-V & TR IHAT HRIGA 4 Galerd oadf BT G hur;
vi) SFISY-VI & TR S a¥ & 3fidal BT GH:XHg a1 TH: TR,

2. gy RO &1 UIT S99 UbdIhRor

() SFEIRYU-VII() / SFIRYU-VII(E) F SR Usd uid auf &b TR Sid arar e wwg # femm
gt AfEY e U aral & wramafey;

(i) SIEY-VIIl P SFTIR YA Bt Th ST ol Afekdl, BT, Hufai 3R Hu1ell 1 fhd 1 §
S SArepdf & e Rdeg B
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WS |I; AGIH 3R YHdIHI0T BT A&

1. PRUNE ATHIND i@ (RHTH3AR) o4

HTHR FRIGA R {60 T 9 UIeRNURS! & WTd & THIRG 6] fd ofF a1fee | Fai,
THEIAT 3R I TRGABRUI T & T HRURe IHIS 21 & Ui g & ary 3R g1
oG H =TT S | Il BuHT iAW, 2013 & S1efiF SIRY {5 T Framl) siftrgaey ol
& 1Y UfSd HU SHTATH, 2013 & Sfaid SUfed U & UHSIHRUI |

WS |1 Sia= fAreparsi & e Al SaieT ik yadeu
1. “yafera uiferRal &1 aaie:

31 X[l o SR foras Siaifd Sitas ST urferiRal Skt &1 oifdl! €, TIferRituR® & U U 3198
3fafdy gt B forads 3iez urferdt &t <l & SrgaR Hiftrawd S 3t BYclt 31 39 i 1 SR
T ARafe Sfafd o 3R af & ofd o +ft fpar e 81 39 v, ot o urfereft wR thftrgw st
31 UTd &1 vaiferd ], Iufad g1 afe g &) aut fafAfdy oo oiafdr & ofeR 811 Jag sgau &
W,gﬁﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁ@@ﬁﬂﬂ@@%ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁamm%wdd&qﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁa
EIcK]

P 3farar, ST AT, 1938 B URT 13 SHifdh® RO 3R TR &1 dARY &Y 30eT &t

feiia w=edt 31 o faf s oMY geaie i, srifq Ul oy 31 O @ fRUfd & AR
SgT3T & Hedidh o foTT AR o’ ¢ |

Iudad B! &1 H @d g, U1 fafaree fade & IR R 98 SevmEr o § i

ST SR Iu% ot 91 TR fafradt @t sdensit &1 sraTa YT H-A & fae 3 ufaRd! &1
&I H d gU ST 31 O I yaiferd €, It smresdisit &1 =1fge i 3 39 af & forg facig faaroi 1
3ifos =0 g o 3 efid |

2. R-wgHTh FAftr & S gHare iRy $1 ey 3R 71 a9 # @1y & w9 d Wil

g Wy fobar 911 g fb IR-ggurht Rt & I gRara ifIRy &) fammegl 3MyR R oy 3R 81
AW H Y S TU H WieR fHar o obdl g, I2d [

1. o<ty faa=oll @t aer-udenAfed g, S arg g, fonme snyR W 1 S g

2. @Y 3R B a9 A 3faRd & sara iR &t siffarda: o=t & fged didies & gRI
AT fapan ST A1feu 3R S9! Riwiier &) S =gyl
3. 39 3R &1 TH Uhehrul faxitg faarun # fosar Sm =nfeu|

4. i fRufa o, siafka o1 7 i sifaria: amfifes @y ¥ 3ifere gt 1 =nfeu oicR, afg &1
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B! fores dtemepd A TedieR form 811
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() SraTHdl fAHTE! STUR TR IUYad =Mdl & SFUTeH & Tae T THad! oal-9Xied gRT oTR} far
1 Teb YHTUTTE AT T a1 S fAargt iiafeies faarforl & 91y thrgel |

5. SETH AT &1 g JATHT BT 16T fob d STAT AT, 1938 BT URT 273 & SUSH! BT SUCH
B & AU YR & S1ex JRITUT Hufai o ufcufodt 3§ fa=r 9 1

6. U Jopfetes fawr At &1 urdioie SiuTedl & Tade THg ¥ e g1 =1ieu| Iad fAfY &1 uey
Y 9% ydus gRT el fohdT S S Uded a1 3ucied 30 J SHdbdl a1 9P Udddb| &b gRI
fafaa a1 usfag foan smar gt

7. TASUH # A= SR Igm P! & Mo Fafafed teadieor amés! & s gim:

fHpal | divrey IR TIsTmTH TP d TIRUw/3eH Y d Taruier
FIUPR | W Y Taquier (T

Pl THATY o1 W)
() () (M
Sitaq Tafdd [ie &1 3% T3S / dUH 3THR BT 10%
SRl

3yaT
(@b TR JHI TRTUISR DT 20%, S H HH 81
Sudad 10% AT BT giaret Txa-1 i & A
T 20% o &Y T UgT STu

TR a9 sl &1 5% T3TZUW / JIUH 3THR BT 10%

3yaT
()b TR YT TRTUISR bl 20%, S H HH 81
SUdad 10% AT BT giaret Txa-1 i & A
T 20% & =0 H ygT Siam

1.6 S®i & §RT SR B 7§ Hof wfayfoar
F. 9l B feur-| o & Rt ool ferael 3k Swar feaR-1 Golt & oot foraal | fawr

YR Reid d& 7 [AReR okus Steteiet. didt dift.57/21.01.002/2005- 2006 fei® 25
STERT 2006 & SFIHR] Yol Tl A S| & gig B o fad FUTER Jax foraal & i
& Ty ¥ Yoit e & fou st ot srgufa d &

i, o 1 Yol & wu & guaw & fae Ty Rirft wof forad

ii. SR IR 2 ol & U B JHTaRT & ol U dof oil foraa

iii.  feTR 1 ISl & U B WA & forg it TR-Tadt it 2R,
iv. TR 2 ISl & U & wH1aw & fore um ufdeg dedt Sifmri R

Sue forad Fafead ol & orehi= *argmifed far &1 ym i

1. ol & o Sl grR1 oY fara T ot forad TUw ¥ Sy T § gad g auT IRBRI
a7 7 9! gRI SR} 5 T Pof ferad et & Siarfd Uoliopa ol Tad=r 3T ol grr
TT Y 3G ST W gad gl
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! gRT 9RY f6d T it TR fafael & Ws 2(1) & siavia fafAfdy wdf & g
BT |

faf et & Ts 8 # gufafRfdy Tt voauieR AFcs St & gRI O fhd T 3 T Fol
feradt / SiferAr Rt & forg @ 81|

el YR Fol forad ol &3 & dbf & A § "TuT § i (U1 RERT 87 d&b1 & A
A T I AR SRS fur ST 8, 98T U9 et &) g s & wu o yadifed
STE SR fafadl & wid 2 & gfed fosar s

gfe forgd IR &S FHgd dRRal IR IUAs -Tg! BT SiTd, df T8 g forad! § Fa=r &
Tt IRRE ¥ Wi g R & WU § gadiffed foar smem qur Siiee siR aryRo
AT disl & &Y H HHRT: B 3% (HFT &) I1 B 38 (N &) T Jiord foedm S|

YR Rold S (R3S gRT SR {53 T arfferun, om e oiR onfkal &
Teuid & forg feznfader 39 feradt & fog amp 8l

. I Il & 3fciTa d & Yoil forad - Siumwpaten gr1 fAaw

et - Ifcafad 2l & srefe, faf et & siaria srgafed fawr & UM T u o aid
gﬁﬁa%g &%%yfﬁﬁﬁaillﬁ;rﬂéﬁwﬁﬁéﬁ$mwﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁmm
h :

1.

i, o Yol forad (SRRes)

i, Tfded TR-Te SfEm TR (SRTAHUITE)

i, Ufacy et fEF TR (SRITTE)

Sl &b GRT SR} {5 T8 ol forad Jall & Sfcia Uoligpd fopdt Tad e Toieh gr <t 718
T 3 AT gad BN

el I forad "Tu O i S 6 9d &, 981 0 oW Wadg e fAasr & & i
gAdiied fobd STma

! & GRT SR} fobd T ST TR fafamt o Wi 2(1) ® Fuifka 2l & @1 S
i I forad IR saTet Had aRIG R SUas e B oirdT, df U foradi # FHaw Wadg
UTTIHRUT B G B B! dRG 30 A% & U § gAdiied fohar S|
fafoal & Ws 8 ¥ fFRufftd ot touder AMds 39 feradids! & gRT 9RY fd 1
ST TR o forw arg g

3 foradl & A “faxiig ok o sfear &7 (duwugers) & siafd affed
ST |

. 991 gRT Srafafd gis — g TR 3R ag-ig e &1 fawavor

AT} TEAT SR IE-1T SMART HT faTuNr a1 & fod §&t & gRT 9’} ford T Shafafd
gret & o @t o fAufeRed 2raf & srefF gfardl TR SR siar & ® Siraarelt &
fICRaS (Hecs) fFaw & forw &t smeh:
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1. fafaet & T 8 & gurfafafdy it ToyuioR AFcs! srifq Uerd Al Tqg 3R &M

TSR TS T AN BT STRY 87|

. 3gAfed fRRr & wU H 3Ed i wRA & g =gAaw T Y eemd adum Aaw

fafael & AR g

¥. «3ffafved fear 1 @9d 11 srureaHal) Rl sis” [uél Tis) # fawr

diarear sifaftad fomR 1 @R 111 SruTa-dan iR §i8 (T ai) # Faw R gad § of
frgfefad & o=y g

1.
2.

Tt qist &1 AT % & g0y "uT J HH g1 ghi|

Tl §TSl & SMRUISITY & A ¥ TRA1d Gl & J $F T WK JoR J JaGd &
forQ Urqe™ 9 gad gh|

Tl §iS S BT WRT 5711 bt uap fafkiy o & eid weh Sist o1 oot ey foselt oft
Jg 39 ARy o & Fo I UL it & 10% J HfF Tat ermml

frifaemdl do & Yot TRemr SwR Afed, T sfeel foaR | Ioit (@isch) T o & Tl Sisl
T (9931 & 0T 9.0% ¥ 3P ghfl|

& TGl deb gdad! i (a1 aul & QIR Uetl Sis! Afgd $o Pl forad! IR fbell U
YA D R/ ST 18 foban g1 =nfgu

g ol d% fUed &l aul & faw o) & 916 Haa ary gid o g At aut Fdas
AT-TRIET Ja-UF & AR U YHRIAD Hfed ary I gad gIHT Mg U

71, frigeal 9 & fore Srm AdHaH aRar-usiférd ge-u & W Retd 8@ (3mRatars)
fufyiRa onfRy geife=or oik vraeFieRo & wis fame gied =2 fevar g anfuy

39 fufa & gty aist & ®is FHawr 78t fovar Sem, Siet fiiasdl o diaredl & yads a9g
o g 1 ST Al BT HRURE Tole g |

1.7 Faf= A9 978 (TelemRaie) - dofteor

drarmarstt & gHard WRemT o WfaunT & f3-s<iexr ok fafaefier & 3= & Iy aut
R, TS SR SR @Sugsh) ygel & GeHidr & ukler ¥ vd yrofiy faerg &
3R URAY & IHHY DI Ah & by TgHIRd & forg sarsarshi &) grafid M= arst § fAaw
A R oo A & o vieafed foan Sirdr g1 wrafia 94 siet & fHaw &f “<gfarc e &
o=y & U o qF1 STE|

1.8 ot (sfvafesn)
P. TS g JAfAdl § TaUIeR
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forita Sgeafarl ! fafoml & WS 13 & Sicia WiHRU gRT IR fhd T fa=mfeRn & SRaR
QaTTHId AT o SaTol &R SIRGH BT “FATd” (39T) B b 01T ST &l 715 § | TGgaR, STl
Siia, U3 3R I aiftfe! w3k YRl ST a9y /g YaigHAd dHe IR “gara”
(@) B & T TTET R HRR (THSHRUTH), STS-EX SHGl-Faall (3MeRey), faf g samfed
T - TN (3HTS SRTW) FR FH 3 |

YRRy AT & fie saTl-ax sgaufaal @t ergufa T8 3
(@) dHTwatst B SgHd W1 d@ SR S RSN & SR FOUER & 30 el-aX il
& Y IENTHdl b U H sHfa e B
. dracT X PRI (U SRUTH);
i, STOI-GR JCaAl-daa (3MSRTT); 3R
i, T ST sae-aR T (SR

T fafid TR & [Aagd el ThSHRUTH/SHTSSHRTH &R 9adhd ¢ | AT/ sfaffed sm=r=a
Eb"fﬁﬁwe-ﬁﬁgay 3MEIREY fAftg &1 I8 o 391 91T fh TH3RuTy 3R 3M$3RTY HTdex
TR (3N dfaerd |1

(@) TUAT STel-¢R gt (Sf¥afeen) & day & uRdg Red 9% (@mRdiens) & ulur sik
feanfad=

darmarell I 3Ufed § f o vuar sare-) gl (SRafesn) & dey I 9Hg-90g R gy
YR Rerd § (3Reeis) & Fofafaa uRusieznd=n o1 e &

iv.  SSSIUAYT: THUUSRSE!. 4801/06.01.03/2002-03 f&i® 3 S 2003

V. SRET3TS /M THIANRS/2021-22/84 THUHIAIRS!.THTHS!.07/02.03.247/ 2021-22 faid
16 RdsR 2021

1y g1, Auresdl o sarel-a} gl (sRafesw) & ey & URdig ufayfa iR fafmg 918 (@)
ERT IRY fohd Ta SIR THT-99g WR GYTIRNe URu &7 Srara- &1

() STS-& geutadl (Sfvdfesn) # vauier & e srgud vaie
gafgHTa A & e T=ma @)
. A Fod o =T &t aRuear S M &1 gAHawT
i, U TS 31T BT (L
ii. 3 o7 Afaereit iR e yantRrd urfereht thftras 3 it S Siarharel & A H SitaH
3R U qUT aTftep! T & Ud HTURUT STHTDR AT & A H JIYRU ST F9qd |
Ugd g oifaH-3ifdd B
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IR GEiag gz (eRafeom & fedt ot Suam &1 Siftridt Rigia g8 R o 371 SuahT sfaxg
HId SATS-aR SIRAH BT HH B & A4 F91a (RS & T & fovar ST =g diAresal & a9
ToI-GR SIRIH BT WY FU I Gdl S & [o1T Th YUMell gl anfgl|

19 (&S & o venfRra urferht thftras ema | faeR A & fog, diarewdl sare sded foer
UfhaT & YT & ®0 § fARavdar qaigurl &1 Uil S8R SHfIa-RITge &1 Gl
TAGHRU 3R SNIT-RIT STHTHdl &b s B R & Sidifd aFl ged SHies SR dremsh
B! TG GHIE SR e @l My HT (Famru & oy, Sifew yey afif/snii-cad uey
(QUATEH) IiHfd & A1 1) |

&) faframe veamer oiR fadeyuf Hare

i, URUSR 3Taue ¥ Y I 8% SR Uufe Rt (dih) g S i th Ry 3k
3MEIRTY & oIy HRAT Rord S (3ReM3MTE) gRT Al < e B

i, UHIRULY 3R 3MERTY H AR HRAId siHedisi &) =@mfeu i 3 ufquersr &t
TRIUIGR &1 TUMT B & [oTT TR o foTT SfHT o1 JHqed M1 UTed oy |

THUISR AFCS! & W & o, SHTedl saTel-ax da! (SRafed) deA! & HRUI I giHard

3 HiSe TaUIoRY &) oM, Y oY T Ry F IIER adHM TeqUNR Ugld (HSuH) @I

JUIRT HRd §U |

o JAHM TRIUIGR UG &1 SUANT dxd §U URG o SR Aaeft Ja-07 S1el de &1 shise
A A T hige TUIoR 3R 37 Afdarsi & Fuifad Hidt s TRIUeR &1 1S g

o TIHM hiec THIUSR 3 Afdarel & Tohd Y- SR Hd IR (H1d ¢ Jlhe) Jod & © 4 H
RUIT B 1 I TaIUeR Usfa & fore 39 dfaersll &l SR U1 W 3ifdd H3A & gRT aadH
HiST TRIUISR &1 9P TRGE (Teafd-Urd Mafidmdl W), 39 UHR IdHH hise TUTR
DI T B §U B DT SaADH ¢ |

o TYIFAd HIdT hiege TaTdIoR &1 MR 39 a1d &1 faaR fard fam for Sifder we 3, emreTss o
FHUMHS SR (AT € HIdbe) HTd I Jad €, 370 J TP Tfdal Bt AHIS g A &1 ferad
¥ WEY 3R ARy uRusdr & R 2 Ay Faifta Us-39 SRS gRT T H1 & gRI

fopar ST 21
B FUIARU] PREB
TS UHSRY/SMEIRTY B HTIHTAG TAeH M &1 FEfRad SaiaRo sR& gR1 AT fohar Se:
Safry gRkuepar TR RS Ufa a9
TP a1 3T HH 0.5 Uf=rd
& Y 9 3ffIF 3R Ul 99 ddb 1.0 vfa=a
Urd ay ¥ 31fed 3.0 Ufa=|

[Se1.: Ife S HUT gRTUAUER Tdh 1Y 4 TY &I URUSHT I Jad 3.10 HRIS DI SSARTH &1 ST
&, A JHIfad Telt F507 TRIUISR = 10 x 3.5% = %.0.35 BRIS (3Y/73.5% = 0.5% Fga 3% & [T+ 3 T
& [T 31715 GIF T 8g 1% Fl Haleda T §))
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i, THRU/SMSHRUY B B0 YA 1R BT IUINT THI-THT TR YRR Ao & v &
foTT UfTuarsR & BT TRTAISR Pt ITUHT A o fo1T fobam Sam|

i. fafra Saig SMSSRTBTY & iU, IENT TaUeR AT &1 RS Baig Ufaueer i
TR FTH & fa9g IR &1 U1 THded IR & SR WR faar S |

iii. Yo SIRIedl, 94g, Uadd I4g, 3R ITN § J&fd TauioR T THeRY 3R STSRTY
Tfdgran & Aregd J TaUeR & fore @ry gl | o=l & URdba Wy o e ufdueidr &t AT
R foar forar smeem | Tt Tefid fanm faaxfort @t fewft ara wy & gfad ot smdh

iv. 3 fe=nfd=n & sidfa sarel-ar gaafad! & TgHrft &1 aFed $o e uferitarat o1 il
3R IRYRD! & PR o Ty A §U D i Geurht & fad omg ol & 98t o &
100% &1 TH THTAT STFHTS TAY AR 317 g1 g1 | S SrHThd! FHEHd dR IR Hefid
fAfiray srufq sfiem ik diuvst fAfY & 3MuR W 100% THTSH BT U S| TR Sief A &
A H adue Fag @1 98 ge Sifew-sied S dfierell W gaie fifted 3 o9 §, 98t
STHTHAl 100% B T AT & 3ieR 3 FAfEl § Iudsy TauioR ST &1 SUdNT &R 9 g,
TG o Uit et Afdar B Ugedl ST Bl 16 [AfRIE U J SHBT STHIG Bl ol | gHIat
AT (39) T AT gHaTa SHATH/RTH &1 Had Hererd MY gRT g8 foear S|

v. Tf gdAM o= &t aRgerdr S ARYMHa=T TR U Sa1e 31 o YA &1 §91d (gei) fear
ST &, A O a1 afkuesdt da oTid fasd ST | afe Tuaud &1 gfd a3 & o ferad &1 afemmoH
H P AURER] MaLIHd I gldt 5, df WX forgd W S99 (39) &1 U4 (3FAEfET) fAaw
TrAf (3 1 ARy SrIHie Uid - & d16 34t IHd a1 ST a1y STsd! 39 UhR &I
3G Ifad T A BRI DI Gol B &b d1g UG B, §80d o gealt (Sfkafeq) dfdar & AreH
¥ fo UHR YRYRS GRT I 2 oM |

@) drmdl R B & uRd Rod 96 (SRaems) & et & sguR gt uggait o
TG YT HSTHSIT (SRAPT W SR SRafea ¥a) gr1 FuiRa geieieor ot aHt st
O o1 S| 3P SHATET, ISR UG ({1 ¢ Hdhe) R 3ifdsd anierat &1 fAuer sik Juifdfe w1
SREUT TR & forg, ufquel Sifaw &1 "L Aex0 R /g AWl WU (HUT JHL: ey —
UfAuedRl & g Ui 3R a1 B a5 TR & UHRI et Th dRR) HRR SAfUSUATHS
@) B gt agersh ([RAfRa) dfaet HRda faftml ok wRdta <umaredl & sifterR-a=
# Fars 7 zat e g 9uT 39 Tay A oY Rl T faftat / uivst / femnfede &
=Y gttt vasw =u & &t siftfam, 1938, fafomt, st fafomt, emetens faznfad=n @
3FUTEH A & o Iugea T Tfiva fpd wmiat| o +ft aifesd 81 a faar o1 gara B & forg
SHEAars & U 3Ma=a® 4 ¥ fad gl

(@) SS-axX ATl BT a@ich- A THI-J0T TR JYRRNTIT taid AF®! & guR grm| facdia
faaRUN 3R UcIBRul T TRl AN] kAl A & gRT (afd grm | 39% 3rarar, diaresaf
fa<itg faaron & Fafeiad &1 UhcIdHur Hm:

1. geuTh & foxiia Sifew yey & I SR fifadl &1 faavur, faviy ¥ gafgafd a1 &
19 (8o & T 39! Aifd &1 o |
2. S99 (gfSi) P U
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3. Al (Sikafesw) & o daie- Hifdl
4. THTT ATeN-aR Gt fdersft &1 Wy iR U |
5. Il &1 URAUH foF®T URIEU i UfdU&dR SHAT SATol-aX s Afdgrsil & sidia

YT TRI@ OXT el HRd, af fobar ST

(@) Siiafve sifeaw yay ifa ok uftrard, Teruier 3R fadeyof diarg

TS eI dI AT fb 98 saTe-ax Sgafadl (SRafesy) & TauioR &34 ¥ Ugd Al &
IS §RT gd-3rAfed siiad Ueiy ifd ot fatga Tuvar 91, e o0 9 o4 Fafafaa it
BiT:

iv.
V.

Vi.

Vii.

viii.
iX.
X.
Xi.
Xil.

Xiii.

SIRaA IoM 3R T8 YT H & forg diAremdl &t I SiRgd-ag- &idT f a8 st
ORI IR, Yoilra ifad onfe & fawa & sidhd 9 Teddd o;

AT gadt (Sfkafesw) Iame sik g d st HriGaAm! & aRHTRd &Y;

AT T T1eAT 3R ST ST o oy sgawn & o srAifed gadt (sRafes)
PG T fadeyul &7 I aTferd fohd S Tab;

TR SR =07 St & e Suged TRaAT SiR T &t a1 JAYd HY;

Y&Eh 1 S R B

ATl GRT AT {6 1 IR fafie TR & SiRaH &t uga™ &R 3R 35 HaHd &1 &
fore Tmmsii &1 te Wy 3R AU de RIfid &Y

Sifgw AT SrRiugfaal RIfid & S g (SRafcs) el & [ey 3R A1 &
o g o,

SIRGH &1 RUTTIT & GaTd URI&01 DI SUET HY;

faref & geR SR gy &1 fdarur @ it S @1 SIS ot qiffaat o udgd ot Smi;
AN SR TG,

Tfder &) gaifid iR THH & fore aRfufaar:

U | TRdTfad gAtadr (SRafead) &1 a@ic- AdgR; adl

gl (Sfkafesy) & IuaT & RO MYH-&dT / Yot TR guTa|

Iad e BT BRI SHHTR ! b S B FATRMT & Sidiid fawr afifa (smsh o1 aiia g SRt
%ﬁa%mﬁﬁ & SIUR dHHdl DI Hf g (Skafea) TRTeR a1 ¥ ugd WiieR &I
|

(ST) Sugaadr 3R sitfaea ifa

SIS gRfa T fr oo se-ar gafadr SRafesd) siedl gRT duTd S X8 IfqumT &t
SARGH AT BT FHIYM BT qUT FHGA & IdTe! P ol I TTRIT WY ¥ I B St die

3ad

AR Sifod &1 YHlamt & e guaied Jua-9vg W ayurRifed

SRS 3TS/MBPTHIANRS/2021-22/84/ THUHIARS!. THUHS!. 07/ 02.03.247/ 2021-22 feid 16

Uy / Page 80/ 270



RydeR 2021 F TS 5.1.3., AR - YR Roid § (3t Shafesy & sR fafan e,
2021 P Tl b SIAR o T g

(&) PRURE MFU=TET

JUIfad 0 ¥ Sfed Idre! # TRIUeR dd 99T dH1ewdl & dis 3R Iy veed &I w1t f o o
g S & WY, TG STcadisl, GaTd & Wi 3fe &1 & 9 | SHwdl v 9 &4 faag! § th
IR, 3ot SRafesy fRufeal a=eAT ok ifa / Wl & srurem &t Y didewdt & SIS & srefi=
faermm Sifey ey afafoat &1 &1 emafdie IR IR (@0 I &4 oY H U aR) Hexe a1, &1 T8
fJarait T geien B SR Td gy g o 3 fexnd=i # srgad wu # waie SifeH vy, Usies
ﬂﬁﬁ??ﬂﬁ%%ﬁéﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁﬁgﬂﬁ@ﬁﬂ@f@ﬂ%%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ@@ﬁﬁﬂé%aﬁ?é
fopamefia g1

(o1) q=1 SfRw AR Ffsmrah) Yfrer ik efia

Heman, “gde” gaHt (SRafed) wrfea & Tt usgsit ot FRE/ Raifén & fore Iarerd g
TYT STATA B a1 SIS DI HTRA-Td Y& FAfd / SIRIH Teie FiHfd &F qu1 Sididbdl & e i
1t 2| afe g fafRy R wrdery 359 Teiy o Ok 5 70 ufvur / feenfaden & SrqureH # 81 |,
A HremRsl 3! Uga B 3R Iad HTRIHH BT uUTaH fbd M & forg fomierR gl

Q. U TP IGAT-aga (FaoH) § TaHuier
1. yRawm  Rod d@ 7 ofgmer d. REIeMS/2021-22/88 UHIRUHS!.
SIS 3RS1.10/14.03.004/2021-22 fE-Td 10 HRAX 2022 & AR “UReR =T - YR
frord 9% wour Sfafean) A=, 20227 SR {63 § S 10 BRaAS} 2022 T yuTEt €1 Iwdad
ferenfAew s a1l & Try-TTy, SN aToTR H BT g WUl & o TREr T SR faohan
& w0 B sl Bt IgHIfTaT & fae sgawn avd B

2. dArmarel & Fufied & srefia WStg & Had “Tiadmel (TRe0r el & ¥ H &

rgafa &t e @

F. I9d HSITY B! FHUT g1 Bl Har HRd gU BUI SIRGH BT Y& HRA & ol T ‘B9 b
w0 ¥ argAfa g1 Tt sfafifed fRufd iR TiEiey &t Wiie oA & srgarur & fAaw ot goft
A HIS ufkad= el grm|

9. NS 31 Al Fad gfial & Yo & U H YeEiiag FRURE Fisl R & grft| didieg
B WIS e TG ST T Uil & o aist W o &t 51 Fhat g
T 1Y 81, AT TRe1 Sufal gRT R0 faRiy Tt Arend! (TUUiaies) gRTSRE
58 T sRgliag / (TR oie off sRafteng & ARex Fexr faAid 10 TRast 2022 &
3Ad U H e TRa F T U A U=

. IREU B WG I W, Ha TR & Fay T TRyuieR, fafad & TS 8 & 3iaR <kl
T TREUT Bt AT T “TRET [qohar HY iR TR TUT 3T UHR BT TaRTUIoR SeT &
TFIUIGR & Sfcvid STUhUHSNS &F BT YRT S|

Y. ISy &f WG el ! Sma:
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i. ey ofd & Uadd T4g & 8 TR aUl Uddd THg O J&fd I3 & oig dig ot
HISTd e gl foban siam|

i, U9 TREl )R, o ofa-gwfda uferyfoarsees-wmfia ufayfaar, uikad-a afs aut
%4 faped (@@ RHE)/fIPT [debed (Ge oM=M) ¥ Jad dis, dleredied AT
STRTAHUT BT Py 3T THG |
3. SHHdl YT & Ufd UfdueeR & e umar AFds! § efda wt o Ares!, T
cI¥@, yaaiell & gRT HISITY el ¥ STe} Mobdd wry sidfifed =l &1 e, o
W%@,WG@WW@@%W%%W%WmW%&%W
fuiia g1
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Chapter 1 — Actuarial Function
Section - I: Appointed Actuary(AA)/Mentor Actuary/Consulting Actuary/Certifying Actuary

1. Insurers other than FRBs

(1) Application for appointment of an Appointed Actuary: As required under the clause 2(3) of
Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions) Regulations, 2024,
the insurer shall submit an application for appointment of Appointed Actuary in the format
provided in Annuexure-ACTL-AA-1 to this Master Circular along with extract of Board Resolution
recommending appointment of the applicant as Appointed Actuary and a copy of
Appointment/Offer letter issued by insurer.

(2) The insurer seeking relaxation under clause 2(5) of Part Il of Schedule — | of IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions) Regulations, 2024, shall make a separate application in
writing for relaxation of eligibility conditions along with application for appointment of Appointed
Actuary.

(3) Provisions applicable for relaxation of conditions specified under clause 2(1)(iii), 2(2)(iv), 2(1)(v)
of Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions) Regulations,
2024:

() In case the applicant Actuary is falling short of experience requirement under clause 2(1)(iii)
or (iv) or (v) of Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions)
Regulations, 2024 by not more than one year, the insurer shall apply for relaxation of criteria
with the support of a Mentor Actuary.

(i) Mentor Actuary is an actuary who satisfies the eligibility criteria as mentioned in Clause
1(3)(v) of Section-I of Chapter | of this Master Circular and approved by the Competent
Authority for position of the Mentor Actuary.

(i) The AA will be supported by the Mentor Actuary till the AA gets the required experience.

(iv) Responsibility of a Mentor Actuary:

(a) The Mentor Actuary shall carryout his/her responsibilities in individual capacity.

(b) The Mentor Actuary along with the Appointed Actuary shall be jointly responsible for all
the actuarial activities of the insurer.

(c) The duties and responsibilities as specified in the IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 and other regulations, circulars,
guidelines issued by the Authority as well as Actuarial Practice Standards/ Guidance
Notes issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India shall also be applicable to the Mentor
Actuary. The activities include but not limited to:

i. New product filing
ii. Submission of all actuarial returns/reports as required by the Authority
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iii. Maintaining solvency and ensuring adequacy of reserves as stipulated in the
various norms from time to time

(v) Eligibility Criteria for Mentor Actuary:

(a) The applicant for the position of Mentor Actuary, in Individual capacity, in a life insurer or
general insurer or health insurer shall satisfy all the eligibility criteria applicable for
Appointed Actuary for respective insurer as stipulated under clause 2(1) of Part Il of
Schedule — | of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions) Regulations, 2024
with the following conditions:

i. the eligibility criterion as mentioned under clause 2(1)(vi) viz. “an employee of the
insurer on full time basis” is not applicable for the applicant Mentor Actuary.

ii. Experience criteria for the applicant Mentor Actuary:

Type of | Clause reference as per Part Il of | No. of years of Experience
business Schedule 1 of IRDAI (Actuarial, | required in addition to that
Finance and Investment Functions of | specified in the clause
Insurers) Regulations, 2024 under column (2)
(1) 2) (3)
Life 2(2)(iii)(a) 5
Insurance/ 2(1)(iii)(b) 3
Reinsurance 2(2)(iii)(c) 2
General 2()(v)(@) 3
Insurance/ 2(2)(iv)(b) 2
Reinsurance 2(1)(iv)(c) 2
Health 2(Dv)(@) 3
Insurance/ 2(1)(v)(b) 2
Reinsurance 2(1)(v)(c) 2

(vi) All the eligibility criteria for appointment of the Mentor Actuary shall continue to be satisfied
during entire tenure of the Mentor Actuary.

(vii) The provisions under clause 5(1) of Part-1l of Schedule | of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 shall be applicable for the Mentor
Actuary.

(viii) The Mentor Actuary shall not simultaneously work as a Mentor Actuary for AA of any other
insurer/ reinsurer or as a consulting actuary in the role of AA of any other insurer/reinsurer
and shall not hold any other role within the insurer/reinsurer.

(ix) There should not be any conflict of interest with respect to the duties of Mentor and duties of
any other position held by him / her.
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)

(4) Car

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

An insurer shall seek the approval of the Competent Authority for the appointment of Mentor,
submitting the application in the format provided in Annexure-ACTL-AA-1 of this Master
circular.

rying on business without an Appointed Actuary (AA):

In reference to the clause 4(1) of Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, an insurer can engage an Actuary to
perform the role of AA in individual capacity on consultancy basis up to 180 days with prior
approval of the Competent Authority on submission of an application in Annexure-ACTL-AA-
1 of this Master Circular.

The consulting actuary shall fulfil all the criteria specified for the respective Appointed Actuary
except the clause 2(1)(vi) of Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024.

The consulting actuary shall be responsible for all the actuarial activities of the insurer. The
duties and responsibilities as specified in the IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 and other regulations, circulars, guidelines issued
by the Authority as well as Actuarial Practice Standards/ Guidance Notes issued by the
Institute of Actuaries of India shall also be applicable to the consulting actuary.

The consulting Actuary shall not simultaneously work in the same capacity or as a Mentor
Actuary or as AA for any other insurers/ reinsurers. There shall not be any conflict of interest
with respect to the duties of consulting actuary and duties of any other position held by him /
her either within the same insurer or with any other insurer.

(5) Obligations of the insurer for providing adequate resources:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

For the purpose of the clause 9(2) of Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions) Regulations, 2024, Life Insurers shall have at least two actuaries, in
addition to Appointed Actuary, for pricing and valuation purposes.

Similarly, every General, Stand-alone Health Insurer and Reinsurer shall have at least one
actuary, in addition to Appointed Actuary, for pricing and valuation purposes on or before 31st
December, 2024.

New insurers/reinsurers are exempted from the conditions under Provision 5(i) and (ii) above
for a period of two years from the date of issuance of certificate of registration by the Authority.

2. Provisions applicable in respect of Foreign Reinsurance Branches (FRBs):

In reference to clause 10 of Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment

Funct

ions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, the following provisions shall be applicable:
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(1) The solvency statement and other regulatory actuarial reports for general and life reinsurance
business shall be certified separately by an Actuary known as ‘Certifying Actuary’ along with
other signatories as specified in the referred Regulations.

(2) The Actuary(s) certifying the reports, shall comply with the following conditions:

(i) Fellow member of the Institute of Actuaries of India;

(i) shall have valid COP in General Insurance and life insurance business in order to certify
the General and Life reinsurance businesses respectively. COP shall mean 'Certificate of
Practice' issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India to work as Appointed Actuary;

(i) age not more than 70 years as at the date of certification of such reports;

(iv) atleast 5 years post qualification relevant experience in respective field;

(v) not an employee of any other insurer/reinsurer of India,;

(vi) no disciplinary action has been taken or initiated by any professional body or any insurance
regulator against the applicant actuary; and

(vii) not adjudicated bankrupt during the last ten years

3. Other provisions:

(1) The Competent Authority may, if considered necessary and expedient, ask the Appointed
Actuary/Mentor Actuary/Consulting Actuary to make a personal visit to the office of the Authority
to get any information in relation to the insurer/reinsurer.

(2) In reference to the clause 5(3) and 5(4) of Part Il of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions) Regulations, 2024, the Appointed Actuary/ Mentor Actuary shall give a
notice period of three months to the insurer to cease to be an Appointed Actuary/Mentor Actuary.
Further, the date of cessation shall not fall between 1%t January to 30" June in any year to avoid
delay in finalisation of annual accounts and submission of annual statutory actuarial valuation
reports.
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Section = II: Valuation of life insurance business:

1. The following additional principles shall be followed while making aggregate provisions as per the
clause 9 of Part lll (A) of Schedule | of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of
Insurers) Regulations, 2024:

(1) Reserve for lapsed/reduced paid-up policies as referred under clause 9(2) and clause 9(3):

() Reserve for a non-linked insurance policy discontinued during inter-valuation period may
raise to a very high value in case of revival in future, which could be a concern for the
policyholders' fund. AA shall consider this situation and adopt an appropriate method of
reserving for revival under non-linked business.

(i) In case of linked policies discontinued during the lock-in period, the AA shall consider the
strain that may arise on likely revival of discontinued policies and shall provide for the same
under Form LB-1 explicitly. The discontinuance charge deducted from the remaining
discontinued policies, shall be held as a separate item under the head “Funds for Future
Appropriations” in Balance Sheet until the exit of the policy from books due to expiry of
revival period or due to death of the life assured or expiry of the lock-in period as applicable.
This amount will also be shown as a footnote in Form LB-1.

(iii) In case of reduced paid-up linked policies, the AA shall make a provision for the strain that
may arise on revival of such policies.

(2) Provision for Policy Options and Guarantees as per clause 9(4) and 9(5):
The AA shall arrive the cost of options and guarantees based on various methods. However, it
shall be ensured that such cost provided shall be a non-zero positive percentage of premium.

(3) Additional provision in respect of policies issued in foreign currencies as per clause 9(6):
As per clause 2(4)(vi)(f) of Part Il (B) of Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions) Regulations, 2024 the AA shall describe the method of arriving at possible increase
of mathematical reserves arising from future variations in the rates of exchange. In this
connection, AA is advised to state the details like exchange rate as on the valuation date, the
highest/lowest rate during the inter-valuation period, etc.

(4) The general fund reserve as specified under clause 6(4) and 8(4) of Part Ill (A) of Schedule | of
IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 shall be
subject to a floor of mortality charge to cover 15 days of coverage applicable as on the date of
valuation.

(5) Treatment of Additional provisions/Global Reserves in the computation of Required Solvency
Margin (RSM):
The insurer need to provide additional provisions as required under clause 9 of Part Il (A) of
Schedule —I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of insurers) Regulations,
2024. The RSM factors to be applied in respect of these additional provisions/global provisions
shall correspond to their respective categorisations made in NLB1/LB1 forms.

(6) RSM Factors for Investment Guarantee:
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If investment/capital guarantee is available under any fund offered under a linked product, then
RSM factors for "with guarantees" should be made applicable for those funds only. This
difference in treatment for various funds under a single product should be reflected by way of a
note in respective LB-1 (with product wise break-up) and by way of separate adjustment shown
in Form KT-1.

(7) In reference to clause 1(9) of Part Il (A) of Schedule | of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, the outstanding period in respect of
Reinsurer’s balances shall be reckoned from the earlier of {date of rising invoice with the
Reinsurer by the ceding insurer, 46th day after receipt of intimation of claim from the claimant
to the ceding insurer}. The outstanding balances due from the reinsurer shall be before netting
off with the premiums payable by the cedant.

Example for measuring the outstanding period of Reinsurance balances:

Scenario-1: When the gap between date of direct claim and date of raising invoice with the
reinsurer is not exceeding 45 days

Date of intimation of claim to the direct insurer from the policyholder/claimant: 01.01.2023
Date of intimation of the claim by the direct insurer to the reinsurer: 10.01.2023

As the date of intimation by the direct insurer to the reinsurer falls within 45 days of direct
claim date i.e. 01.01.2023, the outstanding period of reinsurer’s balances will be measured from

the actual date of raise of invoice to the reinsurer i.e. 10.01.2023

Scenario-2: When the gap between date of direct claim and date of raising invoice with the
reinsurer is exceeding 45 days

Date of intimation of claim to the direct insurer from the policyholder/claimant: 01.01.2023

If the date of intimation of claim by the direct insurer to the reinsurer is 20.02.2023 (i.e. after 50
days from the direct claim intimation (01.01.2023):

The outstanding period shall be measured from 16.02.2023 (i.e. 46th day after direct intimation
date i.e. 01.01.2023 + 45 days = 16.02.2023)

(8) In reference to the clause 1 (Valuation of Assets) of Part 11I(A) of Section-1 of IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, the debt securities shall be
valued in accordance with Schedule- 11 of the referred regulations.

2. Other Returns and Reports to be Submitted:
(1) As per clause 2(3)(i) of Part Ill (B) of Schedule-1 of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
functions of insurers) Regulations, 2024 the insurer shall submit the “With Profit Committee

(WPC) Report”. The details of constitution of “With profit committee” and the contents to be
covered under the WPC are provided in Annexure ACTL-LI-1.
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(2) As per clause 2(3)(ii) and 2(3)(iii) of Part Il (B) of Schedule-I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment functions of insurers) Regulations, 2024 life insurers shall submit additional
Returns/Reports as specified from Sr. No. 1 to Sr. No. 13 of Table-LI of this circular as per the

applicability given:

(v) Form VIPLB -1

Table-LI
Sr. | Report/Return Reference Form/ Mode of | Frequ | Due date for
No in  ‘Master | submission ency | submission
Circular on
Submission
of Returns’

1 Actuarial Report and - Digitally signed | Annu | Within  thirty
Abstract (ARA) for Life (including  the | al days from the
Insurance Business as forms) date of
per Part 1l (B) of adoption of
Schedule | of IRDAI Tables, Forms accounts by
(Actuarial, Finance and of the ARA shall the Board or
Investment Functions be  both in within three
insurers) Regulations, digitally signed months  from
2024 and in MS Excel the end of the

financial year
whichever s
earlier.

2 () Form DD Return- MS-Excel (in | Annu | Within  thirty
(i) Form DDD ACTL-1 addition to the | al days from the
(i) Form NLB- 1 digitally signed) date of
(iv) Form VIPNLB -1 adoption of

accounts by

(vi) Form VIPLB -2 the Board or
(vii) Form LB -1 within three
(viii) Form LB -2 months  from
(ix) Form- ST the end of the
(x) Form-NBEB financial year

(xi) Table — ‘Changes in
valuation method /
model/assumptions
from previous year’

(xii) Table - IRR in
respect of Par
policies

(xiii) Statement for
Annual Report

(a) Business in-force
(Number of
Policies)

(b) Business in-force
(Sum Assured)

whichever is
earlier.
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(c) Details of
Forfeiture/Lapsed
policies in respect
of Individual Non-
Linked business

(d) Persistency of life
insurance policies
(based on number

of policies)
3 Appointed Actuary’s | Annexure Digitally signed | Annu | Along with
Annual Report (AAAR) ACTL-LI-2 (including  the | al ARA
forms)
Tables, Forms
of the AAAR
shall be both in
digitally signed
and in MS Excel
4 Reconciliation & | Return- Digitally signed | Annu | Along with
Checklist (Life Insurance) | ACTL-2 and in addition, | al ARA
tables in MS-
Excel
5 With  Profit Committee | Annexure Digitally signed | Annu | Along with
(WPC) Report ACTL-LI-1 al ARA
of this
Master
Circular
6 Asset Liability | Annexure Digitally signed | Annu | Along with
Management (ALM) ACTL-LI-3 and in addition, | al ARA
and Return- | tables in MS-
ACTL-3 Excel
7 Economic Capital Annexure Digitally signed | Annu | Along with
ACTL-LI-4 and in addition, | al ARA
& Return- | tables in MS-
ACTL-4 Excel
8 Persistency Report Annexure Digitally signed | Annu | 30th June
ACTL-LI-5 and in addition, | al every year
tables in MS-
Excel
9 Financial Condition | As setoutin | Digitally signed | Annu | Within one
Report (FCR) Actuarial al week’'s  time
Practice from the date
Standards of presentation
to Board of the
insurer
10 | Peer reviewer's report | Assetoutin | Digitally signed | Annu | Along with
(Applicable  only for | Actuarial al ARA
Domestic  Systemically | Practice
Important Insurers (D- | Standards
Slis))
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11 | Audited Financial | - MS-Excel Annu | Along with
Statements al ARA
12 | Solvency statements in | - Digitally signed | Quart | Within 45 days
the format of Form KT-3 erly from the end of
as specified in the IRDAI the guarter
(Actuarial, Finance and except for the
Investment functions of last guarter
insurers) Regulations, which is to be
2024 submitted as
part of annual
submissions
13 | ALM-Table-Quarterly Annexure Digitally signed | Quart | Within 45 days
(Applicable  only  for | ACTL-LI-3 and in addition, | erly from the end of
Domestic  Systemically tables in MS- each quarter
Important Insurers (D- Excel
Slis))

(3) Insurers are not required to submit hard copies of any reports, returns or other documents related
to actuarial valuation or reinsurance. PDF and MS-Word/Excel copies of the documents shall be
sent to the email ID: actuarial-valuation-I@irdai.gov.in with a copy to Nodal Officer in the
Actuarial department of IRDAI.

() The PDF copies of all such documents shall be digitally signed by the required signatories.
Each page need not be digitally signed.

(i) The submission of returns through BAP shall, however, continue as per the current practice
until further advice.

Section llI-Valuation of General and Standalone Health Insurance Business

1. Preparation of Solvency Statements:

(1) As per the clause 2(1) of Part IV of Schedule-I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, the norms for treatment of assets, IT/Computer
Software, Hypothecated / Encumbered Assets, intangible assets like Trademark / Trade
Logo, Co-Insurance Balances for the purpose of solvency computation are as specified
below. These shall be applicable for both the quarterly and annual submissions.

(i) IT/Computer Software: The IT/Computer software shall be depreciated at the rate of not less
than 1/12 in each quarter on straight line basis, starting from the quarter in which the IT/
Computer software were added to the Gross Block. The written Down Value shall be
considered for the purpose of computation of Available Solvency Margin.

An illustration of the same is as follows:
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)

®3)

(4)

©®)

If an IT/Computer software worth Rs. 120 has been added in the gross block in Q2 of FY 2015-
16, the admissible value of IT/Computer software for the purpose of computation of Available
Solvency Margin at the end of each quarter, shall be the written down value at the end of each
quarter, as per the below table:

Computation of | Opening Written | Depreciation | Written Down Value at
Solvency at the end of | Down Value the end of the quarter
Q2 of FY 2015-16 120 10 110
Q3 of FY 2015-16 110 10 100
Q4 of FY 2015-16 100 10 90
Q1 of FY 2016-17 90 10 80
Q2 of FY 2016-17 80 10 70
Q3 of FY 2016-17 70 10 60
Q4 of FY 2016-17 60 10 50
Q1 of FY 2017-18 50 10 40
Q2 of FY 2017-18 40 10 30
Q3 of FY 2017-18 30 10 20
Q4 of FY 2017-18 20 10 10
Q1 of FY 2018-19 10 10 Nil

(i) Hypothecated / Encumbered Assets:

(a) Where the obligation(s)/contingency(ies), for which the assets have been hypothecated
/lencumbered, have been recognized as liability in the books of accounts, the entire book
value of the assets and liabilities shall be considered for the purpose of computation of
solvency margin;

Where the obligation(s)/contingency(ies), for which the assets have been hypothecated
/encumbered, have not been recognized as liability in the books of accounts, the entire
book value of such hypothecated /encumbered assets shall not be considered for the
purpose of computation of solvency margin.

(b)

(i) Trademark / Trade Logo: Intangible assets, such as trademark or trade logo, shall be
considered as inadmissible for the purpose of computation of available solvency margin.

Co-Insurance Balances: The unreconciled and uncertified coinsurance receivable balance shall
not be considered as admissible assets for the purpose of computation of solvency margin

For the purpose of computation of Required Solvency Margin, it is hereby clarified that Personal
Accident and Travel (including domestic as well as overseas) shall be clubbed with Health
segment and RSM-1 and RSM-2 shall be considered accordingly;

The reserve for Incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims shall be estimated on the basis of sound
actuarial principles and shall be treated as part of Claims Liability.

In reference to clause 2(1)(x), 2(1)(xi), 2(1)(xii) of Part IV of Schedule | of IRDAI (Actuarial,

Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, the outstanding period in
respect of Reinsurer’s balances/ Co-insurer’s balances shall be reckoned from the earlier of
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{date of rising invoice with the reinsurer/co-insurer by the ceding insurer/lead insurer, 46th day
after receipt of intimation of claim from the claimant to the ceding insurer/follower}. The
outstanding balances due from the reinsurer/co-insurer shall be before netting off with the
premiums payable by the cedant/lead insurer.

Example for measuring the outstanding period of Reinsurance balances:

Scenario-1: When the gap between date of direct claim and date of raising invoice with
the reinsurer is not exceeding 45 days

Date of intimation of claim to the direct insurer from the policyholder/claimant: 01.01.2023
Date of intimation of the claim by the direct insurer to the reinsurer: 10.01.2023

As the date of intimation by the direct insurer to the reinsurer falls within 45 days of direct
claim date i.e. 01.01.2023, the outstanding period of reinsurer’s balances will be measured

from the actual date of raise of invoice to the reinsurer i.e. 10.01.2023

Scenario-2: When the gap between date of direct claim and date of raising invoice with
the reinsurer is exceeding 45 days

Date of intimation of claim to the direct insurer from the policyholder/claimant: 01.01.2023

If the date of intimation of claim by the direct insurer to the reinsurer is 20.02.2023 (i.e. after
50 days from the direct claim intimation (01.01.2023):

The outstanding period shall be measured from 16.02.2023 (i.e. 46th day after direct
intimation date i.e. 01.01.2023 + 45 days = 16.02.2023)

(6) In reference to the clause 2(1) (Valuation of Assets) of Part IV of Section-I of IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, the debt securities shall be
valued in accordance with Schedule- Il of the referred regulations.

2. Other Returns and Reports to be submitted:

(1) The statements as specified under clause 2(4) and 2(5) of Part IV of Schedule-I of the IRDAI
(Actuarial, Finance and Investment functions of insurers) Regulations,2024 shall be submitted on
annual basis for each financial year within one month from the date of adoption of accounts by
the Board or 30th June, whichever is earlier.

(2) As per clause 2(5)(iv) of Part IV of Schedule-l of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment

functions of insurers) Regulations, 2024, insurers shall submit additional Returns/Reports as
specified from Sr. No 1 to Sr. No 10 of Table-Gl of this circular as per the applicability given:
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Table — Gl

Sr. | Report/Return | Reference in | Form/ Mode | Frequ | Due date for
No. 'Master Circular | of submission | ency | submission
on Submission of
Returns’
1 IBNR Report Annexure ACTL- | Digitally Annual | Within one month
Gl-1 signed from the date of
adoption of accounts
by the Board or 30th
June, whichever is
earlier.
2 IBNR  Forms | Return-ACTL-5 Digitally Annual | Along with IBNR
and Tables signed and Report
MS Excel
3 Financial Annexure ACTL- | Digitally Annual | Along with IBNR
Condition Gl-2 signed Report
Report (FCR)
4 FCR Tables Return-ACTL-6 Digitally Annual | Along with IBNR
signed and Report
MS-Excel
5 | Asset — | Annexure ACTL — | Digitally Annual | Along with IBNR
Liability Gl -3 andReturn- | signed and Report
Management | ACTL-7 MS-Excel of
and Stress the ALM
Testing report tables
6 Economic Annexure ACTL- | Digitally Annual | Along with IBNR
Capital Report | GI-4 and Return- | signed MS- Report
ACTL-8 Excel of the
EC Tables
7 Peer As set out in | Digitally Annual | Along with IBNR
reviewer’s Actuarial Practice | signed. Report
report Standards
(Applicable
only for
Domestic
Systemically
Important

Insurers  (D-
Sllis)
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8 Reporting  of | Clause 2(4) and | Digitally Quart | For the Quarters
Maintenance of | 2(5) of Part IV of | signed and | erly ending on 30" June,
Solvency Schedule—I of | MS-Excel of 30" September and
Margin Ratio | IRDAI (Actuarial, | the forms 31%  December:
(Quarterly Finance and Within 45 days from
Solvency Investment the end of each
Report in the | Functions of quarter
formats as | Insurers)
specified under | Regulations, 2024 Eg(rjingthe OnQua;tleSrt
clause 2(4) and | and March: Within one
2(5) of Part IV | Provisions 1 of month from the date
of Schedule-1 | Section — lll of this of adoption of
of the IRDAI | Master Circular accounts by the
(Actuarial, Board or 30th June,
Finance and whichever is earlier.
Investment
functions of
insurers)

Regulations,20
24)

9 | Asset — | Annexure ACTL- | Digitally Quart | Within 45 days from
Liability GI-3, and signed and | erly the end of each
Management | Return-ACTL-7 of | MS-Excel of quarter
Returns 'Master  Circular | the ALM
(Applicable on Submission of | tapjes
only for Returns
Domestic
Systemically
Important
Insurers  (D-

Slis)

10 | Audited Annual | - MS-Excel Annual| Along with IBNR
Financial report
statements
(MS-Excel
Format)

(3) Submission of Reports:

(i) Insurers are not required to submit hard copies of any reports, returns or other documents
related to actuarial valuation or reinsurance. PDF and MS-Word/Excel copies of the above
listed documents are to be sent to the following email ID: actuarial-valuation-nl@irdai.gov.in
with a copy to the Nodal Officer of Actuarial Department of IRDAI.

(i) The PDF copies of all such documents shall be digitally signed by the required signatories.
Each page of the above mentioned documents need not be digitally signed.
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3. Uploading Motor Third Party data in lIBI's portal:

The Appointed Actuary and Chief Compliance Officer

shall

ensure completeness,

reasonableness and correctness of the Motor Third party data before submission to IIBI while the
Chief Compliance Officer shall ensure adherence to the applicable timelines.

Section IV-Valuation of Reinsurance Business:

1. In reference to the clause 3(1) (Valuation of Assets) of Part V of Section-1 of IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, the debt securities shall be
valued in accordance with Schedule- Il of the referred regulations.

2. Other Reports and Reports to be submitted:

(1) The forms specified in the clause 5(1) to 5(3) of Part V of Schedule-I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance
and Investment functions of insurers) Regulations shall be submitted on annual basis for each
financial year within one month from the date of adoption of accounts by the Board/Executive
Committee of Management or by 30th June, whichever is earlier.

(2) The periodicity and due dates of applicable submissions for Indian Reinsurers are as mentioned
below under ‘Table-RI-Indian Reinsurers’.

Table-RI-Indian Reinsurers

Sr. | Life Report/Return Reference | Form/ Frequ | Due date for
No | Reinsuranc in 'Master | Mode of | ency | submission
e / General Circular submissio
Reinsuranc on n
e/Entity Submissio
Level n of
Returns’
1 Life The forms | - Digitally Annu | Within thirty days from
Reinsuranc | specified in the signed al the date of adoption of
e/ General | clause 5(1) to (including accounts by the Board
Reinsuranc | 5(3) of Part V of the forms) or within three months
e/Entity Schedule-l  of from the end of the
Level as IRDAI Tables, financial year
per the (Actuarial, Forms whichever is earlier.
Regulations | Finance and shall  be
Investment both in
functions of digitally
insurers) signed
Regulations,202 and in MS
4 Excel
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Life Actuarial Report | - Digitally Annu | Within thirty days from
Reinsuranc | and Abstract signed al the date of adoption of
e (ARA) for Life (including accounts by the Board
Insurance the forms) or within three months
Business as per from the end of the
Part Il (B) of Tables, financial
Schedule 1 of Forms of whichever is earlier.
IRDAI the ARA
(Actuarial, shall  be
Finance and both in
Investment digitally
Functions signed
insurers) and in MS
Regulations, Excel
2024
Life Form DDD Return- MS-Excel | Annu | Within thirty days from
Reinsuranc | Form NLB- 1 ACTL-1 (@in al the date of adoption of
e addition to accounts by the Board
the or within three months
digitally from the end of the
signed) financial
whichever is earlier.
Life Reconciliation & | Return- Digitally Annu | Along with ARA
Reinsuranc | Checklist (Life | ACTL-2 signed al
e Insurance) and in
addition,
tables in
MS-Excel
At entity Asset  Liability | Annexure | Digitally Annu | Along with ARA
level Management ACTL-GI- | signed al
(ALM) 3 and | and in
Return- addition,
ACTL-7 tables in
MS-Excel
At entity Economic Annexure | Digitally Annu | Along with ARA
level Capital ACTL-GI- | signed al
4 and in
addition,
tables in
MS-Excel
At entity Peer reviewer's | As set out | Digitally Annu | Along with ARA
level report (Only by | in signed al
Domestic Actuarial
Systemically Practice
Important Standards
insurers)
At entity Audited - MS-Excel | Annu | Along with ARA
level Financial al
Statements
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9 At entity Reporting of | 5(3) of | Digitally Quart | For the Quarters
level Maintenance of | Part V of | signed erly ending on 30™ June,
Solvency Margin | Schedule- | and MS- 30" September and
Ratio | of IRDAI | Excel of 31% December: Within
(Actuarial, | the forms 45 days from the end
Finance of each quarter _
and For the Quarter en(_jln_g
Investmen on 31% March: Within
. one month from the
t functions date of adoption of
of accounts by the Board
insurers) or 30th June,
Regulatio whichever is earlier.
ns
10 | General IBNR Report Annexure | Digitally Annu | Within one month from
Reinsuranc ACTL-GlI- | signed al the date of adoption of
e 1 accounts by the Board
or 30th June,
whichever is earlier.
11 | General IBNR Forms and | Return- Digitally Annu | Along with IBNR
Reinsuranc | Tables ACTL-5 signed al Report
e and MS
Excel
12 | At entity Financial Annexure | Digitally Annu | Along with IBNR
level Condition ACTL-GI- | signed al Report
Report (FCR) 2
13 | At entity FCR Tables Return- Digitally Annu | Along with IBNR
level ACTL-6 signed al Report
and MS-
Excel
14 | At entity Asset  Liability | Annexure | Digitally Quart | Within 45 days from
level Management ACTL-GI- | signed erly the end of each
(ALM) (Only by | 3 and | and in quarter
Domestic Return- addition,
Systemically ACTL-7 tables in
Important MS-Excel
insurers)

(3) The periodicity and due dates of applicable submissions for Foreign Reinsurer’s Branches (FRBs)
are as mentioned below under ‘Table-RI-FRBs’.

UY¥ / Page 147/ 270



Table-RI-FRBs:

Sr. | Life Report/Retur | Reference | Form/ Frequ | Due date for submission
No | Reinsuranc | n in 'Master | Mode of | ency
e / General Circular submissi
Reinsuranc on on
e/Entity Submissio
Level n of
Returns’
1 Life The  forms | - Digitally | Annu | Within thirty days from the
Reinsuranc | specified in signed al date of adoption of
e / General | the  clause (includin accounts by the
Reinsuranc | 5(1) to 5(3) of g the Board/Executive
e/Entity Part V of forms) Committee of
Level as per | Schedule-1 of Management or within
the IRDAI Tables, three months from the end
Regulations | (Actuarial, Forms of the financial vyear
Finance and shall be whichever is earlier.
Investment both in
functions of digitally
insurers) signed
Regulations and in
MS
Excel
2 Life Actuarial - Digitally | Annu | Within thirty days from the
Reinsuranc | Report and signed al date of adoption of
e Abstract (includin accounts by the Board/
(ARA) for Life g the Executive Committee of
Insurance forms) Management or within
Business as three months from the end
per Part 1l Tables, of the financial vyear
(B) of Forms of whichever is earlier.
Schedule | of the ARA
IRDAI shall be
(Actuarial, both in
Finance and digitally
Investment signed
Functions and in
insurers) MS
Regulations, Excel
2024
3 Life Form DDD Return- MS- Annu | Within thirty days from the
Reinsuranc | Form NLB-1 | ACTL-1 Excel (in | al date of adoption of
e addition accounts by the Board/
to the Executive Committee of
digitally Management or within
signed) three months from the end

of the financial
whichever is earlier.

year
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Life Reconciliatio | Return- Digitally | Annu | Along with ARA
Reinsuranc | n & Checklist | ACTL-2 signed al
e (Life and in
Insurance) addition,
tables in
MS-
Excel
General IBNR Report | Annexure | Digitally | Annu | Within one month from the
Reinsuranc ACTL- GlI- | signed al date of adoption of
e 1 accounts by the Board/
Executive Committee of
Management or 30th June,
whichever is earlier.
General IBNR Forms | Return- Digitally | Annu | Along with IBNR Report
Reinsuranc | and Tables ACTL-5 signed al
e and MS
Excel
At entity | Audited - MS- Annu | Along with ARA
level Financial Excel al
Statements
At entity | Reporting of | 5(3) of | Digitally | Quart | Forthe Quarters ending on
level Maintenance | Part V of | signed erly 30™ June, 30" September
of Solvency | Schedule- | and MS- and 31° December: Within
Margin Ratio | | of IRDAI | Excel of 45 days from the end of
(Actuarial, | the forms each quarter
Z:]ndance For the Quarter _en_ding on
Investmen 31t March: Within one
) month from the date of
t functions adoption of accounts by
of the Board/ Executive
insurers) Committee of
Regulatio Management or 30th June,
ns whichever is earlier.

(4) Every FRB shall submit an additional actuarial certification from the parent reinsurance company

on solvency and financial soundness of the foreign reinsurance company as a whole along with
the regulatory returns filed with the Authority. The certification shall be based on the extant
solvency norms as applicable to the parent foreign reinsurance company.

(5) The combined asset and solvency statement at the entity level in case of Indian Reinsurers as

per FORM IRDAI-RI-TA and FORM IRDAI-RI-SM as specified under Part V of the IRDAI
(Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 shall be certified by
both the Appointed Actuaries of life reinsurance business and general reinsurance businesses
along with other signatories as mandated by the Regulations.

(6) The combined asset and solvency statement at the overall branch level in case of FRBs as per

FORM IRDAI-RI-TA and FORM IRDAI-RI-SM as specified under Part V of the IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 shall be certified by both the
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Actuaries certifying life reinsurance business and general reinsurance business along with other
signatories as mandated by the Regulations.

3. Submission of Reports:

(1) Insurers are not required to submit hard copies of any reports, returns or other documents related
to actuarial valuation or reinsurance. PDF and MS-Word/Excel copies of the above listed
documents are to be sent to the following email ID: actuarial-valuation-nl@irdai.gov.in with a copy
to the Nodal Officer of Actuarial Department of IRDAI.

(2) The PDF copies of all such documents shall be digitally signed by the required signatories. Each
page of the above mentioned documents need not be digitally signed.

Section V-Repeal of Circulars:

This Master Circular supersedes the following circulars:

Circular/Guidelines

S. No. Date of issue Subject
Reference
1 }an/ACT/CIR/MIS/lll/OS 25/May/2011 Economic Capital for Non-life industry
IRDA/ACTL/CIR/ALM/006/ Asset-Liability Management and
2 01/2012 3[an/2012 Stress Testing
3 IRDAI/ACT/CIR/GEN/075/0 31/Mar/2017 Financial Condition Report for General
3/2017 Insurance
IRDAI/ACT/CIR/GEN/070/0 Information to be submitted as a part of
4 3/2017 31/Mar/2017 the Annual Actuarial Valuation
IRDA/ActI/BAP/Cir/066/201 Submission of ARA, AAAR and
> 5-16 24/Apri2015 Reinsurance Returns through BAP
Persistency of Life Insurance
6 | IRDAJACTICIRIMISCIO35/0 | 55/9.00014 | policies(based on number of policies)
1/2014
Annexure 1l (e)
IRDA/ACTL/CIR/ALM/005/ o
1| ouaon:
dated 04.01.2012 9
IRDA/M(A)/ACTL/EC/12/20 Economic Capital in Life insurance
8 10-11 27/Dec/2010 companies
Guidelines on estimation of IBNR
9 éé/IRDA/ACTL/IBNR/ZOOS' 8/Jun/2005 Claims provision under General
Insurance Business
Information to be submitted as part of
10 ET%QI;ACT/CIR/GENIOBIO 31/Mar/2017 Annual Actuarial valuation and related
submissions
11 IRDA/ACT/CIR/GEN/88/5/2 11/May/2022 Aptuana_l & _reinsurance retur_ns_ -
022 Dispensing with hard copy submission
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12 | IRDAVACTL/CIRIMISC/4/1/ | 10/Jan/2023 | Srevlar ~ on  IRDAI(Appointed
2023 Actuary)Reg. 2022
Clarification on the IRDAI (Assets,
13 ;‘7%’52‘/66‘ CT/CIRIMISC/001/0 1/Jan/2021 Liabilities and Solvency Margin of Life
Insurers) Reg, 2016
IRDAJACT/CIR/MISC/147/0 21/Jun/2017 Submission of Actuarial reports by
6/2017 and , ) .
14 . Branch Offices of foreign reinsurers
Related email dated 19/Jan/2021 other than Lloyds
19.01.2021 y
Note for the use of Appointed Actuaries
15 | IRDA/ACTL/CIRIGEN/045 | 7/Mar/2011 for  the preparation of
actuarial report and abstract" for the
year ended march 31, 2011
056/IRDA/ACTL/Solvency Reporting of Maintenance of Solvency
16 Margin/February-07 23/Feb/2007 Ratio-Quarterly basis
A note on method of determination and
17 041/IRDA/ACTL/Mar-2006 | 29/Mar/2006 provisions of reserves for lapsed
policies under Linked business
Cir No. : :
18 | IRDAVACTL/CIR/MISC/234 | 5/Dec/2022 Hg:gadoggl'v'omr Third Party data in
/12/2022 P
Guidelines on Transitional provisions
19 IRDAJACTL/GDL/MISC/194 17/Aug/2017 Under IRDAI(Appointed Actuary)Reg.
/08/2017 2017
20 IRDAI/ACT/CIR/ARA/073/0 | 31/Mar/2017 Circular No.
3/2016-17 IRDA/ACT/CIR/MISC/035/01/2014
dated 23.01.2014 - Report on
Persistency rate and Renewal rate
21 IRDAJACT/CIR/MISC/229/0 01/Sep/2020 Panel of Actuaries-List
8/2020
22 IRDAJACT/CIR/MISC/228/0 01/Sep/2020 Panel of Actuaries
8/2020
23 IRDAJACT/CIRIMISC/283/1 18/Nov/2020 Panel of Actuaries
1/2020
24 IRDAJACT/CIRIMISC/300/1 28/Dec/2020 Panel of Actuaries
2/2020
25 IRDA/ACT/CIR/SLM/066/0 28/Mar/2017 Solvency margin
3/2017
26 !532'30'?/? CT/CIRISLM/030/0 30/May/2018 Solvency margin for Crop business
27 ;'723)'?/5‘ CT/CIRISLM/119/0 25/Jul/2019 Solvency margin for Crop business
28 IRDA/ACT/CIR/SLM/220/0 26/Aug/2020 Solvency margin for Crop business

8/2020
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29 g};o';/f CT/CIR/SLM/217/0 03/Aug/2021 Solvency margin for Crop business
30 IGF;E()'%/; CTICIR/SLM/122/0 13/Jun/2022 Solvency margin for Crop business
31 gj;(ﬁ/g &AICIRIMISC/082/0 20/May/2019 Preparation of Solvency statement
IRDA(Assets, Liabilities and Solvency
32 045/IRDA/F&A/Mar-06 31/Mar/2006 Margin of Insurers) Regulations,2000 -
Clarification
5 IRDA(Assets, Liabilities and Solvency
33 008/IRDA/F&A/May-06 17/May/2006 Margin of Insurers) Regulations,2000
i IRDA(Assets, Liabilities and Solvency
34 002/IRDA/F&AIAPr-06 21/Apr/2006 Margin of Insurers) Regulations,2000
35 | 051/IRDA/F&A/Feb/07 08/Feb/2007 | |RDA(Assets, Liabilities and Solvency
Margin of Insurers) Regulations,2000
IRDA(Assets, Liabilities and Solvency
36 IRDA/F&A/060/Mar-08 11/Mar/2008 Margin of Insurers) Regulations,2000
Valuation of assets under
37 009/IRDA/F&A/AUg-08 13/Aug/2008 IRDA(Assets, Liabilities and Solvency
Margin of Insurers) Regulations,2000

Note: All the provisions of the circulars mentioned under S. No. 1 to S.No.10 of the above listed
repealed circulars/guidelines shall continue to be applicable till the ‘Master Circular on Submission of
Returns’ is notified.

Annuexure-ACTL-AA-1

Form IRDAI-Appointed Actuary / Mentor Actuary/ Consulting Actuary

(Please Refer Schedule-1 of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers)

Particulars of applicant Actuary:

1. Name of the Insurer:

2. Name of the Actuary:

Regulations, 2024)

3. Residential Address with telephone number: [Residential addresses during the last five years

have to be furnished]

3.1.Whether ordinarily resident in India?

(Refer clauses 1(3) of Part | and 2(1)(i) of Part Il of the referred Regulations)
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o &

Official Address with telephone number:

(Refer clause 2(1)(vi) of Part Il of the Regulations)

»

. Date of Birth (DD/MM/YYYY):

(Refer clause 2(1)(x) of Part Il of the Regulations)

7. Mobile No.:

8. E-mail address:

9. Annual Remuneration & Fringe Benefits:

. Please confirm the Appointed Actuary will be on full time employment:

10.Percentage of Shareholding in the Insurer (for which the applicant is proposed as
Appointed Actuary) and also in the promoters’ companies, if any: (Refer clause 8 of Part

Il of the Regulations)

11. Professional Qualifications:
(Refer clause 2(1)(ii) and 2(1)(iii) or 2(1)(iv) or 2(1)(v) of Part Il of the Regulations, as

applicable)

12.Working Experience:

12.1. Demonstration of relevant experience as per clause 2(1)(iii) or 2(1)(iv) or 2(1)(v) of Part

Il of the Regulations, as applicable):

(a)Total Relevant Experience

Sl. | Details of the | Design From To Dur(ia:;uon Details of
No. | Organization ation (DD/MM/YYYY) | (DD/IMM/YYYY) months) Experience*
1
Tot
al

(*Clearly indicate the experience in the respective area of Life/Health/General/ Indian Re-insurer/ Foreign
Reinsurer’s Branch)
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(b) Post Fellowship Experience (out of (a) above)

Details of Duration
Sl. the Design From To (in Details of
No. Organizati ation (DD/MM/YYYY) | (DD/MM/YYYY) months) Experience*
on
1
Total

(*For the purpose of sub clause 2(1)(iii)(b) or 2(1)(iv)(b) or 2(1)(v)(b) of Part Il of the Regulations, as
applicable: clearly indicate the experience: Annual statutory valuation/Product pricing / Peer
Reviewer/Independent Actuary / Panel Actuary /Certifying Actuary /Actuarial consultancy/relevant

experience with the Authority in the respective area of Life/Health/General/ Indian Re-insurer/ Foreign
Reinsurer’s Branch)

(c) Middle/Senior level Management Experience

Details of Duration
Sl. the Designatio From To (in Details of
No. | Organizat n (DD/MM/YYYY) | (DD/MM/YYYY) Experience
g months)
ion
1
Total

13. Achievements and special positions held presently or previously:

14. Names, countries of incorporation, addresses and principal activities of any other firms or
companies in which the applicant currently is or previously was a Director, Partner, Proprietor,
Employee, Consultant, Peer Reviewer, Independent Actuary on with profit committee, Mentor to
Appointed Actuary, Panel Actuary or Certifying Actuary of Reinsurance returns

Sl. Details of the .
No. | Organization (Name, o Dur§t|on Work
country of Designation From To (in Profile
incorporation etc...) months)
1
Total
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15.CoP details and Period of Validity (Refer clause 2(1)(ix) of Part Il of the Regulations):

16. Particulars of any criminal conviction for offences in India or elsewhere:

17.Has the applicant been adjudicated bankrupt during the last ten years? If so, give details:

18.Has any disciplinary action been taken or initiated by any professional body or any insurance
regulator or any other entity? If so give details (Refer clause 2(1)(vii) of Part Il of the
Regulations):

19. Declaration regarding conflict of interest as per clause 8 and 9(4) of Part Il of the Regulations:

I shall function in accordance with Part Il of Schedule | of Insurance Regulatory and
Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers)
Regulations, 2024 and | shall not function in any other capacity which could result in conflict
of interest in performing my role as Appointed Actuary in accordance with these Regulations.

Certification by the Applicant Actuary:

... (Name of the Actuary), hereby certify that the information & declaration given in this form is
complete, true and correct. | am also enclosing self-attested copies of the following documents:

1. Fellowship certificate issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India;
2. Latest Certificate of Practice issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India;
3. Documentary evidence for pass in subject specialization, if applicable.
4. Any other relevant document (list the documents)
Place:
Date: Signature of Actuary
Certification by the Principal Officer/CEO of the insurer:

Based on the information provided by the proposed applicant Actuary, I...... (Name), the Principal

Officer/CEO of the ......... (Name of the Insurer), hereby certify that *

1. the proposed Actuary ...............coooeenet. (Name) complies with all the requirements of Part Il
of Schedule | of Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance
and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024.

2. The proposed Actuary .......ccocoeveininnnn. (Name) does not comply with the following

requirements of Part Il of Schedule-1 of Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India
(Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024. (Please mention
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the requirements not being complied along with appropriate reference of the regulatory provisions
for which a separate request is made under clause 2(5) of the above mentioned Regulations)

(*Please strike off whichever is not applicable)

Place:
Date: Signature of the Principal Officer/CEO

Certification by the applicant Actuary for Mentorship: (Please Strike whichever is not applicable)

[, ... (Name of the Actuary) ...........coceiiiiininns hereby certify that

1. | shall function in accordance with provision 1(3) of Section-I of Chapter-1-Actuarial Function of
Master Circular on Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers and | shall not
function in any other capacity which could result in conflict of interest in performing my role as
Mentor Actuary.

2. The information given in this form is complete, true and correct.

| am also enclosing self-attested copies of following documents:

1. Fellowship certificate issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India or any other institute or body
(Name of the institute or body) with which IAl has mutual recognition agreement.

2. Latest Certificate of Practice (COP) issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India

Place:

Date: Signature of the Actuary

Undertaking by the applicant Actuary for Mentorship (Please Strike if not applicable):

| do hereby undertake that in the case of any additional work is accepted by me from any entity other
than the Mentorship of the Appointed Actuary of the above insurer, the same will be informed to the
Authority within 7 days from the date of such acceptance.

Place:

Date: Signature of the Actuary.

Certification by the Principal Officer/CEO of the insurer: (Applicable in case of Mentor Actuary)
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Based on the information provided by the proposed Mentor Actuary, | ...(Name)................... , the
Principal Officer/CEO of the ...... (Name of the insurer) ...........ccooviinnnnn. hereby certify that the
proposed Mentor Actuary -------- (Name of the Actuary) ------------- complies with all the requirements
of provision 1(3) of Section-1 of Chapter-1-Actuarial Function of Master Circular on Actuarial, Finance
and Investment Functions of Insurers.

Place:
Date: Signature of the Principal Officer/CEO/Office Seal

Note: All the provisions/particulars of the form as applicable shall be submitted with sufficient details
with striking off those not applicable.

Annexure-ACTL-LI-1

Provisions related to “With Profit Fund Management”

1. Alife insurer is required to submit “With Profit Committee Report” as per clause 2(3)(i) of Part llI
(B)-Schedule-I of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment functions of insurers) Regulations,
2024. The details on constitution of “With Profits Committee (WPC)” and the minimum required
content of the report are provided below.

2. Constitution of “With Profit Committee”:
(1) The With-Profits committee shall be constituted with at least the following members:

One Independent Director of the Board, the CEO, the CFO, the Appointed Actuary and an
Independent Actuary.

(2) The Independent Actuary on the “With Profit Committee”:

() shall be a Fellow member of Institute of Actuaries of India
(i) shall possess a valid Certificate of Practice in the area of Life insurance issued by the
Institute of Actuaries of India

(i) shall have relevant post qualification experience of at least ten years in life insurance
business and

(iv) shall not exceed 75 years of age

(v) The Independent Actuary shall not continue in the WPC of the same insurer for more than
three consecutive years.

(vi) For any financial year, the independent actuary shall not be part of more than three with
profit committees.

(3) The insurer may add more experts in the WPC in the areas of Actuarial, Finance, Investment
or any other domain. Such additional experts need not satisfy the criteria stipulated for
Independent Actuary.

3. Asset Share:
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(1) The insurer shall ensure maintenance of the Assets Share.

(2) The detailed working of the asset share, the expenses allowed for in the asset share, the
investment income earned on the fund and other associated elements which are represented
in the asset share shall be determined by the Appointed Actuary.

4. With-Profit Committee Report
(i) The With-Profit committee report shall cover at least the following:

(a) Appropriateness of the Methodology and basis used in calculation of asset shares as
mentioned under Para — 3 of this Annexure and justification for any change

(b) Bonus earning capacity including its calculation

(c) Sensitivity analysis of bonus rates and basis as appropriate

(d) A brief note on how Policyholders’ reasonable expectations (PRE) is met
(e) Any change in special surrender value with justification

(f) Treatment of Fund for Future Appropriation (FFA) along with details on reconciliation
of opening FFA to closing FFA.

(g) The expenses debited to the with-profit fund and its appropriateness

(i) The report of the With-Profit committee should be shared with the Board of the insurer
before finalization of year-end financial statements. The With-Profit committee report shall
also be shared with the regulator along with Actuarial Report and Abstract. The With-
Profit committee may be called upon by the regulator to explain the rationale of the With-
Profit committee report. It is expected that differences if any, between the view-point of
the Appointed Actuary and other members of the With-Profits committee should be
resolved before the Appointed Actuary makes his or her final recommendation on with
profit business. However, to the extent that any material difference remains unresolved,
the same should be mentioned in the With-Profit committee report.

(iii) The Appointed Actuary retains entire responsibility for his or her work in compliance with
the Part-1l of Schedule-l of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment functions of
insurers) Regulations, 2024 and in conformity with the provisions of the Actuarial Practice
Standards/ Guidance Notes and Professional Conduct Standards of the IAl. The
Appointed Actuary must therefore retain the final say on whether or not any element of
his or her work needs to be changed as a result of the With-Profit committee report. The
Appointed Actuary is therefore advised to use his or her discretion in this area with care.
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Chapter 2- Finance Function
Section I: Introduction

An insurer carrying on life insurance business shall comply with requirement of Schedule 1l (Part I) of
IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024. An insurer
carrying on the business of general insurance, health insurance, reinsurance shall comply with the
requirements of Schedule II (Part 1) of IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of
Insurers) Regulations, 2024.

Section 11(1) of the Insurance Act, 1938 requires all insurers to prepare at the expiration of each
financial year, with reference to that year, a balance sheet, a profit and loss account, a separate
account of receipts and payments, a revenue account in accordance with the regulations made by the
Authority.

1. Furnishing of Annual Financial Statements and other filings and publishing of the annual
report on website:

All insurers shall furnish to IRDAI its audited accounts and statements referred to in section 11
or sub-section (5) of the section 13 with the Authority within three months from end of the financial
year or within thirty days from the date of adoption of accounts by the Board, whichever is earlier.

All insurers are required to publish their Annual Report, as required under Section 15 of the
Insurance Act, 1938 on their respective website.

2. The following disclosures, at the minimum, shall also form part of Financial Statements
as specified: -

a. Disclosures Forming Part of Financial Statements

i) Aninsurer shall prepare separate Receipts and Payments Account in accordance with
the Direct Method specified in AS 3 - "Cash Flow Statement" as per Annexure-|

ii) A summary of financial statements for the last five years, as per Annexure-ll(a) /

Annexure-lI(b);

iii) Accounting Ratios as per Annexure-lli(a) / Annexure-1li(b)

iv) Information on penalties imposed on the Insurer by various government/regulatory
bodies as per Annexure-IV.

v) Disclosure of expenses related to outsourcing activities as per Annexure-V
vi) Details of regrouping or reclassification of previous year’s figures as per Annexure-VI
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b. Disclosures Forming Part of Management Report

(i) Ageing of claims indicating the trends in average claim settlement time during the
preceding five years as per Annexure-Vli(a) / Annexure-VII(b) ;

(if) A schedule of payments, which have been made to individuals, firms, companies and
organizations in which Directors of the insurer are interested as per Annexure-VIIl.

Section Il: Accounting and Disclosure Requirements

1. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Expenditure:
The expenses incurred on CSR activities should not be charged to the Policyholders’ Account.
In order to bring consistency, uniformity and fair presentation, expenditure towards Corporate
Social Responsibility shall be shown in Profit and Loss Account. The insurer shall make
disclosures as required under Companies Act 2013 read with rules / notification/circulars issued
thereunder.

Section lll: Accounting and Disclosures specific to Life Insurers

1. Accounting of policies ‘in force’:

As per the terms under which life insurance policies are issued, the policyholder has a grace
period within which the premium is to be deposited as per the terms of the policy. This policy is
followed throughout the accounting period, as also at the year end. Thus, premium on any policy
which is in force as on 315t March, would be accrued if due and also within the specified grace
period. For linked business, the due date for payment may be taken as the date when the
associated units are created.

Further, Section 13 of the Insurance Act, 1938 lays down the requirement for preparation of
Actuarial Report and Abstract. The Regulations further provide for valuation of liabilities as on
the valuation date, i.e., 315 March, every year.

In view of the above, and as matter of regulatory prudence, it is reiterated that all insurers should
finalize the financial statements for the year to which they pertain, taking into account the policies
which are in force as on 31 March to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Act and
the Regulations framed there under.

2. Recognition of Surplus arising in non-participating funds as profit in the Profit & Loss
Account:
It is clarified that the surplus arising in non-participating funds may be recognized as profit in the
Profit and Loss account on quarterly basis provided that:
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Financial statements are audited/ limited review by statutory auditor on quarterly basis, as
applicable.

The surplus to be transferred to Profit and Loss account must be certified and recommended
by the Appointed Actuary of the company.

A disclosure to this effect should be made in the financial statements.

In any case, the amount transferred must not exceed the yearly profit. The difference, if any
must be adjusted in the 4" quarter. In case the variation in the surplus is in excess of 10%
or Rs.5 crores, whichever is higher, then the life Insurer shall submit to the Authority an
explanation stating reasons for variation along with the annual financial statements. The
explanation of variations so submitted shall be approved by the Board of Directors of life
Insurers.

Declaration of Bonus:

Section 49 of the Insurance Act, 1938 inter alia, provides that no life insurer shall declare bonus
to the policyholders except out of a surplus shown in the valuation Balance Sheet which may
arise as a result of actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the insurer; nor shall he
increase such surplus by contributions out of any reserve fund or otherwise unless such
contributions have been brought in as revenue through the Revenue account on or before the
valuation date.

3.1. Conditions to be met for declaration of bonus to the policyholders:

An insurer intending to declare bonus, where the Participating Life Fund is in deficit, or when there
is inadequate surplus, should strictly satisfy the conditions, as laid down by the Authority,
hereunder:

The Insurer shall make good the accumulated deficit in the Policyholders’ A/c and also
transfer adequate assets to cover the cost of bonus, prior to declaration of bonus to the
participating policyholders. Such transfer from the Shareholders’ A/c can be out of the Profit
& Loss A/c balance or reserves in the Shareholders A/c, and/or by drawing upon the paid-up
capital of the Insurer. By implication, there shall be no deficit in the Policyholders’ A/c in case
of the insurer opting for declaration of bonus under these circumstances.

Any transfer as aforesaid, shall be by a debit to the Profit & Loss (Shareholders’) Account and
a credit to the Revenue (Policyholders’) Account.

The funds so transferred to the Policyholders’ A/c shall be irreversible in nature, i.e., at no
point of time can they be recouped to the Shareholders’ Account/ Fund.

The transfer to the Policyholders’ A/c must be fully backed by transfer of assets/investments
to the Policyholder’ Funds, and should be adequate to meet the policyholders’ liabilities,
including the cost of bonus.

The proposed rates of bonus should be capable of being sustained over the future.
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vi) The transfer of funds to the Policyholders’ A/c shall be supported by a special resolution of
the shareholders at the general meeting of the insurer. Further, the Insurer shall appropriately
increase the paid-up equity capital, within a period of six months from the date of transfer of
funds, or such longer period as may be approved by the Authority, with a view to aligning the
paid-up equity capital, such as to make up the deficiency (including the cost of bonus) in the
life fund as aforesaid, and is backed up and represented by Policyholders’
assets/investments.

The above provisions, for the purposes of meeting the requirement of declaration of bonus, are
available to the insurers only during the first twelve financial years commencing from the year in
which the life insurance business operations were started. Thereafter, it is expected that
declaration of bonus will be supported by surplus within the life fund without recourse to
contribution from the shareholders.

4. Disclosures relating to Discontinued Policies:

4.1.The Funds relating to the discontinued policies shall be shown under a separate head in the
Balance Sheet under “Policyholder's Fund”, alongside Policy Liabilities in the following
manner:

Funds for discontinued Policies:

(i) Discontinued on account of non-payment of premiums
(i) Others

4.2.The Amount refunded to the policyholders and amount transferred to the “Funds for
Discontinued Policies” during the financial year shall be shown in the specified format.

4.3. The following disclosures shall be made in the notes to accounts:
() Number of policies discontinued during the financial year;
(i) Percentage of discontinued policies to total policies (product-wise) during the year;
(i) Number and Percentage of policies revived during the year (w.r.t. discontinued policies)
(iv) Charges imposed on account of discontinued policies.
(v) Charges readjusted on account of revival of discontinued policies

The disclosures shall be made in the format as specified in Annexure — IX.

5. Additional Disclosures in financial statements:
5.1.Controlled Fund:
The details of the Controlled Fund shall be furnished as part of the annual financial statements
of life insurers in the enclosed format (Annexure X).

5.2.Disclosures for ULIP business:
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0] To ensure transparency and consistency in the disclosures across the industry, the
format of reporting under the Regulations, has been modified to include the following -
Segregation of the Unit Linked Revenue A/c into two components, viz., (@) Non —Unit
Funds and (b) Unit Fund;

(i) Format of reporting of the Segregated funds — Revenue A/c, Balance Sheet and the
underlying Schedules including additional disclosures (Annexure XI) to form part ULIP
disclosures on website of the Insurer.

5.3.Clarifications on the ULIP disclosures:

i. The Investment portion of premium shall be disclosed in the Unit segment and the non-
investment portion in the non-unit segment;

ii. Income on investment shall be disclosed under unit and non-unit portion in consonance
with (i) above;

iii. Fees and charges shall be shown as “Income” in the non-unit segment and as “Expenses”
in the unit segment.

iv. All operating expenses and Commission shall be disclosed in non-unit segment.

v. Claims arising from cancellation of units alone shall be shown against linked segment and
other items like mortality, morbidity and value of guaranteed benefits shall be disclosed
under non-unit segment

5.4.Disclosure of amount representing the unclaimed amount of Policyholders:

All the insurers are advised to ensure compliance with stipulations on Unclaimed Amounts of
Policyholders as specified from time to time. It is also advised that the unclaimed amounts will
not be appropriated / written back, in any circumstances, by the insurers.

5.5.Guidelines for recognition of claims:

The date for recognition of claims shall be the date of intimation of death or date of intimation of
surrender by the policyholder. The date of recognition of claims in case of maturity, survival
benefits, annuity, etc. shall be as per the terms and conditions of the policies.

Section IV: Accounting and Disclosures specific to General Insurance, Health insurance and
Reinsurance companies (including branches of foreign reinsurers)

1. Actuarial valuation of claims where claims period exceeds four years

The Regulations require all insurers to furnish the particulars of the claims made in respect of
contracts where the claims payment period exceeds four years. Such claims are required to be
recognized on actuarial basis, for example payment arising out of long-term disability. In such cases,
a certificate from an Appointed Actuary as to fairness of liability assessment must be obtained and
the actuarial assumptions are required to be disclosed by way of Notes to the Accounts. It is further
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clarified that the provisioning under this regulation has no relation to the time lag between the
occurrence and settlement of a claim.

2. Alternate Risk Transfer Agreements (ART)

Some of the non-life insurers are entering into Alternate Risk Transfer (ART) agreements as a
substitute to/form of re-insurance. A broad assessment of the types of agreements being entered
into by the insurers indicates that while at best these arrangements may be a combination of
reinsurance and financing arrangements, in other instances ART may be purely in the nature of a
financing agreement.

Any ART arrangement has to be accounted for based on the principle of “Substance over Form”. If
the agreement is in the nature of re-insurance coupled with financing arrangement, and the
components are capable of separation, each element should be accounted for as per the Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). However, in cases where the aforesaid components are
not separable, the entire arrangement should be treated as a financial transaction and should be
accounted for accordingly. All non-life insurers are required to account for the ART arrangements by
looking into the “Substance over Form”, and account for the same as per the GAAP.

3. Segregation of Policyholders’ and Shareholders’ Funds:

3.1 Section 11(2) of the Insurance Act, 1938 mandates that every Insurer shall keep
separate funds of shareholders and policyholders. In view of the said provision, general
insurers including reinsurers, branch offices of foreign reinsurers, standalone health
insurers and specialized insurers are advised as under:

i.Bifurcate the policyholders’ and shareholders’ fund at the end of each quarter at the minimum
at the “fund level” on notional basis.

ii.Policyholders’ funds shall be the sum of:

a) Estimated Liability for Outstanding claims including incurred but not reported (IBNR) and
incurred but not enough reported (IBNER);

b) Reserve for unearned premium reserve;
c) Premium Deficiency, if any;

d) Catastrophe Reserve, if any; and

e) Other Liabilities net of Other Assets.

Other Liabilities above, comprise of premium received in advance, unallocated premium,
Balance due to other insurance companies, Due to other Members of a Pool such as
Terrorism Pool, Sundry creditors (due to policyholders), etc.

Other assets above, comprise of outstanding premium, due from other entities carrying on
insurance business including Reinsurers, Balance with terrorism pool, if applicable, etc.
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Vi.

Investments made out of the policyholders’ funds and shareholders’ funds shall be shown
separately in the formats as specified.

As aresult of the above, the Fair Value Change Account as it appears in the Balance Sheet
shall accordingly stand bifurcated under the Shareholders’ fund and Policyholders’ fund.

There shall not be any transfer from Policyholders’ Account to Shareholders’ Account on
account of income/losses on investments

The income/ losses accrued / capital gains/losses on the investments are to be credited /
debited to the respective Revenue Account and Profit & Loss Account, as the case may
be.

vii. All insurers shall ensure that the investments allocated to policyholders shall not be less

than value of the policyholders’ fund.

3.2 Recoupment of the Deficit - Every Insurer shall ensure that the policyholders' fund as
defined above, are fully supported by the policyholders' investments shown in Schedule-
8A. Therefore, any deficit / shortfall in policyholders' investments arising out of the loss
in the Revenue Account or otherwise shall be recouped by transfer of securities from the
shareholders' investments to the policyholders' investments on a half yearly basis. The
valuation of such securities shall be in accordance with the valuation norms as specified
in the regulations.

Transfer of securities to Policyholders’ Account from the Shareholder’s account or
other wise

Where securities are transferred to the policy holders Account, this should be at market price or
amortized cost, whichever is lower.

Accounting treatment for Long Term products:

A. Premium Recognition:

Premium for a Long-Term policy if collected at the time of sale of the policy, for the entire Policy
Duration or for any duration exceeding 12 months, shall be recognized on a yearly basis. In other
words, the Gross Written Premium reported for any Financial Year shall be the total Gross Written
Premium due for the Long-Term Policy multiplied by ‘1/n’, where ‘n’ is the Policy Duration. Any
excess amount collected shall be treated as “Premium Deposit” or “Advance Premium”.

B. Payment of Commission:

Payment of commission in a year shall be only on the gross written premium recognised for the

year.
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Section V: Accounting and Disclosures specific to Reinsurers, FRBs & Lloyds

1. Applicable to the branch office of foreign reinsurers and Lloyd’s India

a.

In case of a foreign reinsurer carrying on the business of reinsurance, through a branch office
established in India, a Head Office account shall be maintained,

The Head Office Account shall be maintained in two parts as under:

Vi.

The irreversible fixed amount of assigned capital provided to the branch by the foreign
reinsurer to carry on the business of reinsurance in India as mandated by the Authority
from to time;

The Current account representing the transactions between the branch office and its
head office including transfer of branch profit or loss with the prior approval of the
Authority from time to time:

Provided that, at any time, the net balance of (i) and ii) shall not be less than the Assigned
Capital specified by the Authority.

Accordingly, the schedule 5 i.e. Share Capital shall not be applicable to foreign reinsurer
carrying on the business of reinsurance, through a branch office established in India.

The irreversible fixed amount representing the Assigned Capital shall be shown as a
separate line item in the Balance Sheet after "Reserve & Surplus”. The details of the
same shall be furnished in Schedule 6A - “Head Office Account”.

The Current Account of Head Office shall be shown as a separate line item to be
presented in the Schedule 12- Advance and Other Assets or Schedule-13 Current
Liabilities as the case may be.

It is to be noted that all other provisions of Schedule Il (Part 1) of IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024, to the extent
applicable to Indian reinsurers shall be applicable mutatis mutandis to the branch of
foreign reinsurers.

2. Applicable to reinsurers and the branch office of foreign reinsurers and Lloyd’s India
Accounting of Premium, claims and related expenses on estimation basis:

The Authority has carried out an analysis of the premium recognized by the FRBs and GIC Re
and observed that while some of the FRBs are accounting for the premium on “actual” basis,
some others are doing so on “estimation” basis.

It is further observed that no uniform method / procedure has been followed by the reinsurers
on accounting of the premium on estimation basis. The premium is accounted on estimation
basis by the Reinsurer due to the following reasons: (i) lag or delay in receiving the statement
of accounts from the Insurer(s); and/or (ii) alignment of accounting practices with parent
organization.
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Given that a significant part of the premium is being accounted on estimation basis, a need is
felt to lay down guidelines to govern the accounting and disclosures of premium recognized on
estimation basis in the annual report. Accordingly, the Authority lays down the following
framework whereunder the FRBs/Reinsurers shall ensure that in annual financial statements
no premium is accrued / accounted on estimate basis at least upto 3rd quarter of each financial
year. However, for the fourth quarter ending on 31st March, where the statement of accounts
has not been received in time, the premium, losses and related expenses may be accounted
on estimation basis. However, in estimation of the said income and expenses, the reinsurers
shall ensure that:

a)
b)
c)

d)

a consistent methodology is followed across the entire portfolio;
the estimates shall be trued up as actual values emerge;

a statement shall be included in the annual report stating total premium, claims and
expenses accounted for during the financial year and premium, claims and expenses
accounted on estimation basis;

complete disclosure shall be made for three years (including the current Financial Year)
giving the segment wise break up of premium, claims and expenses accounted on
estimation basis and its actual experience as per the attached formats — Annexure XlI
and Management’s comments on variation, if any, beyond 10% on a yearly basis under
Notes to Accounts if the actual figures are available at the time of closing of books of
accounts for the said financial year. In case of the information not being available, the
above referred submissions shall be made in the annual report for the next financial
year; and

If the actual figures are not available at the time of closure of books of accounts for the
financial year, any deviation beyond + 10% shall be reported to the Authority in the
format referred in above para 4 within 15 days from the end of first quarter of the next
financial year.
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Section VI: General

1) Allinsurers are advised to furnish the returns to the Authority as per the Regulations notified
in this regard. In case there is no information applicable for a particular point the insurer
should indicate ‘Not Applicable’ or ‘Nil’, as the case may be, rather than deleting the said
point from the Returns filed with the Authority.

2) The Regulations specify that certain points are required to be certified by a specified
professional. The Insurer shall ensure that the Regulations are followed both in letter and
spirit in the said context. It should be ensured that exceptions, if any, are brought out in the
relevant certificate.

Section VII: Deviation from specified Formats

All insurers are hereby advised to strictly adhere to the formats (including schedules)
specified by the Regulations and the directions issued thereunder by the Authority. Any new
line item, if so warranted to be disclosed separately, may be shown under “Others” in
Revenue Account, P&L Account and/or the relevant schedule of the financial statements, by
giving the details of particulars of each item.
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Schedule—1: List of Repealed Circulars of Life Insurers

Sl. Circular Reference Subject
No.
1 IRDA/F&A/CIir/232/12/2013 dt. Master Circular on Preparation of Financial
11.12.2013 Statements and Filing Returns of Life Insurance
Business
2 IRDA/F&A/CIr/ACTS /118/ 04 /2014 dt. | Premium Recognition for Variable Insurance
28.04.2014 Products
3 IRDA/F&A/CIR/MISC/184/10/2019 dt. | Preparation of Financial Statements by Life Insurers
04/10/2019
Schedule-ll- List of Repealed Circulars of Non- Life Insurers, Reinsurer & FRB
Circular Reference Subject
No
1 | Master Circular dated October, 2012 Preparation of Financial statements
2 | IRDA/F&A/CIR/FA/126/07/2013 dated Corrigendum on Master Circular dated October,
03.07.2013 2012
3 | IRDA/F&A/CIR/CPM/056/03/2016 dated | Preparation of financial statements
04.04.2016
4 | IRDA/F&A/CIR/CPM/010/01/2017 dated | Preparation of financial statements
12.01.2017
5 | IRDAI/F&A/CIR/MISC/081/05/2019 dated | Preparation of Financial statements
20.05.2019
6 | IRDA/F&A/CIR/MISC/123/6/2022 dated | Accounting of Premium, claims and related

15.06.2022

expenses on estimation basis-FRBs and Indian
Reinsurers
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Annexure |- Cash Flow Statement (For all insurers)

To be prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard 3 (AS 3)- Cash Flow Statements

Cash Flow Statement shall be prepared only under the Direct Method.

(Amount in Rs. Lakh)

Particulars

Current Year Previous Year

Cash Flows from the operating activities:

Premium received from policyholders, including advance
receipts

Other receipts (give Break-up)

Payments to the re-insurers, net of commissions and claims

Payments to co-insurers, net of claims recovery

Payments of claims

Payments of commission and brokerage

Payments of other operating expenses

Preliminary and pre-operative expenses

Deposits, advances and staff loans

Income taxes paid (Net)

Good & Service tax paid

Other payments

Cash flows before extraordinary items

Cash flow from extraordinary operations

Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of fixed assets

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets

Purchases of investments

Loans disbursed

Sales of investments

Repayments received

Rents/Interests/ Dividends received

Investments in money market instruments and in liquid mutual
funds (Net)®

Expenses related to investments

Net cash flow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of share capital

Proceeds from borrowing

Repayments of borrowing

Interest/dividends paid
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Net cash flow from financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents,
net

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Notes: -
a) Investments in mutual funds where these are used as parking vehicles pending investment
are to be indicated (net).

b) The above items are minimum which are to be reported. Insurers may include any other
items which they deem fit.

c) Loans granted against policies should be disclosed as part of “investing activities”
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Annexure ll(a) - Summary of the financial statements (For life insurers)

(Amount in Rs. Lakh)

Sr. No. Particulars 1st year* | 2nd year 3rd year | 4th year | 5th
year

Policyholders' Account

1 | Gross premium income

2 | Net premium income *

Income from investments
3 | (net)?

4 | Other income

Contribution from the
5 | Shareholders a/c

-Towards excess EOM

-Towards meeting deficit in
Policyholders' Account

Income on unclaimed amount
6 | of policyholders

7 | Total income

8 | Commissions (net) 3

Operating expenses related to
9 | insurance business *

10 | Provisions for tax

11 | Total Expenses

12 | Payment to policy holders °

13 | Increase in actuarial liability

14 | Provision for Linked Liabilities

Surplus/(Deficit) from
15 | operations

Shareholders' Account

Total income under
16 | Shareholders Account ©
Total expenses under

17 | Shareholder's Account

18 | Profit /(loss) before tax

19 | Provisions for tax

20 | Profit/ (loss) after tax

Profit /(loss) carried to Balance
21 | sheet

22 | MISCELLANEQOUS

(A) Policyholders account:

Total funds
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Total Investments

Yield on investments (%)’

(B) Shareholders account :

Total funds

Total Investments

Yield on investments (%)’

23 | Yield on total investments
24 | Paid up equity capital

25 | Net worth

26 | Total Assets

27 | Earnings per share

28 | Basic earnings per share
29 | Diluted earnings per share
30 | Book value per share

31 | Total Dividend declared / Paid
32 | Dividend per Share

33 | Solvency Ratio

*1st year means the most recent concluded financial year.

Notes:
Net of reinsurance

1.
2.
3.

N o ok

Net of losses (includes diminution in the value of investments)

Includes any compensation paid by an insurer to Insurance agent, Intermediary or
Insurance intermediary

Includes unit fund expenses
Inclusive of interim bonuses, if any

Includes other income of profit and loss account
Investment income/((Opening investments + Closing investments)/2)
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Annexure ll(b)- Summary of the financial statements (For insurers other than Life
insurers) (Rs. in Lakh)

Sr. No. Particulars 1st year* 2nd year | 3rd year | 4th year | 5th year

OPERATING RESULTS

Gross direct premium

Gross Written Premium

Net Premium Income @

A WIN|PF

Income from Investments
(net) @

5 Other Income (to be
specified)

6 Contribution  from  the
Shareholders a/c

-Towards excess EOM

-Others to be specified

Total Income

7 Commission (net) ©

8 Operating Expenses

9 Premium Deficiency

10 Net Incurred Claims

Change in  Unearned
11 premium reserve

12 Operating Profit / (Loss)

NON-OPERATING

RESULTS

Total Income under
13 shareholder’s account

Total expenses under
14 Shareholder's Account
15 Profit / (Loss) before tax
16 Provision for tax

19 Profit / (Loss) after tax

MISCELLANEOUS

20 Policyholders’ Account :

Total Funds

Total Investments

Yield on Investments

21 Shareholders’ Account :

Total Funds

Total Investments
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Yield on Investments

22 Paid up equity capital

23 Net worth

24 Total Assets

25 Yield on Total Investments

26 Earnings per Share (Basic)

27 Book Value per Share

Total Dividend
28 declared/paid for the year

29 Dividend per Share

30 Solvency Ratio

*1st year means the most recent concluded financial year.

Notes

1. Net of reinsurance
2. Net of losses (includes diminution in the value of investments)

3. includes any compensation paid by an insurer to Insurance agent, Intermediary or Insurance
intermediary
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Annexure lll(a)- Analytical Ratios* (For life insurers)

SN

Particular

Current
Year

Previous
Year

New Business Premium Growth Rate (Segment wise)

(i) Linked Business:

a) Life

b) Pension

¢) Health

d) Others

(i) Non-Linked Business:

Participating:

a) Life

b) Annuity

c) Pension

d) Health

e) Others

Non Participating:

a) Life

b) Annuity

¢) Pension

d) Health

e) Others

Percentage of Single Premium (Individual Business) to
Total New Business Premium (Individual Business)

Percentage of Linked New Business Premium (Individual
Business) to Total New Business Premium (Individual
Business)

Net Retention Ratio

Conservation Ratio (Segment wise)

() Linked Business:

a) Life

b) Pension

c) Health

d) Others

(i) Non-Linked Business:

Participating:

a) Life

b) Annuity

c) Pension

d) Health

e) Others
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Non Participating:

a) Life
b) Annuity
c) Pension
d) Health
e) Others

6 Expense of Management to Gross Direct Premium Ratio

7 Commission Ratio (Gross commission and Rewards paid
to Gross Premium)

8 Business_ Developmgnt and Sales Promotion Expenses to
New Business Premium

9 Brand/Trade Mark usage fee/charges to New Business
Premium

10 Ratio of Policyholders' Fund to Shareholders' funds

11 Change in net worth (Amount in Rs. Lakh)

12 Growth in Net worth

13 Ratio of Surplus to Policyholders' Fund

14 Profit after tax / Total Income

15 (Total Real Estate + Loans)/(Cash & Invested Assets)

16 Total Investments/(Capital + Reserves and Surplus)

17 Total Affiliated Investments/(Capital+ Reserves and
Surplus)

18 In\_/estm_ent Yield_ - (G_ross and Net) -Fund wise and
With/Without realised gain
Persistency Ratio - Premium Basis (Regular

19 Premium/Limited Premium Payment under Individual

category)

For 13th month

For 25th month

For 37th month

For 49th Month

For 61st month

Persistency Ratio - Premium Basis (Single Premium/Fully
paid-up under Individual category)

For 13th month

For 25th month

For 37th month

For 49th Month

For 61st month

Persistency Ratio - Number of Policy Basis ( Regular
Premium/Limited Premium Payment under Individual
category)

For 13th month
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For 25th month

For 37th month

For 49th Month

For 61st month

Persistency Ratio - Number of Policy Basis ( Single
Premium/Fully paid-up under Individual category)

For 13th month

For 25th month

For 37th month

For 49th Month

For 61st month

20 NPA Ratio
Policyholders' Funds
Gross NPA Ratio
Net NPA Ratio
Shareholders' Funds
Gross NPA Ratio
Net NPA Ratio
21 Solvency Ratio
22 Debt Equity Ratio
23 Debt Service Coverage Ratio
24 Interest Service Coverage Ratio
o5 Ayerage ticket size in Rs. - Individual premium (Non-
Single)
Equity Holding Pattern for Life Insurers and information on
earnings:
No. of shares
Percentage of shareholding
Indian
Foreign
Percentage of Government holding (in case of public
sector insurance companies)
26 Basic EPS before extraordinary items (net of tax expense)

for the period (not to be annualized)

Diluted EPS before extraordinary items (net of tax
expense) for the period (not to be annualized)

Basic EPS after extraordinary items (net of tax expense)
for the period (not to be annualized)

Diluted EPS after extraordinary items (net of tax expense)
for the period (not to be annualized)

Book value per share (Rs)
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Annexure lll(b)- Analytical ratios(For insurers other than Life insurers) *

S.No. Particular CcYy PY
1 Gross Direct Premium Growth Rate**
2 Gross Direct Premium to Net worth Ratio
3 Growth rate of Net Worth
4 Net Retention Ratio**
5 Net Commission Ratio**
6 Expense of Management to Gross Direct
Premium Ratio**
7 Expense of Management to Net Written
Premium Ratio**
8 Net Incurred Claims to Net Earned Premium**
9 Claims paid to claims provisions**
10 Combined Ratio**
11 Investment income ratio
12 Technical Reserves to net premium ratio **
13 Underwriting balance ratio
14 Operating Profit Ratio
15 Liguid Assets to liabilities ratio
16 Net earning ratio
17 Return on net worth ratio
18 Solvency Margin Ratio
19 NPA Ratio
Policyholders' Funds
Gross NPA Ratio
Net NPA Ratio
Shareholders' Funds
Gross NPA Ratio
Net NPA Ratio
20 Debt Equity Ratio
21 Debt Service Coverage Ratio
22 Interest Service Coverage Ratio
23 Equity Holding Pattern for other than life

Insurers and information on earnings:

No. of shares

Percentage of shareholding

Indian

Foreign

Percentage of Government holding (in case of
public sector insurance companies)
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Basic EPS before extraordinary items (net of tax
expense) for the period (not to be annualized)

Diluted EPS before extraordinary items (net of
tax expense) for the period (not to be
annualized)

Basic EPS after extraordinary items (net of tax
expense) for the period (not to be annualized)

Diluted EPS after extraordinary items (net of tax
expense) for the period (not to be annualized)

Book value per share (Rs)

Net worth definition to include Head office capital for Reinsurance branch

** Segmental reporting has to be done for CY and PY

*The ratios must be calculated in accordance with instructions provided by the
Authority under circular on public disclosures by the insurers as specified from

time to time
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Annexure V- Penalty imposed by various government authorities (For all Insurers)

(Amount in Rs. Lakh)

Sr No | Authority Non- Penalty Penalty Penalty
Compliance Awarded Paid Waived/
/ Reduced
Violation
1 Insurance Regulatory and
Development  Authority  of
India (IRDAI)
Income Tax Authorities
GST Authorities
Any other Tax Authorities
Enforcement Directorate/
Adjudicating Authority/

Tribunal or any Authority
5 under FEMA

6 Registrar of Companies/
NCLT/CLB/ Department of
Corporate Affairs or any
Authority under Companies
Act, 2013

7 Penalty awarded by any
Court/ Tribunal for any matter
including claim settlement but
excluding compensation

8 Securities and Exchange
Board of India

9 Competition Commission of
India

10 Any other Central/State/Local
Government /  Statutory
Authority (give break-up)

*Penalty includes compounding charges levied by any Government Authority(ies).
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Annexure V- Disclosure of expenses related to outsourcing activities (For all

insurers) (Rs. in Lakh)

Particulars

Current year

Previous Year

Total Outsourcing Expenses

Break up of Outsourcing Expenses
(Please specify the expenses head
the

booked/reported/charged)

under which

1.
2.

expenses

Annexure VI- Regrouping Statement (For all insurers)

Sr No. Particulars Regrouped / | Amount as | Difference | Reason
(schedule and head of Restated per (Rs. In | for
account) Amount (Rs. | financials lakh) regroupi
Regrouped Regrouped To | In lakh) of ng /
From previous restatem

year (Rs. ent
In lakh)

UY¥ / Page 182/ 270




Annexure Vll(a) = Ageing of claims indicating the
trends in average claim settlement time during
the preceding 5 years

Average claims settlement time (For Life insurers)

Year Average time taken for claim settlement
(in days)

1st year*

2nd year

3rd year

4th year

5th year

. CLAIMS REGISTERED AND SETTLED:

Linked Business (Amount in Rs. Lakh)
Up to 30 days 31 days to 6 months | Above 6 months to 1 Above 1 yearto 5 Above 5 years
v year years
ear No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount
claims | settled claims settled claims | settled claims settled claims | settled
1st year*
2nd year
3rd year
4th year
5th year
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Non-Linked Business

(Amount in Rs. Lakh)

Up to 30 days 31 days to 6 months | Above 6 monthsto 1 | Above 1yearto5 Above 5 years
Year year years
NO_Of Amount No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount
claims | settled claims settled claims | settled claims settled claims | settled
1st year*
2nd year
3rd year
4th year
5th year

II. CLAIMS REGISTERED AND NOT SETTLED:

Linked Business

(Amount in Rs. Lakh)

Up to 30 days 31 days to 6 months | Above 6 monthsto 1 | Above 1yearto5 Above 5 years
Year year years

No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount

claims | involved | claims involved | claims involved claims involved | claims involved
1st year*
2nd year
3rd year
4th year
5th year
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Non-Linked Business (Amount in Rs. Lakh)

Up to 30 days 31 days to 6 months | Above 6 monthsto 1 | Above 1yearto5 Above 5 years
Year year years

No of Amount | No of Amount | No of Amount No of Amount No of Amount

claims | involved | claims involved | claims | involved claims involved | claims | involved
1st year*
2nd year
3rd year
4th year
5th year

*1st year means the most recent concluded financial year.
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Annexure VIl(b) — Ageing of claims indicating the trends in average claim

settlement time during the preceding 5 years (For insurers other then Life insurers)

I. Ageing analysis of Gross Claims outstanding

Period Product/Segment @
No of | Amount
Claims involved
0-30 days

31 days to 6 months

6 months to 1 year

1 year to 5 years

5 years and above

Il. Details of Average Claim settlement time for the preceding

five years (Amount in Rs. Lakh)
Product/Segment @ 1st year* 2nd year 3rd year
Average No of Amount | Average No of Amount | Average No of Amount
Settlement | claims settled | Settlement | claims | settled | Settlement claims settled
time (Days) | settled time (Days) | settled time (Days) settled

*1st year means the most recent concluded financial year.

Notes: -(1) Product/ Segments : - As prescribed under Regulations
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Product/Segment W 4th year 5th year
Average No of claims | Amount Average No of claims | Amount Average
Settlement settled settled Settlement settled settled Settleme
time (Days) time (Days) nt
time
(Days)
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Annexure VIl = Schedule of payments which have been made to individuals, firms,

companies and organisations in which directors of the insurers are interested

(For all insurers)

(Amount in Rs. Lakh)

Sr.No Name of the | Entity  in | Interested | Description During
director with | which as of the Year | the
Designation | Director is Transaction previous

interested s / Payment Year
made for

Page 188 of 270



Annexure — IX Disclosures relating to Fund for discontinued policies (Applicable to Life

insurers)
(Amount in Rs.
Lakh)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year
Sub- Sub-
total Total total Total

Fund for Discontinues Policies

Opening Balance of Funds for Discontinued
Policies

Add: Fund of policies discontinued during the year
Less: Fund of policies revived during the year
Add: Net Income/ Gains on investment of the Fund
Less: Fund Management Charges levied

Amount refunded to policyholders during the
Less: year

Closing Balance of Fund for Discontinued
Policies

Other disclosures

No. of policies discontinued during the year

Percentage of discontinued policies to total
policies (product-wise) during the year

No. of policies revived during the year

Percentage of policies revived (to discontinued
policies) during the year

Charges imposed on account of discontinued
policies

Charges readjusted on account of revival of
policies
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Annexure X -Statement showing the Controlled Fund of (Insurer) (Applicable to Life

insurers)

(Amount in Rs. Lakh)

cy. | pv.

Computation of Controlled fund as per the Balance Sheet

Policyholders' Fund (Life Fund)

Participating

Individual Assurance

Individual Pension

Any other (Pl. Specify)

Non-participating

Individual Assurance

Group Assurance

Individual Annuity

Any other (Pl. Specify)

Linked

Individual Assurance

Group Assurance

Individual Pension

Group Superannuation

Group Gratuity

Any other (Pl. Specify)

Funds for Future Appropriations

Total (A)

Shareholders' Fund

Paid up Capital

Reserves & Surpluses

Fair Value Change

Total (B)

Misc. expenses not written off

Credit / (Debit) from P&L Alc.

Total (C)

Total shareholders' funds (B+C)

Borrowings (D)

Controlled Fund (Total (A+B+C+D))

Reconciliation of the Controlled Fund from Revenue and Profit & Loss Account
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Opening Balance of Controlled Fund

Add: Inflow

Income

Premium Income

Less: Reinsurance ceded

Net Premium

Investment Income

Other Income

Funds transferred from Shareholders' Accounts

Total Income

Less: Outgo

(i) Benefits paid (Net)

(i) Interim Bonus Paid

(iii) Change in Valuation of Liability

(iv) Commission

(v) Operating Expenses

(vi) Provision for Taxation

Total Outgo

Surplus of the Policyholders' Fund

Less: transferred to Shareholders' Account

Net Flow in Policyholders' account

Add: Net income in Shareholders' Fund

Net In Flow / Outflow

Add: change in valuation Liabilities

Add: Increase in Paid up Capital

Add/Less:- Increase/Decrease in Borrowings

Add/Less:- Increase /Decrease in Reserves & Surplus (Other than P&L
movement)

Closing Balance of Controlled Fund as per cash flow

Add/Less: Credit/[Debit] Fair Value Change Account & revaluation
reserve account

Closing Balance of Controlled Fund

As Per Balance Sheet

Difference, if any

3 | Reconciliation with Shareholders' and Policyholders' Fund
Policyholders' Funds
3.1 | Policyholders' Funds - Traditional-PAR and NON-PAR

Opening Balance of the Policyholders' Fund
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Add: Surplus of the Revenue Account

Add/Less: Amount transferred from/ (to) Shareholders' account

Add: change in valuation Liabilities

Total

Add/Less: Credit/[Debit] Fair Value Change Account & revaluation
reserve account

Total

As per Balance Sheet

Difference, if any

3.2

Policyholders' Funds - Linked

Opening Balance of the Policyholders' Fund

Add: Surplus of the Revenue Account

Add/Less: Amount transferred from/ (to) Shareholders' account

Add: change in valuation Liabilities

Total

As per Balance Sheet

Difference, if any

3.3

Borrowings

Opening Balance of Borrowings

Add/Less:- Increase/Decrease in Borrowings

Total

As per Balance Sheet

Difference, if any

3.4

Shareholders' Funds

Opening Balance of Shareholders' Fund

Add: net income of Shareholders' account (P&L)

Add: Infusion of Capital

Add: Increase in Reserves & Surplus (Other than P&L movement)

Add/Less: Amount transferred from/ (to) Policyholders’ account

Closing Balance of the Shareholders" fund

Add/Less: Credit/[Debit] Fair Value Change Account & revaluation
reserve account

Closing Balance of the Shareholders" fund

As per Balance Sheet

Difference, if any
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Annexure Xl Disclosures for ULIP business (Applicable to Life insurers)

Performance of the Fund (Absolute Growth

%)
Year
Since
Current Year inceptio
Fund Name Year of Inception (X) (X=1) (X=2)1|n
Notes:

1. Investment Management
a) Activities outsourced
b) Fee paid for various activities charged to Policyholders
Account
c) Basis of payment of fees

2. Related party transactions — Details to be furnished Fund-wise

a) Brokerage, custodial fee or any other payments and receipts made to/from related parties (as
defined in AS 18)

b) Company-wise details of investments held in the Promoter Group along with its percentage to
funds under management. This information is required to be given fund-wise and also for
total funds under ULIPs.

3. Industry wise disclosure of investments (with exposure of 10 % and above) segregated at scrip
level. Investments in Industries where exposure is below 10 %, should be grouped under the
head “Others”. Such disclosures are required to be made in (i) Amount in Rs. lakh and (ii)
Percentage of respective Funds.

Unclaimed redemptions of units

NAV: Highest, Lowest and Closing at the end of the year

Expenses charged to Fund (%)

a) Annualized expense ratio to average daily assets of the Fund

Ratio of gross income (including unrealized gains) to average daily net assets
Provision for doubtful debts on assets of the respective Fund

Fund-wise disclosure of appreciation and/or depreciation in value of investments segregated
class-wise

Instructions on Preparation of Accounts:

1. Treatment of both Investment and risk premium in financials
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a) Risk premium and Investment premium shall form part of income and should be disclosed in
revenue account

Treatment of Benefits paid in financials

a) All the benefits paid should be shown under the head “Benefits Paid” in Revenue account.
No part of benefits shall be reduced from the fund directly

Treatment of Unrealized Gains: Both in Revenue A/c. and Balance Sheet
a) Unrealized gains in respect of unit linked business shall be credited in revenue account
b) Inthe Balance Sheet the disclosure should be as under

Linked liabilities XXX

Fair value change XXX

Total Linked Liability XXX

Current Assets and Liabilities in respect of unit linked business shall form part of Schedule
8B, i.e., Assets held to cover linked liabilities
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Form A-BS(UL)

Name of the Insurer
Registration No.
Date of Registration with IRDAI

Fund Balance Sheet as at 31st March

(Rs. In Lakh)
Particulars Schedule | Current year Previous Year
Sources of Funds
Policyholders' Funds:
Policyholder contribution F-1
Revenue Account
Total
Application of Funds
Investments F-2
Current Assets F-3
Less: Current Liabilities and
Provisions F-4

Net current assets

Total

Net Asset Value (NAV) per Unit:

(a) Net Asset as per Balance Sheet (Total Assets less Current Liabilities and

Provisions)
(b) Number of Units outstanding
(c) NAV per Unit (a)/(b) (Rs.)
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Form A-RA(UL)

Name of the Insurer

Registration No.
Date of Registration with IRDAI

Fund Revenue Account for the year ended 31st M

arch

(Rs. In Lakh)

Particulars Schedule

Current Year

Previous Year

Income from investments

Interest income

Dividend income

Profit/loss on sale of investment

Profit/loss on inter fund transfer/
sale of investment

Miscellaneous Income

Unrealised Gain/loss*

Total (A)

Fund management expenses

Fund administration expenses

Other charges: F-5

Total (B)

Net Income for the year (A-B)

Add: Fund revenue account at the
beginning of the year

Fund revenue account at the
end of the year

* Net change in mark to market value of investments
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Schedules to Fund Revenue Account

Name of the Insurer

Registration No.

Date of Registration with IRDAI

Schedule: F-1

POLICYHOLDERS' CONTRIBUTION

(Rs. In Lakh)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Opening balance

Add: Additions during the year*

Less: Deductions during the year*

Closing balance

* Additions represents units creation and deductions represent unit cancellations

Schedules to Fund Revenue Account

Name of the Insurer

Registration No.

Date of Registration with IRDAI

Schedule: F-2
INVESTMENTS

(Rs. In Lakh)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year

Approved Investments

Government Bonds

Corporate Bonds

Infrastructure Bonds

Equity

Money Market

Mutual Funds

Total

Other Investments

Corporate Bonds

Infrastructure Bonds

Equity

Money Market

Mutual Funds

Total

GRAND TOTAL

% of Approved Investments to Total

% of Other Investments to Total

Page 197 of 270



Schedule: F -3

CURRENT ASSETS

(Rs. In Lakh)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Accrued Interest

Cash &Bank Balance

Dividend Receivable

Receivable for Sale of Investments

Unit Collection A/c#

Other Current Assets (for Investments)

Total

Schedule: F-4

CURRENT LIABILITIES

(Rs. In Lakh)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Payable for Purchase of Investments

Other Current Liabilities

Unit Payable a/c#

Total

BREAK UP OF OTHER EXPENSES UNDER ULIP

Schedule: F-5

OTHER EXPENSES*

(Rs. In Lakh)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Policy Administration charge

Surrender charge

Switching charge

Mortality charge

Rider Premium charge

Partial withdrawal charge

Miscellaneous charge

Total

*Any expense which is 1% of the total expenses incurred should be disclosed as a

separate line item.

# Represents inter fund receivables or payables, if any
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Annexure Xll-Estimation

(Rs. In lakh)

No.

Segment

Estimation

FY [FY]FY

FY | FY | FY | FY | FY | FY

Premium

Claims

Expenses

Fire

Marine

Motor

Health

Personal Accident

Engineering

Aviation

OINO|IO R~ WIN|PF

Workmen’s
Compensation/
Employer’s liability

Public/ Product Liability

10

Others

11

Life Insurance

No.

Segment

Actuals

FY [FY]FY

FY | FY | FY [ FY | FY | FY

Premium

Claims

Expenses

Fire

Marine

Motor

Health

Personal Accident

Engineering

Aviation

INOOBAWIN|F-

Workmen’s
Compensation/
Employer’s liability

Public/ Product Liability

10

Others

11

Life Insurance
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S. Segment Variation (%)
No. FY |[FY|FY|FY|FY|FY]|FY]|FY]|FY
Premium Claims Expenses

1 Fire

2 Marine

3 Motor

4 Health

5 Personal Accident

6 Engineering

7 Aviation

8 Workmen’s
Compensation/
Employer’s liability

9 Public/ Product Liability

10 Others

11 Life Insurance

Note:

1 Three years data will be provided, for current year and preceding two years

2 Premium refers to 'Premium on reinsurance accepted'

3 Expenses refers to 'Commission' and 'Operating Expenses'

4 Any other sub-segment contributing more than 10% of the total premium shall be
shown separately.

5 Additional lines may be added under the segment 'Others', if required.
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Annexure XllI- Definitions applicable to all Insurers other than Life insurers

1. Gross Direct Premium - Gross Direct Premium is the premium booked directly from the
insured /policyholders pertaining to the accounting year excluding the goods and service tax
element thereon and premium received in advance.

2. Premium received in advance — Premium received in advance is the premium where the
period of inception of the risk is outside the accounting period and is to be shown under current
liabilities.

3. Gross Written Premium - Gross written premium is the Gross Direct Premium and inward
reinsurance premium accepted during the accounting period (Premium on reinsurances
accepted).

4. Net Premium (Also referred to as Net Written Premium/Net Retained Premium) — This
term refers to the Gross written premium less Premium on Reinsurance Ceded during the
accounting period (Retention of the Insurer after considering all types of reinsurances).

5. Net Earned Premium - Net premium after adjustment for movement in Unearned premium
reserve (UPR) in any given accounting period.

6. Reserves for Unexpired Risks (URR)- Reserves for Unexpired Risks means the reserves in
respect of the liabilities for unexpired risks and determined as the aggregate of Unearned
Premium Reserve (UPR) and Premium Deficiency Reserve (PDR).

7. Gross Incurred Claims - Gross Claims Paid plus Gross movement in claims outstanding
including gross IBNR/IBNER (Incurred but not reported/Incurred but not enough reported).
This includes claims relating to both direct and reinsurance accepted.

Gross Incurred Claims = Gross claims paid (both direct and reinsurance accepted) + Gross
claims outstanding at the end of the period (both direct and reinsurance accepted) — Gross
claims outstanding at the beginning of the period (both direct and reinsurance accepted). Gross
claims outstanding include gross IBNR/IBNER.

8. Net Incurred Claims - Net claims after accounting for recovery of claims from reinsurers. This
also includes both net claims relating to both direct and reinsurance accepted.
Net Incurred Claims = Net claims paid+ Net claims outstanding at the end of the period - Net
claims outstanding at the beginning of the period. Net outstanding claims include Net
IBNR/IBNER.
Net claims = Gross claims less reinsurance recoveries of claims.
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Chapter 3 — Investment Function

General Guidelines

Insurers shall carry out their investment functions in line with the Schedule 11l of IRDAI (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations,2024, provisions of Insurance
Act, 1938, and the Guidelines/Circulars issued thereon.

Reference to the word “Clause” in this circular means clauses mentioned under Schedule Il of
IRDAI (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations,2024, (hereinafter
called “Regulations”) unless otherwise specified.

iv.

Vi.

Insurers shall have in place investment policy in line with clause 12(2) of Regulations.
There shall be proper risk management systems with respect to investment.

Insurers shall build an adequate expertise in equity research by establishing a dedicated
equity research department, commensurate with the scale of their operations.

Insurers shall ensure robust internal credit rating systems which shall also include building
up of a system of regular (quarterly or half-yearly) tracking of the financial position of the
issuer to ensure continuous monitoring of the rating migration of the issuers/issues.

Insurers shall settle the transactions in securities and derivatives as per procedure
prescribed by the concerned regulator.

When a security is rated by two rating agencies, lowest rating of the two is to be considered
for treating security as “approved” or “other investment”. When a security is rated by three
rating agencies the second least rating is to be considered for treating security as
“approved” “other investment”.

vii. Principal Officer for filing the returns shall be CEO of the insurer.
viii. Investment Category Codes and Valuation Methodology

i. Exhaustive list of Category Codes are provided in Annexure — 1
ii. Valuation methodology for Investment Categories are provided in Annexure - 2
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Section - I: Conditions applicable for Specific Categories of Investments

1.1 Equity

a.

Investment in Equity Shares through Initial Public Offering (IPO)

Equity shares offered through IPO, including Offer for Sale, which satisfy ALL of the following
criteria shall be part of “Approved Investments”

1.
2.

Equity Shares are being “listed” through IPO

The company issuing shares through IPO shall belong to a financially sound Group with good
performance record, for which the Insurer’s Board shall lay down the criteria.

Performance track record of the company including Earnings and Dividend record, Dividend
Criteria as specified in the Regulations is satisfied as “unlisted” company, in the case of
Investee Companies, formed out of ‘de-merger’ of a parent company, issuing shares through
IPO, the performance track record would apply with reference to the parent company.

The Investment in Equity Shares should comply with prudential and exposure norms as
prescribed in Regulations and, “actively traded” and “liquid instrument” conditions should be
satisfied within 3 months from the date of listing. (Actively traded securities are those securities
which are not classified as thinly traded as specified by SEBI)

Any investment made in IPOs, which do not satisfy the above conditions, shall fall under ‘Other
Investments’
Limit for Investment in IPO

The maximum bid amount (and not Margin Money) to be invested in IPO shall be the least of
the following:

10% of Subscribed Capital (Face Value) of the Investee Company (including the proposed
Equity issue through IPO) or

10% of the ‘Fund’ (Fund shall refer to all Investments under management taken together) of a
Life Insurer or 10% of the Investment Assets of a General Insurer as the case may be.
Classification of Investments of Investee Company formed out of Demerger.

Dividend criteria as stipulated in the Regulations applicable to the Demerged Company shall
be reckoned for the purpose of classification of investment, in equity shares and preference

shares in “Resulting Investee Company(s) as “Approved” or “Other Investment” for initial three
financial years.

d. Securities Lending and Borrowing (SLB) framework

Insurers are permitted to participate in Securities Lending and Borrowing (SLB) scheme
subject to the following:
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1.

The SLB Framework should be governed by the SEBI cir no. MRD/DoP/SE/Dep/Cir — 14/2007
Dt. 20" Dec, 2007 as amended from time to time. Insurers are permitted to lend through SLB
Framework in Equities ONLY.

The Insurer has to adhere to the Client level and Participant level position limits prescribed by
SEBI and stock exchange while undertaking SLB. Insurer can only lend securities to the extent
of not more than 10% quantity of those “scrips” of that particular fund(s). These prescribed
limits shall be adhered at the time of lending.

Securities lent in SLB would not be treated as creating encumbrance, charge, hypothecation
or lien on such securities.

1.2 Repo, Reverse Repo in Government Securities and Corporate Debt Securities

Insurers can undertake Repo transactions in Government Securities and Corporate Debt
Securities subject to the provisions of Insurance Act, 1938 and the following conditions:

1.

In case of Life Insurers, the exposure to reverse repo transactions in Corporate Debt
Securities at any point of time shall not exceed 10% of all funds taken together. Further, at
individual Segregated Fund level [SFIN], the exposure should not exceed 10% of such fund
size [SFIN]. Life Insurers cannot participate in repo transactions.

In case of General Insurers, the exposure to Reverse Repo and Repo transactions in both
Government Securities as well as Corporate Bond Securities (taken together) shall not exceed
10% of Investment Assets of the Insurer.

Reverse Repo transaction in Govt. Securities will be treated at par with TREPS transactions
and the 10% Investment limit, mentioned in points 1 and 2 above, shall not apply to Reverse
Repo transaction in Govt. Securities.

The tenor of Repo transactions shall not exceed a period of six months. While entering into
such repo transaction, prior approval of the Investment Committee is mandatory.

The underlying corporate debt security shall be listed and have a rating of not less than AA or
equivalent.

NO Reverse Repo/Repo transactions in Corporate Debt Securities shall be made between the
Insurer and entities belonging to its promoter group.

The Securities held as collateral in a Reverse Repo, shall not form part of exposure calculations
specified under Regulations. In Reverse Repo transaction, the exposure shall be on the
counterparty.

At any point of time these transactions shall be in compliance with pattern specified in the
Regulations, as amended from time to time and comply with other Guidelines, Circulars issued
there under.
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1.3 Mutual funds (incl. Exchange Traded Funds - ETFs)

a.

Investment in Equity Exchange traded funds

Insurers can invest in Equity ETFs, as a part of Mutual Fund exposure, subject to the following
conditions:

b.

Only passively managed schemes of the Mutual Funds which are registered with SEBI and
governed by SEBI (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, as amended from time to time are
eligible. These schemes should be benchmarked and be tracked based on a publicly available
Index.

The total expense ratio shall not exceed 0.50%.

At least 85% securities in the equity basket shall be compliant with respect to dividend
distribution norms as per Regulations to qualify as a part of “Approved Investment”.

Insurers are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of Sec. 27E of the Insurance
Act, 1938 and shall invest only in ETFs which invest in domestic equities.

These instruments shall be listed on at least one Stock Exchange which has nationwide
connectivity terminals.

In case, the dividend criteria mentioned under point no. 3 is not met by the ETF, such
investment shall be automatically re-classified as ‘Other Investment’ category.

These Investments shall be governed by the exposure norms applicable for Investment in
Mutual Funds by Insurers.

Exposure to stocks through ETF shall not be reckoned for the overall exposure norms
prescribed for Individual stocks specified in the Regulations as amended from time to time.

Investment in GILT exchange traded funds (GILT-ETF)

Insurers can invest GILT-ETFs as part of “Approved Investments” which fulfil all the conditions
prescribed for investment in Mutual Funds under Gilt/G Sec./Liquid categories and as a part of
Mutual Fund exposure.

1.

The GILT-ETFs shall be issued and managed by the Mutual Funds registered under SEBI
(Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, as amended from time to time.

The object of the GILT-ETFs shall be to invest in a basket of Govt. Securities Actively
Traded in the market or constituents of a publicly available index.

The minimum investment by the Insurer shall not be less than Creation Unit Size and shall not
be reduced, at any time below Creation Unit Size and value of Creation Unit Size. Such
investment at the time of investment, shall not be more than Rs.50 lakh.

The Overall Expense Ratio shall not exceed 0.50%.

Insurers are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of Sec. 27E of the Insurance
Act, 1938 and shall ensure that the GILT-ETFs invest only in Domestic Govt. Securities.
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The GILT-ETFs shall be treated at par with GILT/G-SEC Mutual funds and shall adhere to
exposure norms applicable to “Investment in Mutual Funds (MFs) by Insurers”.

Investment in Mutual fund

Investment in Gilt, G Sec and Liquid Mutual Funds would form part of ‘Approved Investments’
as per guidelines listed below. Hence any Investment made in Debt and Income Mutual Funds,
including those which partly invest in Government Securities and Money Market instruments,
will fall under ‘Other Investments’, which in turn shall be subject to the limits prescribed in the
guidelines issued under Regulations as amended from time to time, along with the norms
mentioned below.

The investment shall be restricted to schemes of Mutual Funds comprising of Liquid Funds,
Gilt, G Sec or Debt and the same shall be governed by the following norms:

a) The Mutual Fund should be registered with SEBI and be governed by SEBI (Mutual Funds)
Regulations, 1996.

b) Gilt/ G Sec/ Liquid MFs shall have the same meaning as under SEBI Regulations.

c) The insurer shall, as a part of Investment Policy, cover the required diversification among
various Mutual Funds to minimize risk.

Where, the schemes of mutual funds in which investment is made, is managed by an
Investment Manager who is under the direct or indirect management or control of the Insurer
or its promoter, the same shall not exceed, in the case of Life Insurer, 3% of Life Fund, Pension,
Annuity & Group Funds and 5% of Unit Linked Fund and in the case of General Insurers, not
more than 5% of Investment Assets.

The investment in Gilt / G Sec / Liquid /Debt/ Income Mutual Funds (all taken together) at any
point of time, shall be as under:

Investment Assets as per clause 8 of Percentage to Investment
the Schedule Ill of Regulations Assets

Less than Rs.50,000 Cr 10%

More than Rs. 50000 Crores and Less 2%

than Rs.250000 Crores

More than Rs. 250000 Crores 5%

The above limits in the case of Life Insures will apply to the overall level and at SFIN Level the
maximum exposure shall not exceed 15%.

At any point of time, investment in any single Mutual Fund shall not exceed 20% of the total
investments in Mutual Funds (all taken together). The threshold limit of 20% for each fund shall
include investments in Exchange Traded Funds(ETFs) also. Passive breaches in the threshold
limit of 20% in any single Mutual Fund shall be corrected within 30 days of breach.
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d. Investment in Debt ETFs with CPSE Bonds as underlying

Debt ETFs with underlying Debt Securities of Central Public Sector Enterprises (CPSESs) [herein
after referred to as Debt ETFs] are eligible class of Investment, and as a part of “Mutual Fund”
exposure.

All Exposure and Prudential Norms applicable for investments in Mutual Funds covered under this
Para 1.3 shall apply for investment made in Debt ETFs, in addition to the following conditions:

1. The Debt ETFs shall be issued by Mutual Funds registered with SEBI and governed by SEBI
(Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, as amended from time to time.

2. The Debt ETF shall invest in a basket of Securities issued by CPSEs which are part of
constituents’ of a publicly available index.

3. The minimum investment by the Insurer shall not be less than Creation Unit size and it shall
not be reduced to below Creation Unit Size.

4. “All” Securities in the Index shall be complied with rating criteria as per clause 2 of Schedule
Il of Regulations, for it to be treated as part of “Approved Investment”. If any of the underlying
securities gets downgraded below “AA”, the Debt ETF shall be automatically reclassified under
“Other Investment”.

1.4 Investmentin Asset backed securities, Pass Through Certificates (PTCs) and Security
Receipts (SRs)

1. Insurers are permitted to invest in Asset Backed Securities (ABS) / Pass Through Certificates

(PTCs) with underlying Housing and / or Infrastructure assets [as defined under Regulations].

2. Investment in Asset Backed Securities (ABS) / Pass Through Certificates (PTCs) / Security
Receipts (SRs) with underlying Housing and / or Infrastructure Assets, shall form part of
“Approved Investments”, subject to following exposure and prudential norms:

a) ABS/PTC /SR must be rated not less than AAA or equivalent by a Credit Rating Agency,
registered under SEBI (Credit Rating Agencies) Regulations, 1999

b) The investment in ABS / PTC / SR with underlying Housing and / or Infrastructure assets
shall at ‘all times’ not exceed 10% of respective fund(s) in the case of Life Insurers and not
more than 5% of Investment Assets in the case of General Insurers

3. Ifthe ABS /PTC / SR with underlying Housing and / or Infrastructure assets are downgraded
below AAA such investment shall be automatically be re-classified as “Other Investments”.

4. In case the cash-flows from such instrument are not received on due dates, the investment in
such assets shall be automatically be re-classified as “Other Investments” from such date for
reporting in FORM 3A (Part A) / FORM 3B of Regulations.
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5.

15
1.

The investments in securitized assets, both under Approved and Other Investments, taken
together shall not exceed 10% of respective fund size in the case of Life Insurers and not more
than 5% of Investment Assets in the case of General Insurers.

The Insurer, as a part of risk management, shall split the investment in ABS, PTCs and SRs
over different issuers and tenures.

All guidelines of Classification, Income Recognition and Valuation of Assets issued by the
Authority shall be applicable to these investments.

Investment in Alternative Investment Fund (AIF)
Investments in Category | and Il AIF (within SEBI Regulations) are permitted as a part of “Other
Investments”. Insurers are permitted to invest in Category | AlFs which is an Infrastructure
Fund, SME Fund, Venture Capital Fund and Social Venture Fund as defined in SEBI AIF
Regulations. Insurers are permitted to invest in a Category Il AlFs which invests a minimum
of 51% of the funds in the Infrastructure entities or SME entities or Venture Capital undertakings
or Social Venture entities in aggregate.

All restrictions under Insurance Act, 1938 and Regulations regarding investing of funds outside
India, promoter group, combined exposure limits in venture capital funds and AlFs under the
Other Investments category will continue to apply.

Insurers are not permitted to invest in any scheme of AlFs that have a priority distribution model
wherein such AlFs have adopted a distribution waterfall in such a way that may lead to share
of losses more than pro-rata to their holding, compared to other investors belonging to the
same.

(a) No investment is permitted into AlFs which undertake leverage or borrowing other than to
meet day-to-day operational requirements and as permitted under SEBI (Alternative
Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012.

(b) Insurer shall invest only into Fund of Funds (FoF) which comply requirement of Section 27E
of the Insurance Act, 1938.

(c) Insurer shall ensure compliance with Section 27E by a clause in the Fund Offer Documents
executed by FoF to restrain such FoF investing into AlIFs which invest in overseas
companies/funds.

(d) No Insurer shall invest in an AlF, which in turn has exposure to a FoF, in which the Insurer
has taken an exposure.

(e) The Insurer on a quarterly basis, obtain a certificate issued by the Concurrent Auditor on
the compliance of the above conditions and file the same along with quarterly periodical
returns.
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5. Insurers should ensure that AlFs do not invest in securities of companies incorporated outside
India to comply with the provisions of Section 27E of the Insurance Act, 1938.

6. The sponsor of such Alternative Investment Fund should not be from the promoter group of
the Insurer. The Fund shall not be managed by an Investment Manager who is either directly
or indirectly controlled or managed by the Insurer or its promoters.

7. Investment in the AIF and investments in Venture Funds shall be subject to the following
exposure norms:

Overall Exposure to Exposure to single
Type of Insurer VFs &AlFs AIE/Venture Fund
(all taken together)

(@) (b) (€)
Life Insurer 3% of respective Fund 10% of AIF /VF size

or

20% of Overall Exposure as
per (b), whichever is lower.

The above ‘10%Limit shall be
read as ‘20%  in case of
Infrastructure Fund

General Insurer 5% of Investment Assets 10% of AIF /VF size

or
20% of Overall Exposure as
per (b), whichever is lower.

The above ‘“10%’ Limit shall be
read as ‘20%’ in case of
Infrastructure Fund

1.6 Debt Securities issued by Banks
a. Investment in Perpetual Debt Instruments of Bank’s Tier-| Capital and Debt instruments
of Upper Tier-ll capital
The Reserve Bank of India [vide Master Circular DBOD.No.BP.BC.57/21.01.002/2005-2006 Dt.
25th Jan, 2006] has allowed banks to raise Capital through issue of Hybrid Instruments as under
for augmenting Capital Adequacy Norms:
i. Innovative Perpetual Debt Instruments for inclusion as Tier 1 Capital
ii. Debt Capital Instruments eligible for inclusion as Upper Tier 2 Capital
iii. Perpetual Non-Cumulative Preference Shares for inclusion as Tier 1 Capital; and
iv. Redeemable Cumulative Preference Shares eligible for inclusion as Tier 2 Capital

The above Instruments shall be part of ‘Approved Investments’, subject to the following conditions:
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b.

The Debt Instrument issued by Banks in Private Sector shall be rated not less than ‘AAA’ and
those issued by Banks in Public Sector shall have rating not less than ‘AA’ by an independent
Rating Agency, registered under SEBI.

Preference shares issued by the Banks shall satisfy the conditions specified under clause 2(1)
of Regulations.

All Exposure norms as specified in Clause 8 Regulations shall apply to these Hybrid Debt
Instruments / Preference Shares Issued by the Banks.

Where the Hybrid Debt Instrument is downgraded below ‘AAA’, in the case of Private Sector
banks and (below AA in the case of Public Sector Banks) such investments shall be re-
classified as ‘Other Investments’ and reported in FORM 2 of Regulations.

In case the Interest on the Instrument is not serviced on due dates, the Investment in such
Hybrid instruments shall be automatically re-classified as ‘Other Investments’ from such date
and reported in FORM 3A (Part A) or FORM 3B (Part A) of Regulations in respect of Life and
General Insurers respectively.

All guidelines for Classification, Income Recognition and Valuation of Assets issued by RBI
shall be applicable for these Investments.

Bank’s Capital Instruments under Basel lll - Investment by Insurers

Insurers can invest in the following instruments, issued by Domestic Banks as Tier Il Capital,
prescribed under Basel Ill framework, as part of ‘Approved Investments’ under Regulations,
subject to conditions mentioned below:

i. Debt Capital Instruments (DCI)
ii. Redeemable Non-Cumulative Preference Shares (RNCPS)
iii. Redeemable Cumulative Preference Shares (RCPS)

The Debt Instruments issued by Banks shall be rated not less than ‘AA’ by an independent
Rating Agency, registered under SEBI.

Where the Instruments are downgraded below ‘AA’, such investments shall be automatically
re-classified as ‘Other Investments’

Preference shares issued by the Banks shall satisfy the conditions prescribed in Clause 2(1)
Regulations.

In case the Interest on the Instrument is not serviced on due date, the Investment in such
instruments shall be automatically re-classified as ‘Other Investments’ from such date of
reporting to the Authority.

All Exposure norms prescribed in Clause 8 of Regulations shall apply to these
Instruments/Preference Shares Issued by Banks.

Investments in these instruments shall be classified under ‘Financial and Insurance Activities’
sector (BFSI).
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C.

Long term Bonds by Banks — Financing of Infrastructure and Affordable Housing

Investment in Long Term Bonds issued by Banks, for financing “Infrastructure and Affordable
Housing” shall be reckoned for Insurers mandatory investment in ‘Infrastructure & Housing sector’
subject to the following conditions:

1.

All Exposure norms i.e. Single Investee, Group and Industry exposures etc. as specified in
Clause 8 of Regulations shall continue to apply.

Minimum rating requirements to qualify as ‘Approved Investment’ shall be as per extant
Investment Regulations.

Investment in “Additional Tier 1 (Basel lll Compliant) Perpetual Bonds” [AT1 Bonds]
Insurers can invest in Additional Tier 1 (Basel Ill Compliant) Perpetual Bonds [AT1 Bonds],
which confirm to the following:

The rating of AT1 Bonds shall be not less than “AA”, at the time of investment.

The Offer document, in the case of IPOs of AT1 Bonds, shall have a provision for listing in at
least one of the Exchanges.

The AT1 Bonds shall be forming part of “Equity”. The aggregate value of AT1 Bonds held in a
particular Bank, at any point of time, shall not exceed 10% of the total outstanding AT1 Bonds,
of that particular Bank.

The Common Equity Tier | Capital (CET) including Capital Conservation Buffer, of the issuer
Bank shall be more than 9.0% at the time of investment in AT1 Bonds of such Bank.

a. The issuer bank should not have cancelled/deferred any coupon payment on its debt
instruments including AT1 bonds in the preceding three financial years.

b. The issuer bank shall have reported net profit after tax for the preceding two years and
having a positive accumulated profit as per the latest audited balance sheet.

c. The issuer bank has not reported any divergence in the asset classification and provisioning,
identified by RBI, in its latest audited balance sheet.

No investment shall be done in AT1 Bonds, where the issuer Bank is either under the Promoter
Group of Insurer or Corporate Agent of the Insurer.

1.7 Sovereign Green Bonds (SGrBs) — Categorisation

With the objective of de-concentration and diversification of the infrastructure investment
portfolio of the insurers and from the perspective of participation in Environmental, Social and
Governance (ESG) initiatives and for proactive participation in sustainable development and in
preventing environment degradation, insurers are encouraged to consider investing in
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1.

a.

A.

Sovereign Green Bonds. Investment in Sovereign Green Bonds shall be treated as “Investment
in Infrastructure”.

8 Derivatives

Exposure to Interest Rate Derivatives
Financial Derivatives are permitted to “hedge” Interest Rate Risk of Forecasted Transactions; in
accordance with the guidelines issued by the Authority under Clause 13 of Regulations.
Accordingly, Insurers can enter Forward Rate Agreements (FRAS), Interest Rate Swaps (IRS),
Exchange Traded Interest Rate Futures (IRF) to “hedge” Interest Rate risk on forecasted
transactions, for Life, Pension & General Annuity Business and General Insurance Business.

Interest Rate Derivatives are not permitted for ULIP Business

Insurers are allowed as user with following types of Rupee Interest Rate Derivatives to the
extent permitted, and in accordance with these guidelines.
i. Forward Rate Agreements (FRAS);

ii. Interest Rate Swaps (IRS); and
iii. Exchange Traded Interest Rate Futures (IRF)

Participants can undertake different types of plain vanilla FRAS/IRS. IRS having
explicit/implicit options features are prohibited. It is to be noted that FRAs and IRS are
Over-the-counter (OTC) contracts.

. RBI Circulars & Guidelines on Rupee Interest Rate Derivatives
Insurers are required to adhere to the following RBI Circular / Guidelines, as amended from
time to time, on Rupee Interest Rate Derivatives:

iv. IDMC:MSRD.4801/06.01.03/2002-03 Dt 3'4Jun, 2003
v. RBI/FMRD/2021-22/84 FMRD.FMD.07/02.03.247/2021-22 September 16, 2021

Also, Insurers shall comply with circulars issued and amended from time to time, by Securities
and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) on Rupee Interest Rate Derivatives

Permitted Purpose for Exposure to Interest Rate Derivatives
Hedging for forecasted transactions

i. Reinvestment of maturity proceeds of existing fixed income investments;
ii. Investment of interest income receivable;

iii. Expected policy premium income receivable on the Insurance Contracts which are
already underwritten in Life and Pension & Annuity business in case of Life Insurers and
General Insurance business in case of General Insurers.
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The overriding principle of any use of the above listed derivatives is that they must be used
only for hedging to reduce interest rate risk. The Insurer should have a system to clearly track
the Interest rate risk.

To consider expected policy premium income for hedging, Insurers shall document and justify
persistency assumptions as part of the hedge program development process. Assumption
documentation and justification shall indicate the joint review and approval of both Appointed
Actuary and CRO under the oversight of the Insurer's Board (for example, via the Risk
Management Committee/Asset Liability Management (ALM)Committee).

. Regulatory Exposure and Prudential Limits
i.  Counter parties shall necessarily be Commercial Banks and Primary Dealers (PDs) as
permitted by RBI for FRAs and IRS.

ii. Insurers dealing in FRAs and IRS have to arrive at the credit equivalent amount for the
purposes of reckoning exposure to counter-party.

For the purpose of exposure norms, Insurers shall compute their credit exposures, arising on
account of Interest rate derivative transactions using the Current Exposure Method (CEM) as
detailed below:

e The Credit Equivalent Amount of a market related off-balance sheet transaction calculated
using the current exposure method is the sum of current credit exposure and potential
future credit exposure of these contracts.

e Current credit exposure is defined as the sum of the gross positive mark-to-market value
of these contracts. The Current Exposure Method requires periodical (at agreed periodicity)
calculation of the current credit exposure by marking these contracts to market, thus
capturing the current credit exposure.

e Potential future credit exposure is determined by multiplying the notional principal amount
of each of these contracts irrespective of whether the contract has a zero, positive or
negative mark-to-market value by the relevant add-on factor indicated below according to
the nature and residual maturity of the instrument.

Credit Conversion Factors

Notional principal amount of each FRA/IRS shall be multiplied with the following conversion
factor:

Residual Maturity Conversion Factor per year
One year or less 0.5 per cent
Over One year to five year 1.0 per cent
Over five years 3.0 per cent
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E.

[Eg: If IRS of Rs. 10 crores with maturity of 4 years is entered into by the Insurance company
with the counter party A, then the potential future credit exposure = 10 x 3.5% = Rs. 0.35crore
(i.e. 3.5% = 0.5% for First year + 1% for next each year for 3 years as the duration is 4 years)]

The Credit Equivalent Amount of the FRA/IRS shall be used for reckoning counter party credit
exposure for the purposes of the Regulations as amended from time to time.

For exchange traded IRFs, the industry exposure limit is calculated against the Central
Counter Party i.e. Clearing Corporation on the basis of above Credit Equivalent Amount.

Exposure limits pertaining to single Issuer, Group, Promoter Group and Industry will be
applicable for the exposure through FRA and IRS contracts. Counter party rating shall be
considered for calculating pattern of investments. The limits shall be reported in the remarks
column of the respective quarterly returns.

A Participant’s dealing in Interest Rate derivatives under these guidelines shall in aggregate
not exceed an outstanding notional principal amount equivalent to 100% of the book value
of the fixed income investments of the Participant under the Policyholders’ Fund and the
Shareholders’ Funds taken together. Life Insurers shall normally adhere to the 100% limits
based on respective funds i.e. Life and P&A Fund. But where, in the case of Funds, the book
value of the existing investments is lower than the expected premiums on the underwritten
insurance contracts, the Insurer can utilize the exposure limit available in other funds within
the overall 100% limit, provided the Board of the Insurer specifically approves, prior to
entering into such derivative contract. The MTM gain/loss arising out of the effective hedge
shall be borne by the respective fund only.

If reinvestment of maturity proceeds of the existing investments/ interest income receivable
on investments is hedged, such investments shall be held till maturity. If unavoidable need
arises to liquidate instrument to meet the ALM, the hedge on such instrument has to be
unwound simultaneously after obtaining specific approval from Investment Committee (IC).
IC shall grant such approval after due recording of the reasons, provided the charges for
unwinding the derivative contract is borne by the Shareholder.

Insurers shall ensure all documentation requirements are completed in all aspects as per RBI
guidelines and documentation prescribed by ISDA (International Swaps and Derivative
Association). Further, to settle the mark to market profits/losses and maintenance of collateral,
two-way CSA (Credit Support Annex - an agreement between counterparties on the types of
collateral and posting mechanism) agreements shall be mandatory to mitigate counterparty
risk. All derivative contracts shall be subject to conditions mentioned in Indian laws &
Jurisdiction of Indian courts and shall be consistent with Regulations / Circulars /
Guidelines issued in this regard. Suitable clauses shall be incorporated to comply with the
Insurance Act, 1938, Regulations, SEBI Regulations, RBI Guidelines applicable. Insurers shall
necessarily have power to terminate the contract as and when desired.
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F. Accounting of Interest Rate Derivatives shall be as per applicable Accounting Standards as
amended from time to time. The presentation in the financial statements and disclosures shall
be governed by applicable Accounting Standards. Further, the Insurer shall disclose the
following in the Financial statements:

1.

a r D

Description of Participant’s financial risk management objective and policies, in
particular its policy for hedging forecasted transactions.

Hedging strategy.
Accounting Policy for Derivatives.
Nature and terms of outstanding Interest Rate derivative contracts.

Quantification of the losses which would be incurred if counter-parties failed to fulfil their
obligation under the outstanding Interest Rate derivative contracts.

. Internal Risk Management Policy & Processes, Exposure & Prudential Limits

Each participant should, before taking exposure to Interest Rate derivatives, frame detailed
pre-approved risk management policy by the Board of Insurer, which shall cover the following
minimum:

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.
Xii.

Xiii.

Insurer’s overall appetite for taking risk and ensure that it is consistent with its strategic
objectives, capital strength etc.

Define the approved derivatives products and the authorized derivatives activities.

provide for sufficient staff resources and other resources to enable the approved
derivatives activities to be conducted in a prudent manner;

ensure appropriate structure and staffing for the key risk control functions;
establish management responsibilities;

identify the various types of risk faced by the Insurer and establish a clear and
comprehensive set of limits to control these;

establish risk measurement methodologies which are consistent with the nature and
scale of the derivatives activities;

require stress testing of risk positions;

detail the type and frequency of reports which are to be made to the board (or
committees of the board);

Applicable VAR limits.
Circumstances for termination and closure of the contract.
accounting treatment of the proposed derivatives in the company, and

Solvency / capital impact due to the use of derivatives.
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The implementation of the policy shall be the responsibility of the Investment committee (IC)
under the oversight of Insurer’s Board. The Insurer shall intimate the Authority, prior to taking
any derivative exposure, as per the Guidelines issued.

H. Suitability and Appropriateness Policy

The Board shall ensure that the Rupee Interest Rate Derivatives address the need of the portfolio
handled by the Insurer and are clearly mapped to Products of the Insurer. The Board shall confirm
the suitability and appropriateness as evaluated in terms of clause 5.1.3 of RBI/FMRD/2021-22/84
FMRD.FMD.07/02.03.247/2021-22 Dt.16" September, 2021 Master Direction- Reserve Bank of
India (Market-makers in OTC Derivatives) Directions, 2021 as amended from time to time.

I. Corporate Governance

In taking exposure to potentially complex products the Board and the senior management of
insurer should take note of the nature of the risk undertaken, complexities involved, stress levels
etc. Insurers shall at least once in a Quarter, report their Derivative Positions / Transactions and
Policy / Limits compliance to Risk Management Committees under the Board of the Insurer. At
periodical intervals (at least once in an year), the Board of Directors shall review the contracts
undertaken and satisfy themselves that adequate risk measurement, management policy and
procedures for interest rate risk with fixed income derivative contracts permitted in these
guidelines, have been established and are functional.

J. Chief Risk Officer (CRO) Role & Responsibilities

The CRO, shall be responsible for monitoring / reporting of all aspects of “each” derivative program

and shall report compliance to the Asset Liability Management Committee / Risk Management

Committee of the Board and also to the Board of the Insurer. Where any particular hedging

program is not in compliance with the Circular / Guidelines issued in this regard, the CRO shall

identify the same and shall be responsible to bring the program to compliance.

b. Exposure to Credit Default Swaps

1. The Reserve Bank of India, vide notification No. RBI/2021-22/88 FMRD.DIRD.
10/14.03.004/2021-22 dated February 10, 2022 has issued the ‘Master Direction — Reserve
Bank of India (Credit Derivatives) Directions, 2022’ effective from 10" February, 2022. The
said guidelines inter alia, provide for insurer’s participation as protection buyer and seller for
Credit Default Swaps in OTC market.

2. Insurers are allowed only as “Users” (protection buyers) of CDS subject to the following:

a. The CDS are permitted as a “hedge” to manage the Credit Risk covering the credit event.
The category of the investment will not change pursuant to buying CDS on such underlying.

b. CDS will be allowed only on listed corporate bonds as reference obligations. CDS can also
be bought on unlisted but rated bonds of Infrastructure companies. Besides, unlisted /
unrated bonds issued by the SPVs set up by the infrastructure companies are also eligible
as reference obligation as permitted in the RBI Master Direction Dt. 10" February, 2022.
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3.

c. On purchase of protection, the exposure with respect to reference entity shall shift to

“Protection Seller” to the extent of “Protection Purchased” within Clause 8 of the
Regulations, and such exposure shall form part of BFSI Sector, under Industry Sector
Exposure.

d. CDS shall not be purchased:

On Reference Asset belonging to the promoter group and NO CDS transaction shall be
made between entities belonging to Promoter Group.

On The obligations such as asset-backed securities/mortgage-backed securities,
convertible bonds and bonds with call/put options, CLOs, CDOs or any other pool of
assets/loans.

Insurers shall comply with all other norms pertaining to the eligibility norms for the counter party
to the User, reference obligation, requirement of underlying, conditions while exiting the CDS
transactions by Users, Credit events, settlement methodologies, documentation,
pricing/valuation methodologies, other requirements and accounting norms etc. as prescribed
by RBI vide Master Direction Dt. 10" February,2022.

1.9 Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT) and Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvIT):

a) Investment in Units of “Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT) & Infrastructure
Investment Trusts (InviT)”

Insurers can invest in Units of Listed REITs / Listed InviTs which conform to the

following:

The REIT / InvIT rated not less than “AA” shall form part of Approved Investments.
REIT / InvIT rated less than AA shall form part of Other Investments.

The Investments in units of InviTs and REITs shall not exceed 3% of total fund size of
the Insurer at any point of time.

No Insurer shall invest more than 5% of the Units issued by a single REIT / InvIT
(including the current issue).

No investment shall be made in REIT /InvIT where the Sponsor is under the Promoter
Group of the Insurer.

Investment in Units of InvIT will form part of “Infrastructure Investments”, for the
purpose of Pattern of Investments under Regulations

Investment in Units of REIT will form part of Investment Property as per Note VI to the
Clause 8 of Regulations.

The Investment in Units of REIT / InvITs shall be valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). Where Market Quote is not available for the
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last 30 days, the Units shall be valued as per the latest NAV (not more than 6 months
old) of the Units published by the trust.

b) Investments in Debt Securities of “Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT) &
Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvIT)

Insurers can invest in “Debt Securities” issued by listed InvITs / REITs which conform to the

following:

1.10

1.

10.

11.

The debt Instruments shall be issued by listed InviTs / REITs and rated “AAA” at the time
of Investment.

The public holding in the InvIT / REIT shall not be less 30% of the total outstanding units
of the InvIT / REIT at the time of Investment.

The Debt Instruments of InvIT / REIT shall be rated and not less than “AA” as a part of
Approved Investments.

Debt Instruments of InviT / REITs rated and downgraded below “AA” shall form part of
Other Investments.

No Insurer shall invest more than 20% of the outstanding debt instruments (including the
current issue) in a single InvIT / REIT.

The investment in Debt Instruments of REITs shall not exceed 3% of total fund size of
the insurer at any point of time.

No investment shall be made in Debt instruments of an InvIT / REIT where the Sponsor
is under the Promoter Group of the Insurer.

Group shall have the meaning as defined under Clause 1(4) of Regulations.
Investment in Debt Instruments of InvIT will form part “Infrastructure Investments”.

Investment in Debt Instruments of REIT will form part of industry group “Real Estate
Activities” under NIC Industry Classification.

The Investment in Debt Securities of InvITs / REITs shall be valued either as per FIMMDA
or at applicable market yield rates published by Subsidiary/Holding Company of any
Rating Agency registered with SEBI.

Credit Rating- Applicable for Infrastructure Investments

Insurers to classify Infrastructure investments, issued by Infrastructure Companies, rated not
less than “A” along with an Expected Loss Rating of “EL1” as part of “Approved Investment”
and should be listed under Category Code “IELB”. Further, any downgrade of Infrastructure
Investment, below “A” or “EL1”, needs to be re-classified as part of “Other Investments” and
reported under Category Code “IOEL”. The valuation of the above investments, shall be
valued “either as per FIMMDA or at applicable market yield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding Company of any Rating Agency registered with SEBI.
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1.11

1.12

Investments in HDFC Ltd.
The bonds/debentures held by the insurers in the HDFC Ltd on the date of announcement of
the merger of HDFC Ltd. with HDFC Bank i.e.4th April, 2022 under the category “Housing
and Infrastructure” shall be treated as investments in the said category till the maturity of
respective bonds of HDFC Ltd.

Investments in National Bank for Financing Infrastructure and Development
(NaBFID).
As the NaBFID is established as Development Financial Institution to support the
development of long-term infrastructure financing, the exposure limit for the investments in
this entity will be considered in line with the limits prescribed for Public Limited Infrastructure
Investee Company under note Il of clause 8 of the Regulations.

Section-ll: Risk Management and Concurrent Audit

b.1

Investment Risk Management Systems and Process

a. General
1. Front, Mid & Back Office Operations

i. Insurer with Assets under Management (AUM) in excess of Rs.500 Crore shall ensure
separate personnel acting as fund manager and dealer.

i. The Investment System (Application Software) should have separate modules for
Front, Mid and Back Office with separate login.

iii. Data transfer from Front Office to Back Office should be through the System, on Real
time basis.

iv. The Insurer may have multiple Data Entry Systems, but all such Systems should be
seamlessly integrated without manual intervention.

v. The Front Office shall report through the Chief Investment Officer (CIO) to the Chief
Executive Officer (CEO). With effect from 1%t October,2024, the Mid Office shall report
to a Key Management Person (who shall not be CIO or CFO) who reports to CEO. Back
Office shall report to CFO who shall independently report to the CEO. CIO and Head
of Mid Office and CFO shall be independent personnel with separate login.

vi. CRO shall be responsible for framing the Risk policy and through CEO shall report to
the Risk Management Committee of the Insurer’s Board.

vii. The Investment Application should have clear segregation (at database level) between
Front, Mid and Back Office.
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2. Employee Dealing Guidelines
The Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) followed by the Insurer shall clearly specify

the Guidelines to be adhered by employees in the Front, Mid and Back Office for
personal investments. The Internal / Concurrent Auditor shall report on compliance to
adherence to this requirement.

3. Maker Checker Process
Insurer should have the procedure of Maker / Checker mapped in their Standard

Operating Procedure / Operations Manual of Investment Operations. The Internal /
Concurrent Auditor shall comment on such practice in his report.

4. Audit Trail at Data Entry Points
The Audit trail should be available at all data entry points including the Checker /

Authorizer level.

5. Business Continuity Process (BCP)
To ensure Business continuity, the Insurer should have an Off-site Back-up of Data in

a City falling under a different Seismic Zone, either on his own or through a Service
Provider. Further, the Insurer / service provider (if outsourced) is required to have the
necessary infrastructure for Mission Critical Systems to address at least the following:

1. Calculation of daily NAV (Fund wise)

2. Redemption processing.

b. Front Office
1. Segregation of Fund Manager / Dealer

i. Investment Department should have documented the segregation of Fund Managers
and Dealers through Authority Matrix as a part of its ‘Standard Operating Procedure’.

ii. The Insurer should have documented the Access Controls and Authorization process
for Orders and Deal execution.

iii. The Dealing Room should have a Voice Recorder and procedure for maintaining the
recorded conversation and their disposal including procedure like no mobile phone
usage in dealing rooms and other best practices.

2. Investment in Investee / Group Company / Industry Sector
System based checks should be in place for investments in an Investee Company,

Group, Promoter Group and Industry Sector. The system should signal when the
Internal / Regulatory limits are nearly reached PRIOR to taking such exposure and
making actual investment.
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3. Intra Fund Transfer

There can be no transfer of securities:
a. Between Life fund, Pension Fund and ULIP fund(s).

b. Within Life Fund and Pension fund, systems should not allow any transfer between
Par and Non-Par funds.

c. Within Pension funds, the system should not permit any transfer between Individual
and Group funds.

The Cut Off time shall be clearly specified in the SOP. Such cut off time shall remain
consistent and cannot be changed without the prior approval of the Board of the Insurer.

The intra fund transfer should be like any other Market deal and the same needs to be
carried out at the Market rate at the cut off time.

c. Mid Office
1. Market Risk

The system should be capable of computing various portfolio returns.
Exposure limits monitoring and Exception Reporting shall be done by the Mid Office

2. Credit Risk

The Investment System should capture Instrument Ratings to auto generate FORM 2
(Statement of Downgraded Investments)

System should automatically monitor various Regulatory limits of Instrument level,
Group level, Promoter Group level and Industry Sector level exposure.

The System should have the ability to track changes in ratings over a period & generate
appropriate alerts, along with ability to classify investment between Approved and
Other Investments.

The Insurer should conduct periodic credit reviews for all companies in the portfolio.
The periodicity should be clearly mentioned in the Investment Policy which shall not be
more than a year.

The Insurer is required to keep a track of movement of Securities between Approved
and Other Investments Status, as a part of Audit trail, at individual security level.

3. Tracking of Regulatory Limits

The System should have key limits pre-set to ensure compliance for all Regulatory
requirements and should be supported by workflow through the System, (Real time
basis) for such approval, if Regulatory limit is close to be breached.
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The System should have capability of generating Exception reports for Audit by Internal
/ Concurrent Auditor.

4. Settlement Risk
The System should be validated to restrict Short Sales at the time of placing the order.

5. Review, Monitoring and Reporting

System should automatically track and report all internal limits breaches. All such
breaches should be audited by Internal / Concurrent Auditor.

Implementation and Review of & Liability Matching and other Investment Policy
Guidelines.

d. Back Office
1. Data Input Error

The system should be specifically validated such that, Deal can be REJECTED ONLY
by Back Office and can NEVER BE EDITED. The System should generate a list of
Deals that have not been settled / rejected as a part of Audit trail.

2. Liquidity Risk

The Insurer should have a Cash Management System to provide the funds available
for Investment considering the settlement obligations and subscription and redemption
of units etc., to prevent any leveraged position or liquidity risk.

The System should be validated not to accept any commitment beyond availability of
funds.

3. Computation of ‘NAV’

The Insurer should maintain NAV history (Fund wise) in his Public Domain from the
Start of the Fund to Current Date. Also, the NAV should be uploaded in the Life Council
Website on a day to day basis.

‘NAV’ error — Computation & Compensation

1. All expenses and incomes accrued up to the Valuation date shall be considered
for computation of NAV. For this purpose, while major expenses like
management fees and other periodic expenses should be accrued on a day to
day basis, other minor expenses and income can be accrued on a weekly basis,
provided the non-accrual does not affect the NAV calculations by more
than 1%.

2. Any changes in Securities and in the number of Units should be recorded in the
books not later than the first valuation date following the date of transaction. If
this is not possible, the recording may be delayed up to a period of seven days
following the date of the transaction. Provided, the non-recording does not
affect the NAV calculations by more than 1%.
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3. In case the NAV of a Plan differs by more than 1% due to non - recording of the
transactions or any other errors / mistakes, the investors or fund(s) as the case
may be, shall be paid the difference in amount as follows: -

() If the investors are allotted units at a price higher than NAV or are given a
price lower than NAV at the time of sale of their Units, they shall be paid
the difference in amount by the plan.

(if) If the investors are charged lower NAV at the time of purchase of their units
or are given higher NAV at the time of sale of their units, the Insurer shall
pay the difference in amount to the Plan and shall be compensated from
Shareholders portfolio that does not support Solvency Margin.

(iii) The Internal / Concurrent Auditor shall look into the above issues and
specifically report to the Board’s Audit Committee on it and comment on
the Systems in place to take care of such issues on an ongoing basis.

(iv) A log of NAV errors shall be maintained in the System and be forwarded to
Internal / Concurrent Auditors.

4. Equity Deals to be put through STP gateway
All Equity deals shall be through STP gateway for all broker transactions.

5. Uploading of Valuation Price Files
The System shall have the provision to take uploads of Corporate Actions such as Stock

Splits, Dividend, Rights Issue, Buy Back, Bonus issues etc., for computing NAV /
Portfolio valuation.

6. Reconciliation
i. Fund wise, in the case of Life Insurers, reconciliation with Investment Accounts, Bank,

and Custodian records should be done on day-to-day basis for all types of products. In
the case of ULIP products, Units reconciliation with Policy Admin Systems should be
ensured on a day to day basis.

ii. In the case of General Insurer / Re-insurer reconciliation with Investment Accounts,
Bank and Custodian records should be done on a day-to-day basis.

7. Broker Limits Transactions:

i. A limit of five per cent (5%) of total transactions for debt and equity through brokers
(both purchase and sales) entered into by an insurer during Half-Year under review
shall be treated as the aggregate upper contract limit for each of the empanelled
brokers.
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2.2

1.

ii. If for any exceptional reasons it becomes necessary to exceed the aggregate limit for
any empanelled broker, insurers shall record in writing the specific reasons for such
breach and the Board shall be informed, post-facto.

iii. Concurrent/Internal Auditor of the insurer shall also report such breaches in their report.

Audit of Investment Risk Management Systems & Process, Internal / Concurrent
Audit

Clause 12 (4)(i) of Regulations mandates certification by a Chartered Accountant firm, for
implementing Investment Risk Management Systems and Process, as per the procedure laid
down in the “Guidance note on Review and Certification of Investment Risk Management
Systems and Process of Insurance Companies”. Further, Clause 12 (5)(ii) of Regulations
requires all investment transactions covering both Shareholders and Policyholders funds be
audited through Internal or Concurrent Auditor.

Insurers having Assets under Management (AUM) not more than Rs.1000 Crores shall have
its Investment functions audited on a Quarterly basis through Internal Audit (either through
internal resources or through firms of Chartered Accountants) and Insurer with AUM of over
Rs.1000 Crores (for the first time) shall appoint a firm of Chartered Accountants as Concurrent
Auditor to have its Investment transactions and related Systems audited on a concurrent basis.

Audit of “Investment Risk Management Systems and Process”

The Insurer, shall through a Chartered Accountants firm, who is not the Statutory or Internal or
Concurrent Auditor of the concerned Insurer shall get certified the Investment Risk
Management Systems and Processes as per the ‘Guidance Note on Review and Certification
of Investment Risk Management Systems and Process of Insurance Companies’ issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), in consultation with IRDAI.

The Investment Risk Management Systems and Process shall be reviewed once in two
financial years or such shorter frequency as decided by the Board of the Insurer (the gap
between two such audits should not be more than two years), by a Chartered Accountant firm
and file the certificate issued by such Chartered Accountant, with the Authority along with the
first quarter returns.

Internal / Concurrent Audit of Transactions

All Insurers, having Assets under Management (Shareholders and Policyholders funds taken
together) of not more than Rs.1000 Crores shall have its transactions and related systems
audited through its internal Audit Department, headed by a Chartered Accountant, at least on
a on Quarterly basis and where the AUM is equal or over Rs. 1000 Crores (for the first time)
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shall have the Investment transaction concurrently audited, by a Chartered Accountant firm,
appointed as per the procedure listed below.

The ‘minimum’ Scope for both Internal Audit and Concurrent Audit shall be as per the
“‘Guidance Note on Internal / Concurrent Audit of Investment Functions of Insurance
Companies” issued by ICAI (in consultation with IRDAI) for both Life and Non-Life Insurers.
The Insurer could include additional scope to suit their specific needs based on their control
systems. The Internal / Concurrent Audit shall cover 100% of transactions of all fund(s) as per
the periodicity prescribed.

Appointment of Audit Firms for “Investment Risk Management Systems & Process”

The Chartered Accountant firm shall be a firm, registered with the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India.
The Audit firm should have experience, for at least four years, in conducting reviews of Risk
Management Systems and Process of either Banks or Mutual Funds or Insurance Companies
or have, on behalf of IRDAI conducted Investment Inspection of Insurance Companies.
On the date of appointment as an Auditor for certifying Investment Risk Management Systems
and Process, the Auditor must not hold more than two audits of Internal, Concurrent and Risk
Management Systems Audit, all taken together. Hence, the Audit firm, can at the maximum
hold not more than three Audits (i.e., Investment Risk Management Systems and Process
Audit, Internal Audit, Concurrent Audit — all taken together), apart from Statutory Audits at any
point of time. For this purpose, at the time of appointment, the insurer shall obtain a declaration
to this effect from the firm of Chartered Accountants. The Insurer shall, file with IRDAI, the
confirmation obtained from the Chartered Accountant firm, within 7 days of such appointment.
The Auditor should not have been prohibited/debarred by any regulating agency including
IRDAI, RBI, SEBI, ICAI, NFRA etc.,
The Auditor appointed for certifying the Investment Risk Management Systems and Process,
should not have conducted the following assignments for the same Insurer proposing to be
appointed as Systems Auditor, for a period of two years immediately preceding his
appointment.

a. Statutory Audit

b. Any Internal Audit

c. Any Concurrent Audit

d. Any consulting assignment, whether or not related to Audit functions

. Appointment of Audit Firm for Internal / Concurrent Audit of Transactions

The Chartered Accountant firm complies with points ¢ (1), (2), (3) and (4) above.
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2. The Internal/Concurrent audit term shall be for the financial year and where the appointment
is made during the course of the financial year, it shall be up to the end of that financial year.

3. The Internal / Concurrent Auditor shall be appointed by the Audit Committee of the Insurer’s
Board and the Auditor shall directly report to the Audit Committee of the Insurer’s Board. Any
change in Auditor during the middle of the term, shall be communicated to IRDAI with the
reasons for such change. The new Auditor, only for the remaining term, shall be appointed only
with the prior approval of IRDAI.

4. The Internal / Concurrent Auditor shall not be eligible for re-appointment, with the same Insurer
after serving three consecutive years or three years during the preceding five years.

5. The Internal / Concurrent Auditor appointed for the first time should NOT have conducted the
following assignments for the same Insurer proposing to be appointed as Internal or Concurrent
Auditor for Investment functions during a period of two years immediately preceding his
appointment as Internal or Concurrent auditor.

a. Statutory Audit

b. Any Internal Audit

c. Any Concurrent Audit

d. Any consulting assignment, whether or not related to Audit functions
e

Reviews or Certification of Investment Risk Management Systems and Process

6. Every Insurer, upon appointing the firm of Chartered Accountants as Internal or Concurrent or
Risk Management Systems Auditor shall send a communication to IRDAI, within seven days
of such appointment, confirming such appointment with the details as under:

e. Information of Audit Firm for Internal / Concurrent Audit to be filed with IRDAI
Name of the Chartered Accountant firm

Year of establishing the firm, Partners with contact details
Address of Head Office of the Audit Firm

w0 DR

Experience Details, (relevant for Insurer’s Risk Management Systems Audit / Statutory Audit
/ Internal Audit / Concurrent Audit) as provided by the Firm

5. Name of the Partner along with contact details, responsible for signing Risk Management Audit
Report / Internal Audit Report/ Concurrent Audit Report

6. All the above information shall be filed with IRDAI, within 7 days from the date of appointment.

2.3 Repo, Reverse Repo in Government securities and Corporate bonds
All Insurers shall file a quarterly certificate issued by the Concurrent Auditor specifically on
Repo/Reverse transactions (borrowing) and the same shall form part of the certificate issued
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as per the Technical Guide on Internal / Concurrent Audit of Insurance Companies issued by
ICAL

2.4 Investment in Equity Exchange traded funds

Concurrent Auditor shall comment on the compliance of the requirements prescribed for
investments in ETFs during the audit period.

2.5 Exposure to Credit Default Swaps

1.

The concurrent Auditor shall confirm that the requirements prescribed for undertaking CDS
transaction have been incorporated in the investment policy, before taking any exposure to
CDS. Such Certificate of the Concurrent Auditor, shall be filed with the Authority.

The Concurrent Auditor shall in his Quarterly certification confirm that all CDS transactions,
complies with the norms prescribed by RBI and IRDAL.

2.6 Exposure to Interest Rate Derivatives

1.

Before taking any exposure to Interest Rate Derivatives, the Insurer shall file a Certificate
issued by the Concurrent Auditor, and the Concurrent Auditor shall certify that the Insurer had
implemented the minimum integrated automated Systems and Process, as required under the
guidelines on Interest Rate Derivatives.

Systems Audit

Any Insurer to hedge the portfolio, within the Circulars / Guidelines issued by the Authority,
shall carryout the Systems Audit, through the Auditor engaged as per the Guidance Note on
“Investment Risk Management Systems and Process of Insurance Companies” of the Institute
of Chartered Accountant of India, for Systems and Process to in place, as specifically listed for
Derivatives in the Guidance Note on Investment Risk Management Systems and Process of
Insurance Companies, before taking such exposure. All insurers who have taken derivative
positions, shall unwind the positions, where the Systems and Process mandated are yet
to be implemented.

2.7 Investment in “Additional Tier 1 (Basel lll Compliant) Perpetual Bonds” [AT1 Bonds]

The Concurrent Auditor in his Quarterly Report to the Audit Committee / Board of the Insurer
shall confirm that all norms as per para 1.6 above are complied with by the insurer.

2.8 Investment in Units and Debt Securities of “Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT) &

Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvIT)

The Concurrent Auditor in his Quarterly Report to the Audit Committee/Board of the Insurer
shall specifically confirm compliance to the provisions of this circular applicable to Investment
in Units and Debt Securities of REITs / InvITs.
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2.9 Control & Monitoring Mechanism of Investment Operations — Work from Remote

Location
1. Insurers shall ensure that Concurrent Auditors shall check the deals entered/investments
done while working from remote location and report any deficiencies observed.

2. The Concurrent Auditor shall comment on the systems and controls as per the extant
guidelines of ICAI and also as per the internal/Board Approved controls/guidelines of the
Insurer. The Insurers shall ensure to submit the comments of Concurrent Auditors to the
Authority as a part of Quarterly Concurrent Audit Report.

Section - lll- Valuation Guidelines

3.1 Investment in Equity Exchange Traded Funds

The valuation of ETFs shall be in line with Annexure 2.

3.2 Securities Lending and Borrowing (SLB) Framework

1.

Securities lent in SLB would be treated as if the Insurer owns such securities and all benefits
arising on such securities shall be available to the Insurer i.e. the beneficial rights of the Insurer
shall continue as per the SLB Frame work.

The lending fee shall be accounted for on accrual basis in view of the risk of early repay/recall
of securities.

3.3 Investment in Mutual fund

1.

The purchase and sale of Mutual Fund Units shall be calculated at Weighted Average Cost.
Also, the insurer shall report the aggregate Market Value of such Mutual Funds in FORM 5 of
Regulations.

A separate Fair Value Change Account for Mutual Fund Investments shall be maintained.

The unrealized gains / losses arising due to changes in fair value of the Mutual Funds shall be
taken to ‘Fair Value Change — Mutual Fund’ account. The Profit / Loss on sale of Mutual Fund
units, shall include accumulated changes in the Fair value previously recognized in Mutual
Funds under the heading “Fair Value Change — Mutual Fund” in respect of a particular Mutual
Fund and being recycled to Revenue / Profit and Loss Account on actual sale of Mutual Fund
units.

The Insurer shall assess, on each Balance Sheet date, whether any diminution in the value
has occurred to the Investment. A diminution in the value of investments shall be recognized
as an expense in Revenue / Profit and Loss Account to the extent of the difference between
the re-measured fair value of the Investment and its Cost as reduced by any previous
diminution in value of investments is recognized as expenses in Revenue / Profit and Loss
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Account. Any reversal of diminution in value of investments earlier recognized in Revenue /
Profit and Loss Account shall be recognized in Revenue / Profit and Loss Account.

5. Inthe case of Unit Linked Business, Mutual Fund units shall be valued at NAV.

3.4 Investment in Perpetual debt instruments of Bank’s Tier-l Capital and Debt Capital
Instruments of upper Tier-ll Capital
The valuation of AT1 Bonds and Tier Il Bonds shall be as per the directions issued by SEBI for
Mutual Funds from time to time.

3.5 Investment in Onshore Rupee Bonds issued by Asian Development Bank (ADB) and
International Finance Corporation (IFC)
The valuation of onshore rupee bonds shall be in line with the Corporate Bonds and
Debentures.

3.6 Exposure to Interest Rate Derivatives
Accounting of Interest Rate Derivatives shall be as per applicable Accounting Standard and
amended from time to time. Initial Margin and Mark to Market Margin shall be accounted as
part of Current Assets.

3.7 Income Recognition, Asset Classification, Provisioning and Other related matters

a. Assets classifications:

1. Every insurer shall make adequate provision for estimated loss arising on account of under
recovery of loans and advances (other than loans and advances granted against insurance
policies issued by the insurer) outstanding at the balance sheet date. These guidelines are
intended to provide the basis for determination of minimum provisions of loss on account of
loans and advances.

2. Insurers shall classify their loans/advances into four categories, viz., (i) Standard Assets, (ii)
Sub-Standard Assets, (iii) Doubtful Assets and (iv) Loss Assets. Classification of assets into
these categories shall be done taking into account ability of the borrower to repay and the
extent of value and realizability of security.

3. Standard Assets: Standard Asset is one which does not disclose any problem and which does
not carry more than normal risk attached to the Business. Such an asset is not an NPA. The
insurer should make a general provision on Standard Assets of a minimum of 0.40 per cent of
the value of the asset. In respect of loans extended directly by insurers to sick units taken over
by borrowers falling under the "Standard" classification, the facilities of the transferee and
merged units may continue to be classified separately, for a period not exceeding 24 months
from the date of the takeover of the sick unit, after which the performance of the loans
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sanctioned to the borrower as a whole should determine their classification. In cases of reverse
merger (i.e., take-over of a healthy unit by a sick unit) as well, the facilities of both the units
may continue to be classified separately for a period of 24 months after which the combined
performance may be taken for asset classification.

Sub-Standard Asset: Sub-standard asset is one which has been classified as NPA for a
period not exceeding 12 months, e.g., an asset which has been treated as a NPA on 15 April,
2021, would be treated as a sub-standard asset only up to 31% March 2022. In case of time
overrun for completion of project directly financed by insurers, the Boards of Insurers should
decide based on valid grounds, whether the advance should be treated as standard asset. An
asset where the terms of the loan agreement regarding interest and principal have been
renegotiated or rescheduled after commencement of production, should be classified as sub-
standard and should remain in this category for at least two years of continually satisfactory
performance under the revised terms. The classification of an asset should not be upgraded
merely as a result of rescheduling, unless there is satisfactory compliance of the above
condition.

Doubtful Assets: A doubtful asset is one which has remained as NPA for a period exceeding
12 months, e.g., a loan facility to a borrower which is treated as NPA on 1%t April 2021, would
be treated as 'doubtful' from 1t April, 2022. A loan classified as doubtful has besides the
weakness inherent in that classified as sub-standard, with the continuing default makes the
recovery in full, to be improbable. Here too, as in the case of sub-standard assets,
rescheduling does not lead to upgradation of the category of the asset automatically. Similarly,
a doubtful asset which is subject to rehabilitation and where the asset has been subsequently
continually satisfactorily serviced for one year shall be graduated to a standard asset.

Loss Assets: A loss asset is one where loss has been identified by the insurer or its internal
or statutory auditors or by IRDAI, but the amount has not been written off wholly. In other
words, such an asset is considered un-collectible and as such its continuance as a bankable
asset is not warranted although there may be some salvage or recovery value.

Overdue Amounts Interest/Principal: An amount, whether interest or principal is said to be
overdue if it is not paid to the insurer on the specified date. An asset is classified as an NPA if
the interest and/ or installment of principal remain overdue for more than 90 days (i.e., one
quarter).

Provisioning for Loans and Advances:
Taking into account the time lag between an account becoming doubtful of recovery, its
recognition as such, the realization of the security and the erosion in the value of security
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charged to the insurers, it is necessary that insurers make adequate provisions against sub-
standard assets, doubtful assets and loss assets, as per the procedure outlined below:

Loss Assets: The entire asset should be written off. If the assets are to remain in the
books for any reason, 100 per cent of the outstanding should be provided for.

Doubtful Assets: a) 100 percent provision of the extent to which the asset is not covered
by the realizable value of the security to which the insurer has a valid recourse and the
realizable value is estimated on a realistic basis. b) Over and above item (a) above,
depending upon the period for which the asset has remained doubtful, 20% to 100%
provision of the secured portion (i.e., estimated realizable value of the outstanding)
should be made on the following basis:

Period for which the Asset has been considered as .
% of Provision
Doubtful
Up to one year 20%
One to three years 30%
More than three years 100%

Sub-Standard Assets: A general provision of 10% of total value outstanding remaining
substandard is required to be made including loans granted by the Central/State
Government. In case of nursing finance granted by an insurer, the additional loan facilities
sanctioned under the rehabilitation programme may be treated as a separate account
and the performance assessed separately. Asset classification and provisioning in
respect of such loan facilities as per the prescribed guidelines may be made only if the
interest /principal payments remain due beyond 90 days.

Default in Repayment of Principal: On account of various reasons, such as delays in
project implementation, getting adequate working capital facilities, etc., repayment of
principal may be delayed beyond the stipulated one quarter. The asset may continue to
be considered as standard if the installments of the principal amount are rescheduled
with the approval of the Board of the concerned insurer. This is subject to the condition
that the rescheduling can be done only once while the interest continues to be paid
regularly.

Time Overrun: In case of time overrun for completion of project directly financed by
insurers, the Board of Insurer should decide based on valid grounds, whether the
advance should be treated as standard asset.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

vi. One Time Settlement: Sometimes insurers enter into one time settlement (OTS) of their
dues with a new owner. In cases where a sick unit has been merged with a healthy and
strong unit and where payments are being made as per the OTS scheme, the asset in
respect of the merged unit may be considered as standard without waiting for a period of
2 years for upgradation from sub-standard to standard asset. However, such cases
should be approved by the Board of the concerned insurer. It is clarified that the said
relaxation is allowed only in OTS cases.

In respect of loan facilities extended to sick units (under nursing programmes or otherwise)
taken over by borrowers falling under the “standard” classification, the facilities of the
transferee and the merged units may continue to be classified separately for a period not
exceeding 2 years from the date of takeover of the sick unit, after which the performance of
the loan facility sanctioned to the borrower as a whole should determine their classification.

Units enjoying more than one loan facility: In case of borrowers who have been granted more
than one loan facility by the insurer, all the dues from them will have to be treated as NPAs if
50 per cent of its total interest and/or principal dues from all loans extended to it remain overdue
for more than one quarter.

Government Guaranteed Loans: Loans or other credit facilities backed by Central/State
Government guarantees should be treated on par with other assets for income recognition and
provisioning. However, in respect of loans backed by Central Government guarantee, such
loans shall be treated as NPA only when the Government repudiates its guarantee when
invoked.

Income Recognition: Income in respect of any asset classified as NPA shall not be
recognized unless realized. However, any adjustment towards overdue interest against any
fresh/additional loan shall not be considered as realized.

Insurers are permitted to participate in Joint Lenders Forum (JLF), formed within RBI
Guidelines for loan accounts which could turn into potential NPAs, and take up need based
exposure with the prior approval of the Insurers Board, which could exceed exposure
permitted under applicable Regulations.

The Insurer shall follow the latest RBI Circular / Guidelines issued on the above points, where
the provisions of Master Circular, are inconsistent with respect to Point 3.7 of this Master
Circular on “Income Recognition, Asset Classification, Provisioning and Other related items”.
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Section — IV: Operational Procedure

4.1 Repo, Reverse Repo in Government Securities and Corporate Debt Securities

1.

All Repo transaction shall also be reported to the Investment Committee and Board at least on
a Quarterly periodicity.

Insurer shall enter into bilateral Reverse Repo/ Repo agreement as per the documentation
finalized by FIMMDA. Such additional clauses may also be inserted in the standard agreement
to suit the specific needs of the Insurance regulatory framework provided such clauses should
be more stringent than the standard clauses provided by FIMMDA.

In all other matters such as Accounting Methodology, reporting of trades, settlement of trades,
prohibition on sale of repo security, haircut, valuation etc. related to such Repo and Reverse
Repo transactions, Insurers shall follow the Directions given in notification
IDMD.DOD.05/11.08.38/2009-10 Dt. January 8, 2010, issued by RBI and as updated from
time-to-time.

The Board of the Insurer shall issue necessary Guidelines in the Investment Policy covering

the following:
i. Category of Counterparty

ii. Credit rating of the instruments issued by the Counterparty
iii. Exposure on the Counter party subject to the maximum limits prescribed in this circular

iv. Maximum exposure on the specific Corporate Debt Instrument and the Issuer of such
Debt Instrument

v. Tenor of Collateral
vi. Applicable Haircuts

vii.  The treatment of ‘downgrading of rating’ during the tenure of repo transaction

4.2 Securities Lending and Borrowing Framework

Lending securities through SLB in the Funds shall be made only after approval of the
Investment Committee. While considering approval, the Investment Committee shall satisfy
that lending securities through SLB will be in the interest of the Policyholders.

The Board of Insurer shall amend its Investment Policy and put in place adequate Risk
Management framework on SLBs covering circumstances for an early recall & rollover,
treatment of corporate actions such as dividend, split, bonus, rights, merger, demerger etc.

4.3 Investment in Equity Shares through IPO

1.

The Board of the Insurers shall empower its Investment Committee to approve Investment in
equities through IPOs, satisfying the dividend criteria.
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2. Investment Policy of the insurer shall have a detailed policy in respect of investment in IPOs
and the investment team can take decision on day-to-day basis subject to compliance with the
Palicy.

3. Such investments shall be subject to periodical review, particularly as to ‘Approved’ status.

4.4 Investment in Mutual fund

The Investment Committee of the Insurer shall lay down proper Guidelines for selection of
Mutual Funds and schemes permissible including exposure Norms to a Single Mutual Fund and
to each Scheme of Mutual Fund to avoid concentration.

4.5 Investment in Alternative Investment Fund

The Investment Policy of the insurer shall lay down the policy to invest in Venture funds or
alternative Investment Fund, and the internal norms for such investments shall be decided by
the investment committee (IC) of the Insurer.

4.6 Exposure to Credit Default Swaps (CDS)

1. The Board of the Insurer shall include in its Investment Policy and put in place necessary Risk
Management Framework covering, inter alia, the following:
i. Types of Assets on which Protection can be bought

ii. Counterparties from whom CDS can be bought and limits on the counter parties
ii. Valuation norms
iv. Reporting and monitoring norms

v. Stress testing on the capability of the counterparty to meet the obligation at periodic
intervals

vi. Margins applicable (Margins should be in cash or Govt. securities). Such margins
collected should be not part of Investment Assets and Insurer should act as ‘trustee’ of
such margins.

vii. Settlement of MTM obligations
viii. MIS, exception reporting

ix. Necessary systems and controls prescribed for User in line with risk management
architecture provided in the aforesaid RBI circular

X. Review of the policy at periodic intervals in line with the Investment policy

2. Insurers shall enter into Master Agreement for CDS with counterparties as issued by FIMMDA.
Such agreements may have additional clauses to suit the specific requirements of the Insurer
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provided such clauses are more stringent than the clauses prescribed by FIMMDA. The
Investment Committee should review such additional clauses on continuous basis.

3. All CDS transactions shall be reported to the Investment Committee, Audit Committee on a
quarterly periodicity.

4.7 Outsourcing of Investment function

1. Clause 12(3)(ii) of Regulations makes it mandatory that NO part of Investment Function can
be outsourced, as the same is a core function of the Insurance Business.

2. Engaging a specialist (not an entity falling under the Insurer’'s Promoter Group) to provide
reports on any class of investment or a specific investment in a purely advisory capacity will
not be considered as outsourcing of a function of the Insurer, provided the Assets under
Management (both Shareholders and Policyholders funds taken together) of the Insurer is not
more than Rs.500 Crores or had not completed one year of operations from the date of
Registration by issue of R3, whichever is earlier, subject to the following conditions:

i. The Investment decisions are made within the Company with proper documentation
within the delegated power as provided in the Investment Policy

ii. Deal placement and execution are done by the Front Office personnel
iii. Periodic reports to Management and Authority are drawn by the Company (in-house)

iv. The Advisory fee to be paid to the Service provider is on a case-to-case basis and not on
Net Asset Value

3. The Advisory fee shall:

i. Not form part of NAV calculations in the case of ULIP business

ii. Be paid out of Shareholders funds beyond Solvency Margin

However, any such arrangement may only be made with the prior approval of the Authority,
giving full details of the same including any Agreement to be entered into, in this connection.

4.8 Transfer of Investment

1. Transfer from Shareholders’ Account to Policyholders’ Account: Transfer of funds from
the Shareholders’ account to the policyholders’ account to meet the Deficit in the Policyholders’
account in a given financial year, made with the objective of meeting the deficit in the
policyholders’ account, as and when made, should be as per the conservative approach, i.e.,
at the cost price or market price, whichever is lower. In case of Debt securities, all transfers
are to be carried out at the lower of the market price and the net amortized cost.
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6.

Transfer between Policyholders’ Funds: No transfer of assets (investments) between
different policyholders’ funds (between Participating and Non-Participating funds) shall be
allowed. Also, no funds can be transferred between (1) Life Fund excluding Shareholders
Funds (2) Pension & General Annuity Fund and (3) Unit Linked Funds.

Purchase/sale transactions between Unit linked funds: Insurers may like to consider
sale/purchase transactions between unit linked funds as part of investment management
strategy, to limit transactions cost and also arising out of options exercised by the policyholders
to shift between different unit linked funds. The sale/purchase of investments under such
circumstances would be based on the market price of the investments, which are being shifted
between unit-linked schemes. ALL such transactions should be made at a price as specified
below.

a. In case of equity, preference shares, ETFs and Government Securities market price of the
latest trade. Deal should be entered into the system within one hour of taking such quote
or price.

b. In case of securities mentioned in (a) if the trade has not taken place on the day of transfer
and for all other securities not part of (a) previous day valuation price.

The Concurrent Auditor shall confirm that all transaction as said in point 3 above, have been
done as per the time lines specified in point 3 above.

Funds of Non-linked business: It is reiterated that no sale/purchase is permitted between the
various policyholders’ funds under the non-linked business.

Small sized fund:

In the initial stages of the new insurers, funds are likely to build up gradually, and insurers may
face problems with regard to purchase of securities because of stipulations of minimum market
lot. To tide over such difficulties, in the initial years, security sale at market price shall be permitted
from the shareholders’ assets, that too only in the ‘approved category’, to meet the needs of
investments of policyholders’ funds.

Such transactions shall be permitted only where a policyholders’ fund size is small, i.e., up to Rs.
50 crore.

Life Insurer’s funds shall be categorized under the following heads:

a) Life Fund
b) Pension, Annuity and Group Fund
c) Unit Linked Funds

and the ceiling of Rs. 50 crore as mentioned above would apply to each of the Fund as listed
above and not to individual funds within each of the above funds.

With a view to ensuring an audit trail on such transaction, it is mandatory that such transactions

be subject to compliance of the following:

a) Authorization of the Investment Committee giving the reason for such sale
transaction to the policyholders’ funds
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b) Disclosure in the financial statements/returns
¢) Audit by the statutory auditors
d) The limit of Rs.50 crore shall be subject to the review by the Authority.

4.9 Other Investments in Pension and Group Fund

Where a security, being part of ‘Approved Investment’, at the time of acquisition, subsequently,
due to non-fulfilment of regulatory criteria for Approved Investments, becomes a part of ‘Other
Investments’, the insurer, shall ensure such security is not continued to be part of the Pension
and Group fund, within a period of 180 days. If the security continues to be ‘Other Investments’,
after expiry of 180 days, the value of such security shall be made good by transfer to
Shareholders funds, at amortized cost.

4.10 Transactions on Stock Markets to be on Cash Basis

1. The Authority stipulates that all transactions entered into by insurers on the stock markets shall
result in delivery.

2. Further, all insurers are required to file a certificate of compliance to this effect on a quarterly
basis. The Certificate is required to form part of FORM 5 of the Return on “Statement of
Investment Reconciliation” filed by the insurers under the Regulations. The Certificate of
Compliance to be filed with the said Return shall read as under:

“Certified that all cash market transactions executed on the stock exchanges are only on
delivery basis. Further certified that all information given herein is correct and complete to
the best of my knowledge and belief and nothing has been concealed or suppressed.”

4.11 Negotiated dealing system — Order Matching (NDS — OM)

1. The Insurance Act, 1938 requires a Life Insurer to invest his Controlled funds as per Section
27A and a General Insurer to invest his Total Assets as per Section 27B in ‘Approved
Investments’. The Act further requires a Life Insurer to hold not less than 50% and a General
Insurer to hold a minimum of 30% in Approved Securities, which includes investment in
Government of India Securities.

2. Reserve Bank of India, has operationalised Negotiated Dealing System — Order Matching
(NDS-OM) Module from Aug, 2005 with the following broad features:

i. The system is purely order driven with all orders being matched based on strict price /
time priority.

ii. The system is an anonymous order matching system wherein identify of parties are not
revealed. The Clearing Corporation of India Limited (CCIL) will become the central
counterparty to each trade done on the system.
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3.

iii. The system allows straight- through processing (STP) and trades executed will flow
straight to CCIL in a ready for settlement stage.

iv. The system provides functionalities for order management (placing, modifying or
cancelling orders), trade related queries, activity log, market information and analytics
(YTM computation etc.)

v. The system, presently, supports dealing in all Central Government and State Government
securities for T+1 settlement.

All secondary market trading in Government Securities shall be placed in NDS-OM or reported
in NDS-OM.

4.12 Reporting of OTC transactions in Certificates of Deposits (CDs) and Commercial

Papers (CPs)

In order to ensure transparency in secondary market transactions and obtain information on
actual trades in CDs and CPs, which are money market instruments, all insurers are advised
to report their OTC trades in CDs and CPs on the FIMMDA reporting platform.

Accordingly, all IRDAI regulated entities shall report their OTC transactions in CDs and CPs
on the FIMMDA reporting platform within 15 minutes of the trade for online dissemination of
market information. Detailed procedure in this regard would be advised by FIMMDA.

4.13 Issue of Long Term Bonds by Banks — Financing of Infrastructure and Affordable

Housing

Investment Committee shall ensure to have robust mechanism on classification of such
investment to qualify as Infrastructure or Housing Sector exposure considering predominant
objectives of the offer.

4.14 Reporting of transactions in Corporate Bonds, Commercial Papers, Certificate of

1.

2.

Deposits & Securitised Debt

All Insurers to report their secondary market OTC trades in Corporate Bonds and Securitized
Debt Instruments as per the reporting requirements on any of the stock exchanges (NSE, BSE
and MCX-SX). These trades are to be cleared and settled through any of the clearing
corporations (NSCCL, ICCL and MCX-SX CCL).

All Insurers to report their secondary market OTC trades in Commercial Papers and Certificate
of Deposits as per the reporting requirements on FIMMDA (CBRICS).
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4.15 Segregated Fund creation and NAV Process.

a.

Vi.

Segregated Fund Creation
The Insurers shall follow the following procedure for Segregated Fund Creation.
SFIN shall be derived following the procedure mentioned below:

No Fund Category Procedure for ‘SFIN’

1 Unit Linked | <ULIF>+<001>+<ddmmyy>+<FundName>+<Reg.No
Individual Funds >

2 Unit Linked Group | <ULGF>+<001>+<ddmmyy>+<Fund
Funds Name>+<Reg.No>

Note: Explanation to ‘Procedure for SFIN’
a. The 1st four Character of SFIN denote the Category to which the Fund belongs
b. 001 denote the 1st fund in the particular Category

ddmmyy refers to the date of launch of fund

d. Fund Name denotes the Name of the fund, which shall be abbreviated to 10
Characters

The insurer shall confirm that the SFIN is unique and has not been allotted to any other
segregated fund.

Reg. No is the Registration Number.

The ‘Segregated Fund’, by whatever name called, would invest only in the ‘exhaustive’
Categories of Investments permitted under guidelines issued under Regulations at
Annexure 1.

The Investments to be made as per the Investment Policy, would be covered in the
Standard Operating Procedure (SOP), approved by the Investment Committee of the
Insurer and followed by the Investment Department of the Insurer, before the launch of
the fund, if existing SOP does not cover the new asset class, if any. The ‘Segregated
fund’ would have identifiable, individual ‘Scrips’, grouped as per guidelines issued by
IRDAI and the same would be identifiable at custodian level, by a separate sub code, for
such ‘Segregated Fund.

Other conditions:
No individual security is earmarked between two or more ‘segregated fund’.

The New Fund offered by the Insurer shall NOT be a minor modification of any of its
existing Fund.

The name of the Fund shall not be misleading and shall not contain word(s) that can
convey an impression incongruous to the objective of the Fund.
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d. Each ‘Segregated Fund’ would have a ‘single’ NAV, declared on a ‘day-to-day’ basis and
uploaded in the Insurer’s Public Domain and in the Life Insurance Council Website.

e. The insurer, through a portal, would enable the policyholder to know, through a secured
login (i) the value of policy wise units held by him, as per FORM D02 and (ii) fund wise
NAV (SFIN wise) on both the Insurer’s website and life council website on the same day.

f. The Insurer, as a part of product brochure, had included the disclosure mandated
under FORM D02 and would provide the secured login details to Policyholders along with
the Policy document.

g. The ‘Units’ would be created on a ‘day-to-day’ basis and would be backed by Investment
assets, for the ‘segregated fund’.

h. The Investment Trial Balance, in respect of each ‘Segregated Fund’ [with clear link to
SFIN] shall be generated through the system.

i.  All prudential and Exposure norms as per clause 8 of Regulations as amended from time
to time shall be complied at each 'segregated’ fund, as _well as at Assets under
Management (AUM) of ULIP.

j-  Fund Management Charges (FMC) is identified with respect to each ‘segregate fund’ and
NOT otherwise.

k. Transfer of funds between ULIP funds shall be done as per the norms laid in point 4.8 (3)
above. The Concurrent Auditor shall certify that the Insurer has the required automated
System in place to ensure compliance of this requirement.

I.  The SFIN would be quoted in all ‘Fund’ related filing / disclosure. Also, SFIN would be
mentioned in all documents and all fund-wise information provided to policyholders, other
users (public, distribution channels and others) and on all returns or fund related
correspondence with the Authority.

The Insurer shall file a certificate issued by the Concurrent Auditor for the above Segregated
Fund Creation process on creation of new SFIN. All records in this regard shall be made
available for the inspection by IRDAI at any point of time.

b. NAV Process

1.

2.

The NAV Process to be followed for new and existing funds and Systems and Process should
be in place for calculation of NAV for ‘each’ Segregated Fund.

The objective of defining the ‘Net Asset Value (NAV) Process’ for the ULIP Funds, is to
standardise the process to be followed by all Life Insurers in arriving at the NAV per Unit. Every
Insurer in computing and declaring the NAV shall follow the below mention procedure
consistently. In this regard the Investment Committee of the insurer shall ensure the Standard
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Operating Procedure (SOP) to include clear internal guidelines, process flow charts,
procedures and responsibilities to be followed by the insurer.

Methodology of operating ‘Segregated Fund’
‘Units’ creation / Redemption

Preparation of Daily cash flow statement

Security Master Creation

Primary Market deals / IPO

Secondary Market Debt / Equity deal authorization
Settlement Process

I ommoow>

Banking Transaction

Corporate Actions
Valuation Process
Charges

NAV Computation

r X

A. Methodology of Operating ‘Segregated Fund’

1. Defines ‘Segregated Funds’ as ‘Funds earmarked in respect of Linked Business’.

2. To comply with the above requirements of ‘Segregated Fund’, the Insurer shall adopt the
following procedure to ensure strict segregation of funds and computation of NAV:
a. The Insurer shall, shall open separate bank account and account with the Custodian for
each “segregated fund”.

b. The Bank shall be directed to allot an Account Number/Account Name with specific
reference to the particular "Segregated Fund" so as to match the 10 digit fund name of
the SFIN.

c. Every Purchase, Sale of Investment, Income on Investment (including Corporate Action)
shall be identified with reference to the particular ‘Segregated Fund’ and accounted for.

d. Every ‘Deal Slip’ shall be identified with reference to the ‘segregated fund’ along with
‘Segregated Fund Identification Number “SFIN” for such Segregated Fund(s) and the
respective ‘sub-code’ of Custodian and the respective Bank Account.

3. Passive breach of regulatory limits, under any fund [SFIN] on any day, if corrected within
three business days, ALL such corrective actions taken shall be reported by the Concurrent

Auditor/Internal Auditor to the Audit Committee.

B. Units Creation / Redemption
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Unit capital movement tracks the capital movement (subscription and redemption) in the funds and
requires reconciliation with Policy Admin System (PAS), which requires

C.

Daily Report of ‘Subscription & Redemptions’ received from the Policy Admin System (PAS) to
be uploaded [without manual intervention through process integration] in the Investment
Accounting System

Unit Report shall be reconciled with the Investment Accounting System’s Creation /
Redemption Report, after booking of unit capital entries

Units created on a ‘day-to-day’ basis (including switches), shall be backed by ‘segregated fund
wise’ Investment assets. In other words, the value / amount for which Units are created for the
particular day (at the prevailing NAV, applicable for the day, of the respective fund), should be
equivalent to the premium receipt (net of switches) less applicable charges and other outflows
such as benefits paid, surrenders and foreclosures in excluding applicable charges of the
‘respective segregated fund’.

Preparation of Daily Cash Flow Statement

The insurer shall prepare a cash flow statement for each ‘Segregated Fund’ on a day-to-day basis
to ascertain the ‘investible funds’. The preparation of the cash flow statement shall take into
account the following:

© N o g M DN PRE

1.

Opening Bank balance at the Start of the Day (Closing Balance of the Previous Day)
Receipt on account of Sale of Investments

Receipt on account of Redemption of investment or Maturity of investments (Gross)
Receipt of Interest or Dividend etc.,

Payments on account of purchase of Security

Payments on account of Application Money

Premiums received net of charges and redemptions

Any other receipts or payments pertaining to investments

Security Master Creation

Equity Investments

Based on the inputs from treasury the investment back-office shall create Security Masters in the
system (linked via NSE/BSE codes) and the same shall be validated by the Mid-Office. The
procedure includes documentation of supporting and supervisory sign off.

2.

Debt Investments
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Security masters for debt Instruments are prepared on the basis of Information memorandum in
case of primary and secondary market deals by the Back Office. The procedure includes
documentation of supporting and supervisory sign off.

E. Primary Market Deals/IPO

1. Booking of Primary Market Deals - Debt

Primary Market Deals shall be booked on the date of application and on the date of allotment of
the Securities will be reflected in the Investment Accounts.

2. Booking of Equity IPO
Equity Investments shall be accounted on the date of application for IPO Issue as ‘Application

Money’ at the segregate Fund Level and on the date of allotment the allotted Shares shall be
reflected in the Investment accounts in the same proportion of application money.

F. Secondary Market Debt / Equity Deal Authorization
1. Debt Deals

All Debt securities as categorised in Guidelines on Categories of Investments, as amended from
time to time, shall be executed with counterparties and reported on NSE / BSE / FIMMDA
reporting platform and the same shall be confirmed with counterparties. The deals shall be
authorised in the investment system and the trade files / information shall be sent to custodian
/ other online settlement systems as recognised by any financial regulator for settlement.

2. Equity Deals

a. STP (Straight Through Process) Reconciliation
All Secondary Market equity deals shall be put through the STP module in the investment
system. The dealer shall put through the deal in the investment system after concluding the
transaction. The deal would then flow to the back office which would be compared with the
input details and the STP file received from broker. If all details match, the transaction would
be authorised in the system for settlement.

b. Custodian /Broker settlement

After STP reconciliation the equity trade files/ISO files shall be sent to custodian and broker
houses through STP.

All deals shall be recorded on trade date accounting basis.

G. Settlement Process
As specified by SEBI / Clearing Houses.
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. Banking Transactions

Coupon Payments for Debt Investments
Interest receipt entries shall be passed in Bank (Reconciled with Custodian Corporate Actions
Report / other online settlement systems as recognised by any financial regulator)

Redemptions/Maturities for Debt Investments
Redemptions/Maturity receipt entries shall be passed in bank account (Reconciled with
Custody Corporate Actions report).

Dividend Receipts for Equity Investments

Dividend receivables shall be received in bank on the receipt date (Reconciled with Corporate
Action Report received from the Custodian or other online settlement systems as recognised
by any financial regulator)

Management Fees
Payment entries pertaining to Management fee transfer to Non-Linked Funds shall be passed
in Bank accounts on respective payment dates.

Booking of Application Money
Application Money shall be booked in current asset account on the date of payment of
application money towards prospective investments.

Corporate Actions
Equity

The insurer shall obtain details of corporate action from exchange(s) on which the stock is
listed or custodian or any service provider who disseminates such information. While the
information pertaining to corporate actions may be obtained from any service provider, it may
be noted that it is duty of the insurer to have adequate internal controls in place to ensure that
all corporate actions are duly acted upon.

Debt

The insurer shall configure their Investment System for details of interest receivable and
redemption dates. Further, details of interest receivable and redemption can also be obtained
from the custodian / other online settlement systems as recognised by any financial regulator.

Accounting of coupon payments, redemption / maturities for debt investments shall be
automatically triggered by the system, based on the interest payment dates and maturity dates
defined in the security masters created for ‘each’ security.
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J. Valuation Process

1. Valuation of securities shall be in line with Annexure 2 of Master Circular — Investments.

2. The Insurer shall close the Investment Front Office system for transactions at 6.00 PM. The
Concurrent Auditor shall confirm the compliance of this requirement in their quarterly report to
the Board of Directors.

K. Charges

1. Fund Management Charges
Fund Management Charges (FMC) including GST shall be ‘accounted’ for on a day-to-day
basis in the investment accounting system. The actual transfer to “UL-Non-Unit Reserve or
Non-Linked Funds” account of accumulated FMC shall be done at least monthly or at lesser
frequency

2. FMC charged on the segregated fund [SFIN], where investment is made in Mutual funds and
Exchange Traded Fund, permitted by IRDAI, shall be subject to:

a. The FMC levied shall be the FMC as per the F&U of the segregated fund (SFIN) reduced
by FMC charged by the Mutual Fund / Exchange Traded Fund

b. Point (a) above, shall be permitted provided; the insurer has a fully Automated System to
compute the differential FMC as detailed in point (a) above.

c. The Concurrent Auditor shall certify the Systems in place, to comply with the requirement
of this provision, before the Insurer could avail this provision

3. Dealing costs

Dealing costs securities transaction tax and service tax shall be adjusted in the cost of
investments.

L. NAV Computation

1. NAV: The NAV of the Segregated FUND [SFIN] shall be computed as:

Market Value of investment held by the fund + Value of Current Assets — Value of Current
Liabilities & Provisions, if any

Number of Units existing on Valuation Date (before creation / redemption of Units)

2. The NAV computed as above, in respect of ‘each’ Segregated Fund, shall be Audited by the
Concurrent Auditor on a day-to-day basis.
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3. The NAV calculated as above, in respect of ‘each’ Segregated fund, shall be declared on the
Insurer's Website and at the Life Insurers Council Website, as and when the same is ready.
The following notes shall be considered for the computation of NAV

a. Market value of investment, held by the fund shall be as explained above in the valuation
of investments section and the same netted off for FMC

b. Value of Current Assets represents Accrued interest, Dividend Receivable, Bank Balance,
Receivable for Sale of Investments and Other Current Assets (for Investments)

c. Value of current liabilities represents Payable for Investments

d. Number of units derived from the investment accounting system shall be reconciled on a
day to day basis with the policy admin system.

e. Provisions shall include expenses for brokerage and transaction cost, NPA, Fund
Management Charges (FMC) and any other charges approved by the Authority.

4. Specifying SFIN in short message services (SMS), tele-callings, radio messages and
ATM display

It is clarified that, SFIN need not be displayed in fund related communication through SMS,
tele-calling, radio messages and ATM display due to technology limitations. It would be full
compliance of IRDAI’s direction, if Insurers specify SFIN in all documents and all fund-wise
information provided to policyholders and other users.

5. Segregated funds having multiple plans, with different FMCs attached to it or running
‘funds of funds’ structure

As each ‘Segregated Fund’ is required to have a ‘single’ NAV, declared on a ‘day-to-day’ basis
and FMC is required to be identified to each segregated fund, all Insurers are required to
convert various plans offered below a fund or funds of funds structure, as individual segregated
fund with a SFIN with identified ‘scrips’ representing the investments of such segregated funds.
In doing so, the net asset value (NAV) of each plan shall be segregated from the underlying
fund. The Internal / Concurrent Auditor shall certify that such segregation had not resulted in
enrichment of one set of policyholders from others due to change in the units or the NAV. The
implication, to the policyholder of such change, if any, shall be put on the insurer’'s website,
along with the rationale of making such change. The concurrent Auditor shall confirm the
Insurer’'s adherence to these requirements.

6. Operating CSGL / TREPS Account

As RBI do not permit Banks to open multiple CSGL / SGL accounts against single entity the
Insurers are permitted to operate with a single CSGL /SGL Account and allocate the holdings
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in their books to each Segregated Fund [SFIN]. All insurers are required to reconcile their
Government Securities holding across all segregated funds on a day to day basis.

Similarly, as CCIL permits opening only one Triparty Repo Account for every company, the
Insurers are hereby permitted to have a common Triparty Repo Account at company level, and
reconcile their holdings in Triparty Repo Account, segregated fund wise, on a day to day basis.

The Internal / Concurrent Auditor, in his Audit Report to the Audit Committee of the Insurer’s
Board shall confirm that the Insurer had done the reconciliation of G Sec and Triparty Repo
holding, segregated fund wise [SFIN] on a day-to-day basis.

7. Usage of valuation matrix published by FIMMDA

The guiding principle shall be to follow, for all instruments, the day-to-day valuation matrix
published by FIMMDA and where ever FIMMDA does not provide such valuation matrix on a
day to day basis, the Insurer may adopt valuation matrix provided by Subsidiary/Holding
company of any SEBI registered Rating Agency, till such time FIMMDA comes out with such
valuation matrix and provides the same in the technology platform, as mandated by the
Authority in eliminating manual intervention. The Concurrent Auditor shall certify in his Audit
Report to the Board that the Insurer had consistently adopted the methodology prescribed
above during the audit period.

4.16 Implementing RFQ platform for Investments in Corporate Bonds / Commercial Papers

1. With a view to enhance and coalescing the fragmented liquidity in Corporate Bonds, SEBI has
implemented Request for Quote (RFQ) Platform through Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) and
National Stock Exchange (NSE). The RFQ platform seeks to replicate the OTC market albeit
on an electronic platform in a move to bring more transparency, centralization in protecting
investor interest apart from having enough liquidity in Secondary Market.

2. To achieve the above, SEBI, vide Circular: SEBI/HO/IMD/DF3/CIR/P/2020/130 Dated 22nd
July, 2020 has mandated all Mutual Funds (MFs) to undertake 10% of their total Secondary
Market trades of Corporates Bonds through RFQ to start with. As this is likely to bring
transparency and liquidity in the Corporate Bond segment, the Authority, directs all Insurers as
follows:

a. On monthly basis, the Insurers shall undertake at least 10% of their total Secondary Market
trades in the Corporate Bonds in Value place / seek Quotes through one-to-many mode on
RFQ platform available on BSE/NSE. The 10% limit shall be reckoned on the average of
Secondary Market Trades by Value, in the immediately preceding 3 months on rolling basis.

b. Concurrent Auditor of the Insurer in his Quarterly Audit Report shall confirm that the Insurer
has complied with these directions.
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4.17 Control & Monitoring Mechanism of Investment Operations — Work from Remote

Location

1. Insurers shall have in place prudent cyber security norms, proper systems and controls
while allowing/continuing conduct of Investment Operations from remote location.

2. These systems and controls should take care of Data Privacy, Security and Confidentiality,
possibility of Cyber-Attacks, Hackings, Malware Infections, Disruption Risks, Recording of

Deals and Supervisory Controls of the dealing activities.

Section —V: Disclosure Norms

5.1

Repo, Reverse Repo in Government securities and Corporate Debt Securities

The following disclosures should be made by the Insurers in the Notes on Annual Accounts to the

balance sheet:

Minimum Maximum Daily average | Outstanding
Particulars outstanding outstanding outstanding as on March
during the year |during the year | during the year 31
Securities  Sold under

repo

1. Government Securities

2. Corporate Debt
Securities

Securities purchased

under reverse repo

1. Government Securities

2. Corporate Debt
Securities

5.2 Securities lending and borrowing framework

1. The securities lent shall continue to be shown in Form 5 as they were shown prior to SLB
transaction. Income earned on lending securities shall be shown in the CAT Code that is
applicable as it appears in Form 1. The Securities which are lent through SLB and are not held
in custody shall be shown in Form 6 under the column ‘others’ along with a reconciliation
statement with the following details (to be part of FORM 6 and filed as a part of periodical

returns):

a. Name of the scrip

No. of securities lent

b
c. Name of the fund
d

Maximum limit permissible in such fund based on the total quantity held
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5.3

Stock Exchange
Date of expiry of the contract
Value of the securities lent as on the date

Exposure to Interest Rate derivatives

The presentation in the financial statements and disclosures are governed by AS 31 and 32.
In specific, the Insurer have to make the following disclosures in the Financial statements:

Description of Participant’s financial risk management objective and policies, in particular
its policy for hedging forecasted transactions.

Hedging strategy.
Accounting Policy for Derivatives.
Nature and terms of outstanding Interest Rate derivative contracts.

Quantification of the losses which would be incurred if counter-parties failed to fulfil their
obligation under the outstanding Interest Rate derivative contracts.

5.4 Issue of long term bonds by banks — Financing of Infrastructure and affordable housing
While preparing Exposure to Industry sector i.e. Form 4A- Part D, the Investments under ILBI
and IOLB shall be classified under’ Infrastructure - Long Term Bonds —BFSI’ and HLBH and
HOLB shall be classified under ‘Housing — Long Term Bonds- BFSI’

5.5 ULIP Periodical Disclosure

1. Every life Insurer shall at least on a monthly periodicity, on or before the 5" of the succeeding
month, make the following portfolio disclosures [SFIN wise]in the Insurers website:

a.
b.

~ o o o

s @

Name of the fund

SFIN Number

Investment Objective of the Fund

NAV as on the last business day of the month

All NAV shall be upto 4 decimals

AUM of Equity and Debt as on the last business day of the month
Benchmark as approved by the Investment Committee

Name of the Fund Manager

Number of Funds managed by Fund Manager (in point ‘g’ above) along with details of
Equity, Debt and Balanced Funds

Asset Allocation provided in Product document (as per file & use procedure) and
percentage of Actual Asset Allocation at the end of the respective month
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k. Rating Profile of Debt Instruments
I.  Modified Duration of the Debt and Money Market Instruments

m. Exposure of SFIN (debt and equity) to top 10 industrial sectors as defined under National
Industrial Classification 2008 and balance exposure to be shown under “others”

n. Performance of the fund over different period over 1 month, 6 months, 1 year, 2 year, 3
year and since inception along with the performance against the Benchmark index for the
corresponding period. Returns less than or upto 1 year, shall be based on absolute returns

0. The TOP 10 holdings under each Asset Category of G. Sec, Corporate Debt and Equity
shall be disclosed. The exposure to the Money Market instruments to be disclosed as a
consolidated amount and as percentage to AUM of the SFIN

p. The Debt and Equity holdings shall be disclosed as a percentage to the AUM of the SFIN
in the statement of portfolio. The total percentage of holdings shall be totalled to 100% of
the AUM of the SFIN

2. The Concurrent Auditor shall, in his Audit Report, confirm compliance to the above points.
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Section — VI: Reporting Norms and Certificates

Various periodical returns and certifications on investment related matters to be submitted by
insurers shall be as per the Formats and Periodicity as specified in the Master Circular on
Submission of Returns.

Section VII: List of circulars repealed

Sr. No. | Date Circular Reference Short Description

1 27-10-2022 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/226/10/2022 | Master circular Version 03

2 01-12-2022 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/233/12/2022 | Clarification with respect to
NDS-OM

3 26-12-2022 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/248/12/2022 | Declaration of NAV on quarter
ending day

4 13-01-2023 | IRDAI/INVICIR/16/01/2023 Sovereign Green Bonds
Classification

5 19-01-2023 | IRDAI/INV/CIR/20/01/2023 Classification of shares issued
by way of demerger.

6 31-01-2023 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/027/01/2023 | Clarification with respect to AlF
and Mutual Funds

7 05-06-2023 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/121/6/2023 | Investments in NaBFID

8 28-06-2023 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/139/06/2023 | Monitoring investment in AlF.

9 04-08-2023 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/155/08/2023 | Relaxation for Investments in
HDFC Ltd.

10 05-01-2024 | IRDAI/F&I/CIR/INV/003/01/2024 | Investments in Infrastructure
Debt Funds-NBFC
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Section VIII: Investment Category and Valuation Methodology

ANNEXURE -1
CATEGORY OF INVESTMENTS (COl)

The following are the exhaustive Category of Investments (COIl) that are permissible under Life,
Pension and General Annuity, Linked Insurance Business, General Insurance (including Re
Insurance) and Health Insurance Business, as per the Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India.

No INVESTMENT CATEGORY HEADS CAT CODE
A CENTRAL GOVT. SECURITIES
A01 Central Government Bonds CGSB
A02 Treasury Bills CTRB
A03 Sovereign Green Bonds CsGB
B CENTRAL GOVT. SEC, STATE GOVT OR OTHER APPROVED
SECURITIES
BO1 Central Government Guaranteed Loans / Bonds CGSL
B02 State Government Bonds SGGB
B0O3 State Government Guaranteed Loans SGGL
B04 Other Approved Securities (excluding Infrastructure Investments) SGOA
B05 Guaranteed Equity SGGE
C (2) HOUSING & LOANS TO STATE GOVT FOR HOUSING / FFE
Co1 Loans to State Government for Housing HLSH
Cco2 Loans to State Government for Fire Fighting Equipment HLSF
Co3 Term Loan - HUDCO / NHB / Institutions accredited by NHB HTLH
Co4 Commercial Papers - NHB / Institutions accredited by NHB HTLN
C05 Housing - Securitised Assets HMBS
CO06 Debentures/Bonds/CPs/Loans - Promoter Group HDPG
Cco7 Long Term Bank Bonds Approved Investment - Affordable Housing HLBH
CO7A Equity Shares in Housing Finance Companies HAEQ
TAXABLE BONDS
Cco8 Bonds / Debentures issued by HUDCO HTHD
C09 Bonds / Debentures issued by NHB / Institutions accredited by NHB HTDN
C10 Bonds / Debentures issued by Authority constituted under any Housing HTDA
/ Building Scheme approved by Central / State / any Authority or Body
constituted by Central / State Act
TAX FREE BONDS
Cl1 Bonds / Debentures issued by HUDCO HFHD
C12 Bonds / Debentures issued by NHB / Institutions accredited by NHB HFDN
C13 Bonds / Debentures issued by Authority constituted under any Housing HFDA
/ Building Scheme approved by Central / State / any Authority or Body
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No INVESTMENT CATEGORY HEADS CAT CODE

constituted by Central / State Act
(b) OTHER INVESTMENTS (HOUSING)

C14 Debentures / Bonds / CPs / Loans HODS

C15 Housing - Securitised Assets HOMB

Cl6 Debentures / Bonds / CPs / Loans - (Promoter Group) HOPG

C17 Long Term Bank Bonds Other Investment— Affordable Housing HOLB

C18 Reclassified Approved Investments - Debt (Point 6 under Note for HORD
Regulation 36 to 41)

C18A Equity Shares in Housing Finance Companies HOEQ
(c) INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

C19 Infrastructure - Other Approved Securities ISAS

C20 Infrastructure - PSU - Equity shares - Quoted ITPE

c21 Infrastructure - Corporate Securities - Equity shares-Quoted ITCE

c22 Infrastructure - Equity (Promoter Group) IEPG

Cc23 Infrastructure - Securitised Assets IESA

C24 Infrastructure - Debentures / Bonds / CPs / loans - (Promoter Group) IDPG

C25 Infrastructure - Infrastructure Development Fund (IDF) IDDF

C26 Onshore Rupee Bonds issued by ADB and IFC (Infrastructure- IORB
approved)

c27 Long Term Bank Bonds Approved Investment— Infrastructure ILBI

Cc28 Infrastructure Investments rated not less than “A” along with Rating of IELB
“EL1”

C29 Debt Instruments of InvITs - Approved Investments IDIT

C30 Units of Infrastructure Investment Trust ENT
TAXABLE BONDS

C31 Infrastructure - PSU - Debentures / Bonds IPTD

C32 Infrastructure - PSU — CPs IPCP

C33 Infrastructure - Other Corporate Securities - Debentures/ Bonds ICTD

C34 Infrastructure - Other Corporate Securities - CPs ICCP

C35 Infrastructure - Term Loans (with Charge) ILWC
TAX FREE BONDS

C36 Infrastructure - PSU - Debentures / Bonds IPFD

C37 Infrastructure - Other Corporate Securities - Debentures/ Bonds ICFD
(d) INFRASTRUCTURE - OTHER INVESTMENTS

C38 Infrastructure - Equity (including unlisted) IOEQ

C39 Infrastructure - Debentures / Bonds / CPs / loans IODS

C40 Infrastructure - Securitised Assets IOSA

Cc41 Infrastructure - Equity (Promoter Group) IOPE
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No INVESTMENT CATEGORY HEADS CAT CODE
Cc42 Infrastructure - Debentures / Bonds / CPs / loans - (Promoter Group) IOPD
C43 Onshore Rupee Bonds issued by ADB and IFC (Infrastructure- others) I00B
C44 Long Term Bank Bonds Other Investment— Infrastructure IOLB
C45 Reclassified Approved Investments - Debt (Point 6 under Note for IORD

Regulation 36 to 41)
C46 Reclassified Approved Investments - Equity (Point 6 under Note for IORE
Regulation 36 to 41)
C4a7 Infrastructure Investment below “A” or “EL1” IOEL
C48 Debt Instruments of InvITs - Other Investments 01T
C49 Units of Infrastructure Investment Trust onT
D APPROVED INVESTMENT SUBJECT TO EXPOSURE NORMS
Do1 PSU - Equity shares - Quoted EAEQ
D02 Corporate Securities - Equity shares (Ordinary)- Quoted EACE
D03 Equity Shares - Companies incorporated outside India (invested prior EFES
to IRDA Regulations)
D04 Equity Shares - Promoter Group EEPG
D05 Corporate Securities - Bonds - (Taxable) EPBT
D06 Corporate Securities - Bonds - (Tax Free) EPBF
D07 Corporate Securities - Preference Shares EPNQ
D08 Corporate Securities - Investment in Subsidiaries ECIS
D09 Corporate Securities - Debentures ECOS
D10 Corporate Securities - Debentures / Bonds/ CPs /Loan - (Promoter EDPG
Group)
D11 Municipal Bonds — Rated EMUN
D12 Investment properties - Immovable EINP
D13 Loans - Policy Loans ELPL
D14 Loans - Secured Loans - Mortgage of Property in India (Term Loan) ELMI
D15 Loans - Secured Loans - Mortgage of Property outside India (Term ELMO
Loan)
D16 Deposits - Deposit with Scheduled Banks, Fls (incl. Bank Balance ECDB
awaiting Investment), CCIL, RBI
D17 Deposits - CDs with Scheduled Banks EDCD
D18 Deposits - Repo / Reverse Repo - Govt Securities ECMR
D19 Deposits - Repo / Reverse Repo - Corporate Securities ECCR
D20 Deposit with Primary Dealers duly recognised by Reserve Bank of EDPD
India
D21 CCIL - CBLO ECBO
D22 Commercial Papers ECCP
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No INVESTMENT CATEGORY HEADS CAT CODE
D23 Application Money ECAM
D24 Perpetual Debt Instruments of Tier | & Il Capital issued by PSU Banks EUPD
D25 Perpetual Debt Instruments of Tier | & II Capital issued by Non-PSU EPPD

Banks
D26 Perpetual Non-Cum. P.Shares & Redeemable Cumulative P.Shares of EUPS
Tier 1 & 2 Capital issued by PSU Banks
D27 Perpetual Non-Cum. P.Shares & Redeemable Cumulative P.Shares of EPPS
Tier 1 & 2 Capital issued by Non-PSU Banks
D28 Foreign Debt Securities (invested prior to IRDA Regulations) EFDS
D29 Mutual Funds - Gilt / G Sec / Liquid Schemes/overnight/ultra-short EGMF
term
D30 Mutual Funds - (under Insurer's Promoter Group) EMPG
D31 Net Current Assets (Only in respect of ULIP Fund Business) ENCA
D32 Passively Managed Equity ETF (Non Promoter Group) EETF
D33 Passively Managed Equity ETF (Promoter Group) EETP
D34 Onshore Rupee Bonds issued by ADB and IFC EORB
D35 Debt Capital Instruments (DCI-Basel IlI) EDCI
D36 Redeemable Non-cumulative Preference Shares (RNCPS- Basel lIl) ERNP
D37 Redeemable Cumulative Preference Shares (RCPS- Basel lll) ERCP
D38 Additional Tier 1 (Basel Ill Compliant) Perpetual Bonds — [PSU Banks] EAPS
D39 Additional Tier 1 (Basel lll Compliant) Perpetual Bonds — [Private EAPB
Banks]
D40 Units of Real Estate Investment Trust (REITS) ERIT
D41 Debt ETFs - "Approved Investments"” EDTF
D42 Debt Instruments of REITs - Approved Investments EDRT
E OTHER INVESTMENTS
EO1 Bonds - PSU — Taxable OBPT
EO02 Bonds - PSU - Tax Free OBPF
EO3 Equity Shares (incl Co-op Societies) OESH
EO4 Equity Shares (PSUs & Unlisted) OEPU
EO05 Equity Shares - Promoter Group OEPG
EO06 Debentures OLDB
EOQ7 Debentures / Bonds/ CPs / Loans etc. - (Promoter Group) ODPG
EO8 Municipal Bonds OMUN
E09 Commercial Papers OACP
E10 Preference Shares OPSH
El1l SEBI approved Alternate Investment Fund (Category |) OAFA
E12 SEBI approved Alternate Investment Fund (Category II) OAFB
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No INVESTMENT CATEGORY HEADS CAT CODE
E13 Short term Loans (Unsecured Deposits) OSLU
E1l4 Term Loans (without Charge) OTLW
E15 Mutual Funds - Debt / Income / Serial Plans / Liquid Schemes OMGS
E16 Mutual Funds - (under Insurer's Promoter Group) OMPG
E17 Securitised Assets OPSA
E18 Investment properties - Immovable OIPI
E19 Passively Managed Equity ETF (Non Promoter Group) OETF
E20 Passively Managed Equity ETF (Promoter Group) OETP
E21 Onshore Rupee Bonds issued by ADB and IFC OORB
E22 Debt Capital Instruments (DCI-Basel IlI) OoDCI
E23 Redeemable Non-cumulative Preference Shares (RNCPS - Basel I1I) ORNP
E24 Redeemable Cumulative Preference Shares (RCPS - Basel lll) ORCP
E25 Reclassified Approved Investments - Debt (Point 6 under Note for ORAD

Regulation 36 to 41)
E26 Reclassified Approved Investments - Equity (Point 6 under Note for ORAE
Regulation 36 to 41)
E27 Additional Tier 1 (Basel Il Compliant) Perpetual Bonds — [PSU Banks] OAPS
E28 Additional Tier 1 (Basel Ill Compliant) Perpetual Bonds — [Private OAPB
Banks]
E29 Units of Real Estate Investment Trust (REITS) ORIT
E31 Debt ETFs - "Other Investments" ODTF
E32 Debt Instruments of REITs - Other Investments ODRT
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Valuation methodology for Investment Categories

ANNEXURE - 2

MARKET VALUE - BASIS FOR FORM-3A / FORM-3B

Method for determining the Market Value of Investments to report in FORM 3A, FORM 3B of the
investment returns.

NO | PARTICULARS CAT | MARKET VALUE - BASIS FOR FORM-3A,
CODE| FORM-3B

A GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

A0l | Central Government Bonds CGSB| Investments valued either as per prices provided
by FIMMDA or Subsidiary/Holding company of
other rating agency registered with SEBI.

A02 | Treasury Bills CTRB/| At cost subject to amortisation of discount

AO03 | Sovereign Green Bonds CSGB| Investments valued either as per prices provided
by FIMMDA or Subsidiary/Holding company of
any rating agency registered with SEBI.

B GOVERNMENT SECURITIES / OTHER APPROVED SECURITIES

BO1 | Central Government| CGSL | Investments valued either as per prices / Yield

Guaranteed Loans / Bonds Matrix provided by FIMMDA or
Subsidiary/Holding company of any rating
agency registered with SEBI.

B02 | State Government Bonds SGGB | Investments valued either as per prices provided
by FIMMDA or Subsidiary/Holding company of
any other rating agency registered with SEBI.

B03 | State Government| SGGL | Investments valued either as per prices provided

Guaranteed Loans by FIMMDA or Subsidiary/Holding company of
any other rating agency registered with SEBI.

B04 | Other Approved Securities| SGOA | Investments valued either as per prices / Yield

(excluding Infrastructure Matrix provided by FIMMDA or
Investments) Subsidiary/Holding company of any other rating
agency registered with SEBI.

B0O5 | Guaranteed Equity SGGE | Book Value.

C (a) HOUSING & LOANS TO STATE GOVT. FOR HOUSING AND FFE

COl1 | Loans to State Government| HLSH| At Cost Less Provisions

for Housing

C02 | Loans to State Government| HLSF | At Cost Less Provisions

for Fire Fighting Equipment

C03 | Term Loan - HUDCO / NHB /| HTLH| At Cost Less Provisions

Institutions  accredited by
NHB
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NO | PARTICULARS CAT | MARKET VALUE - BASIS FOR FORM-3A,
CODE| FORM-3B

C04 | Commercial Papers - NHB /| HTLN| Valued at amortised cost based on straight line
Institutions  accredited by method of amortisation over the remaining
NHB maturity period of the instrument or using IRR/

YTM basis of amortisation.

CO05 | Housing - Securitised Assets | HMBS | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

CO06 | Bonds/Debentures/CPs/Loan | HDPG | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

s - Promoter Group applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI and loans at cost.
Commercial paper at amortised cost.

C07 | Long Term Bank Bonds| HLBH| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Approved  Investment - applicable market vyield rates published by
Affordable Housing Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating

Agency registered with SEBI

CO7 | Equity Shares in Housing| HAEQ| If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted

A Finance Companies price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

TAXABLE BONDS OF

C08 | Bonds/Debentures issued by| HTHD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

HUDCO applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any SEBI
approved Rating Agency

C09 | Bonds/Debentures issued by| HTDN | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
NHB / Institution accredited applicable market vyield rates published by
by NHB Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating

Agency registered with SEBI
C10 | Bonds/ Debentures issued by| HTDA | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Authority constituted under
any Housing / Building
Scheme approved by

Central / State / any Authority
or Body constituted by Central
| State Act

applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

TAX FREE BONDS
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NO | PARTICULARS CAT | MARKET VALUE - BASIS FOR FORM-3A,
CODE| FORM-3B

C11 | Bonds/Debenturesissued by| HFHD| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

HUDCO applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

C12 | Bonds/Debenturesissued by| HFDN| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
NHB / Institution accredited applicable market vyield rates published by
by NHB Subsidiary/Holding company of any SEBI

approved Rating Agency

C13 | Bonds/ Debentures issued by| HFDA | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Authority constituted under applicable market vyield rates published by
any Housing / Building Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Scheme approved by Central Agency registered with SEBI
/ State / any Authority or Body
constituted by Central / State
Act
(b) OTHER INVESTMENTS (HOUSING)

C14 | Debentures / Bonds / CPs /| HODS | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Loans applicable market vyield rates published by

Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI. Commercial paper
at amortised cost.

C15 | Housing - Securitised Assets | HOMB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

C16 | Debentures / Bonds / CPs /| HOPG | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Loans - (Promoter Group) applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI and loans at cost.
Commercial paper at amortized cost.

C17 | Long Term Bank Bonds Other| HOLB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Investment— Affordable applicable market vyield rates published by
Housing Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating

Agency registered with SEBI

C18 | Reclassified Approved | HORD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Investments - Debt (Point VI applicable market vyield rates published by
under Note for Clause 3 to 7 Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
of the Schedule Il of the Agency
Regulations) registered with SEBI

C18 | Equity Shares in Housing| HOEQ | If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted

A Finance Companies price should not be later than 30 days). In

unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions

Page 259 of 270




NO

PARTICULARS

CAT
CODE

MARKET VALUE - BASIS FOR FORM-3A,
FORM-3B

(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

(c) INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

C19

Infrastructure - Other

Approved Securities

ISAS

Investments valued either as per prices provided
by FIMMDA or Subsidiary/Holding company of
any rating agency registered with SEBI.

C20

Infrastructure - PSU - Equity
shares — Quoted

ITPE

If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

Cc21

Infrastructure - Corporate
Securities - Equity shares-
Quoted

ITCE

If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). If
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

C22

Infrastructure -
(Promoter Group)

Equity

IEPG

If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). If
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

C23

Infrastructure - Securitised

Assets

IESA

Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

C24

Infrastructure - Debentures /
Bonds / CPs [/ loans -
Promoter Group

IDPG

Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI and loans at cost.
Commercial paper at amortized cost.
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C25 | Infrastructure - Infrastructure| IDDF | At NAV (if available) or at cost less Provision for
Development Fund (IDF) diminution

C26 | Onshore Rupee Bondsissued| IORB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
by ADB and IFC applicable market vyield rates published by
(Infrastructure- approved) Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating

Agency registered with SEBI

C27 | Long Term Bank Bonds| ILBI | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Approved Investment— applicable market vyield rates published by
Infrastructure Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating

Agency registered with SEBI

C28 | Infrastructure Investments| IELB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
rated not less than “A” along applicable market yield rates published by any
with Rating of “EL1” Rating Agency registered with SEBI

C29 | Debt Instruments of InviTs -| IDIT | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Approved Investments applicable market vyield rates published by

Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
C30 | Units of Infrastructure| EINT | Market Value (last Quoted price should not be
Investment Trust later than 30 days). Where Market Quote is not
available for last 30 days , the Units shall be
valued as per the latest NAV ( not more than 6
months old) of the Units published by the trust.
TAXABLE BONDS
C31 | Infrastructure - PSU -| IPTD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Debentures / Bonds applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
C32 | Infrastructure - PSU - CPs IPCP | Valued at amortised cost based on straight line
method of amortisation over the remaining
maturity period of the instrument or using IRR/
YTM basis of amortisation.

C33 | Infrastructure - Other| ICTD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Corporate Securities - applicable market vyield rates published by
Debentures/ Bonds Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating

Agency registered with SEBI
C34 | Infrastructure - Other| ICCP | Valued at amortised cost based on straight line
Corporate Securities — CPs method of amortization over the remaining
maturity period of the instrument or using IRR/
YTM basis of amortisation.
C35 | Infrastructure - Term Loans| ILWC | At Costless opening Provisions

(with Charge)

TAX FREE BONDS
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C36 | Infrastructure - PSU -| IPFD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Debentures / Bonds applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

C37 | Infrastructure - Other| ICFD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Corporate Securities - applicable market vyield rates published by
Debentures/ Bonds Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating

Agency registered with SEBI
(d) INFRASTRUCTURE - OTHER INVESTMENTS

C38 | Infrastructure - Equity| IOEQ | If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted

(including unlisted) price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

C39 | Infrastructure - Debentures /| 10DS | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Bonds / CPs / loans applicable market vyield rates published by

Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI and loans at cost.
Commercial paper at amortised cost.

C40 | Infrastructure - Securitised| IOSA | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Assets applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

C41 | Infrastructure - Equity| IOPE | If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted

(Promoter Group) price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

C42 | Infrastructure - Debentures /| I0OPD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Bonds / CPs / loans - applicable market yield rates published by any
(Promoter Group) Rating Agency registered with SEBI and loans at

cost. Commercial paper at amortised cost.

C43 | Onshore Rupee Bondsissued| I0OB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

by ADB and
others)

IFC (Infra -

applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

Page 262 of 270




NO | PARTICULARS CAT | MARKET VALUE - BASIS FOR FORM-3A,
CODE| FORM-3B

C44 | Long Term Bank Bonds Other| IOLB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Investment— Infrastructure applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

C45 | Reclassified Approved| IORD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Investments - Debt (Point VI applicable market vyield rates published by
under Note for Clause 3 to 7 Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
of the Schedule Il of the Agency registered with SEBI
Regulations)

C46 | Reclassified Approved| IORE | If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
Investments - Equity (Point VI price should not be later than 30 days). In
under Note for Clause 3 to 7 unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
of the Schedule Il of the (Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
Regulations) For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there

exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

C47 | Infrastructure Investment| IOEL | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
below “A” or “EL1” applicable market yield

Rates published by Subsidiary/Holding company
of any Rating Agency registered with SEBI

C48 | Debt Instruments of InviTs -| IOIT | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Other Investments applicable market vyield rates published by

Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

C49 | Units of Infrastructure| OIIT | Market Value (last Quoted price should not be

Investment Trust later than 30 days). Where Market Quote is not
available for last 30 days, the Units shall be
valued as per the latest NAV ( not more than 6
months old) of the Units published by the trust.

D APPROVED INVESTMENT SUBJECT TO EXPOSURE NORMS

D01 | PSU - Equity shares — quoted| EAEQ| Market Value

D02 | Corporate Securities - Equity| EACE | Market Value
shares (Ordinary)-quoted

D03 | Equity Share - Companies| EFES| If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted

India
IRDA

incorporated outside
(invested prior to
Regulations)

price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)
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D04 | Equity Shares - Promoter| EEPG| If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
Group price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)
D05 | Corporate Securities - Bonds| EPBT | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
- (Taxable) applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D06 | Corporate Securities - Bonds| EPBF | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
- (Tax Free) applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D07 | Corporate Securities -| EPNQ| If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
Preference Shares price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)
D08 | Corporate Securities -| ECIS | At Cost less Provision for diminution
Investment in Subsidiaries
D09 | Corporate Securities -| ECOS| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Debentures applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D10 | Corporate Securities -| EDPG/| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Debentures / Bonds/ CPs applicable market vyield rates published by
/Loan - Promoter Group Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI and loans at cost.
Commercial paper at amortised cost.
D11 | Municipal Bonds — Rated EMUN | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D12 | Investment properties -| EINP | At Cost as per Balance Sheet
Immovable
D13 | Loans - Policy Loans ELPL | At Cost
D14 | Loans - Secured Loans -| ELMI | At Cost Less Provisions
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Mortgage of Property in India
(Term Loan)
D15 | Loans - Secured Loans -| ELMO| At Cost Less Provisions
Mortgage of Property outside
India (Term Loan)
D16 | Deposits - Deposit with| ECDB| At Carrying Cost
Scheduled Banks, Fls (incl.
Bank Balance  awaiting
Investment), CCIL, RBI
D17 | Deposits - CDs with| EDCD| At Carrying Cost
Scheduled Banks
D18 | Deposits - Repo / Reverse| ECMR | At Cost
Repo — Govt. Securities
D19 | Deposits - Repo / Reverse| ECCR| At Cost
Repo - Corporate Securities
D20 | Deposit with Primary Dealers| EDPD| At Cost
duly recognized by Reserve
Bank of India
D21 | CCIL-CBLO ECBO| At Carrying Cost
D22 | Commercial Papers ECCP| Valued at amortized cost based on straight line
method of amortization over the remaining
maturity period of the
instrument or wusing IRR/ YTM basis of
amortization.
D23 | Application Money ECAM | At Cost
D24 | Perpetual Debt Instruments of| EUPD| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Tier | & Il Capital issued by applicable Subsidiary/Holding company of
PSU Banks market yield rates published by any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D25 | Perpetual Debt Instruments of| EPPD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Tier | & Il Capital issued by applicable market vyield rates published by
Non-PSU Banks Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency
registered with SEBI
D26 | Perpetual Non-Cum.| EUPS| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
P.Shares & Redeemable applicable market vyield rates published by
Cumulative P.Shares of Tier 1 Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
& 2 Capital issued by PSU Agency registered with SEBI
Banks
D27 | Perpetual Non-Cum.| EPPS| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
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P.Shares & Redeemable applicable market vyield rates published by
Cumulative P.Shares of Tier 1 Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
& 2 Capital issued by Non- Agency registered with SEBI
PSU Banks
D28 | Foreign Debt Securities| EFDS| At Carrying Cost
(invested prior to IRDA
Regulations)
D29 | Mutual Funds - Gilt / G Sec /| EGMF | At NAV as on the reporting date
Ligquid Schemes
D30 | Mutual Funds - (under| EMPG| At NAV as on the reporting date
Insurer's Promoter Group)
D31 | Net Current Assets (only in| EMCA| At Book Value
the case of ULIP Fund
Business)
D32 | Passively Managed Equity| EETF | Traded Price or at NAV as on the reporting date
ETF (Non Promoter Group)
D33 | Passively Managed Equity| EETP | Traded Price or at NAV as on the reporting date
ETF (Promoter Group)
D34 | Onshore Rupee Bondsissued| EORB| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
by ADB and IFC applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D35 | Debt Capital Instruments| EDCI | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
(DCI-Basel 111) applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D36 | Redeemable Non-cumulative| ERNP | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Preference Shares (RNCPS- applicable market vyield rates published by
Basel Ill) Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D37 | Redeemable Cumulative| ERCP| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Preference Shares (RCPS- applicable market vyield rates published by
Basel IlI) Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D38 | Additional Tier 1 (Basel Ill| EAPS| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Compliant) Perpetual Bonds — applicable market vyield rates published by
[PSU Banks] Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
D39 | Additional Tier 1 (Basel Ill| EAPB| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Compliant) Perpetual Bonds —
[Private Banks]

applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
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D40

Units of Real Estate
Investment Trust (REITS)

ERIT

Market Value (last Quoted price should not be
later than 30 days). Where Market Quote is not
available for last 30 days , the Units shall be
valued as per the latest NAV ( not more than 6
months old) of the Units published by the trust.

D42

Debt ETFs
Investments"

"Approved

EDTF

Traded Price or at NAV as on the reporting date

D43

Debt Instruments of REITs -
Approved Investments

EDRT

Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

OTHER INVESTMENTS

EO1

Bonds - PSU - Taxable

OBPT

Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

EO2

Bonds - PSU - Tax Free

OBPF

Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

EO3

Equity Shares (incl
Societies)

Co-op

OESH

If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

EO4

Equity Shares
Unlisted)

(PSUs &

OEPU

If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

EO05

Equity Shares - Promoter

Group

OEPG

If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
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beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

EO6 | Debentures OLDB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

EO7 | Debentures / Bonds/ CPs /| ODPG| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Loans etc. - Promoter Group applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI and loans at cost.
Commercial paper at amortized cost.

EO8 | Municipal Bonds OMUN | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI

E09 | Commercial Papers OACP| Valued at amortized cost based on straight line
method of amortization over the remaining
maturity period of the instrument or using IRR/
YTM basis of amortization.

E10 | Preference Shares OPSH| If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
price should not be later than 30 days). In
unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
(Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)

E11 |SEBI approved Alternate| OAFA | At NAV (if available) or at cost less Provision for

Investment Fund (Category ) diminution
E12 |SEBI approved Alternate| OAFB | At NAV (if available) or at cost less Provision for
Investment Fund (Category II) diminution
E13 | Short term Loans (Unsecured| OSLU | At Cost Less Provisions
Deposits)
E14 | Term Loans (without Charge) | OTLW | At Cost Less Provisions
E15 | Mutual Funds - Debt/Income| OMGS | At NAV as on the reporting date
/ Serial Plans
E16 | Mutual Funds (under Insurer's| OMPG | At NAV as on the reporting date
Promoter Group)

E17 | Securitised Assets OPSA| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
applicable market yield rates published by any
Rating Agency registered with SEBI

E18 | Investment properties -| OIPI | At Cost
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Immovable
E19 | Passively Managed Equity| OETF| Traded Price or at NAV as on the reporting date
ETF (Non Promoter Group)
E20 | Passively Managed Equity| OETP | Traded Price or at NAV as on the reporting date
ETF (Promoter Group)
E21 | Onshore Rupee Bondsissued| OORB | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
by ADB and IFC applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
E22 | Debt Capital Instruments| ODCI | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
(DCI-Basel 111) applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
E23 | Redeemable Non-cumulative| ORNP | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Preference Shares (RNCPS- applicable market yield rates published by
Basel Ill) Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
E24 | Redeemable Cumulative | ORCP | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Preference Shares (RCPS- applicable market vyield rates published by
Basel IlI) Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
E25 | Reclassified Approved| ORAD | Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Investments - Debt (Point 6 applicable market vyield rates published by
under Note for Regulation 36 Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
to 41) Agency registered with SEBI
E26 | Reclassified Approved| ORAE| If quoted, valued at Market Value (last Quoted
Investments - Equity (Point VI price should not be later than 30 days). In
under Note for Clause 3 to 7 unquoted, Book Value Less Provisions
of the Schedule Il of the (Provisions shall be made at the end of the Year.
Regulations) For the purpose of Quarterly Returns, if there
exist any Provision for any Equity Share at the
beginning of the year, the same shall be reduced
from the Book Value)
E27 | Additional Tier 1 (Basel lll| OAPS| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Compliant) Perpetual Bonds — applicable market vyield rates published by
[PSU Banks] Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
E28 | Additional Tier 1 (Basel Ill| OAPB| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at
Compliant) Perpetual Bonds — applicable market vyield rates published by
[Private Banks] Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
E29 | Units of Real Estate| ORIT | Market Value (last Quoted price should not be

later than 30 days). Where Market Quote is not
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Investment Trust (REITS) available for last 30 days, the Units shall be
valued as per the latest NAV ( not more than 6
months old) of the Units published by the trust.
E31 | Debt ETFs - "Other| ODTF| Traded Price or at NAV as on the reporting date
Investments”
E32 | Debt Instruments of REITs -| ODRT| Investments valued either as per FIMMDA or at

Other Investments

applicable market vyield rates published by
Subsidiary/Holding company of any Rating
Agency registered with SEBI
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